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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
This document includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements represent management’s
intentions, plans, expectations, assumptions and beliefs about future events. These forward-looking statements are
identified by terms and phrases such as: anticipate, believe, intend, estimate, expect, continue, should, could, may,
plan, project, predict, will, potential, forecast, and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are subject to
risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside our control and could cause actual results to differ
materially from the results expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements. Factors used to develop these
forward-looking statements and that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated in any
forward-looking statement include, but are not limited to:

•
state, provincial, federal and foreign legislative and regulatory initiatives that affect cost and investment recovery,
have an effect on rate structure, and affect the speed at and degree to which competition enters the natural gas and oil
industries;
•outcomes of litigation and regulatory investigations, proceedings or inquiries;
•weather and other natural phenomena, including the economic, operational and other effects of hurricanes and storms;
•the timing and extent of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates;

•general economic conditions, including the risk of a prolonged economic slowdown or decline, or the risk of delay in
a recovery, which can affect the long-term demand for natural gas and oil and related services;

• potential effects arising from cyber threats, terrorist attacks and any consequential or other
hostilities;

•interruption of our operations due to social, civil or political events or unrest;
•changes in environmental, safety and other laws and regulations;
•the development of alternative energy resources;

•results and costs of financing efforts, including the ability to obtain financing on favorable terms, which can be
affected by various factors, including credit ratings and general market and economic conditions;
•increases in the cost of goods and services required to complete capital projects;

•growth in opportunities, including the timing and success of efforts to develop U.S. and Canadian pipeline, storage,
gathering and other related infrastructure projects and the effects of competition;
•the performance of natural gas transmission, storage and gathering facilities, and crude oil transportation and storage;

• the extent of success in connecting natural gas and oil supplies to transmission and gathering systems and in
connecting to expanding gas and oil markets;

•the effects of accounting pronouncements issued periodically by accounting standard-setting bodies;
•conditions of the capital markets during the periods covered by forward-looking statements; and

•
the ability to successfully complete merger, acquisition or divestiture plans; regulatory or other limitations imposed as
a result of a merger, acquisition or divestiture; and the success of the business following a merger, acquisition or
divestiture.
In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the events described in the forward-looking statements might not
occur or might occur to a different extent or at a different time than Spectra Energy Partners, LP has described.
Spectra Energy Partners, LP undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I.
Item 1. Business.
The terms “we,” “our,” “us” and “Spectra Energy Partners” as used in this report refer collectively to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP and its subsidiaries unless the context suggests otherwise. These terms are used for convenience only and are not
intended as a precise description of any separate legal entity within Spectra Energy Partners.
The term “Enbridge” as used in this report refers collectively to Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries other than us, unless
the context suggests otherwise.
Our operations and activities are managed by our general partner Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP (our general
partner or GP, LP), which in turn is managed by its general partner Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC (GP, LLC). GP,
LLC is indirectly wholly owned by Spectra Energy Corp (Spectra Energy). The term “General Partner” means, as
context requires, GP, LP in its capacity as our general partner, or GP, LP and GP, LLC collectively, with GP, LLC
acting in its capacity as general partner of GP, LP, in GP,LP.
On February 27, 2017, Enbridge Inc. and Spectra Energy completed a merger transaction (the Merger) resulting in
Spectra Energy being a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enbridge. As a result of the Merger, we became an indirect
subsidiary of Enbridge through Enbridge’s ownership of Spectra Energy. As of December 31, 2017, Enbridge, through
its ownership of Spectra Energy, collectively owned 74% of us and the remaining 26% was publicly owned.
On January 21, 2018, we entered into an Equity Restructuring Agreement, with our GP, LP, (the Equity Restructuring
Agreement), pursuant to which the incentive distribution rights and the 2% general partner interest in us held by our
GP, LP were converted into 172,500,000 newly issued common units and a non-economic general partner interest in
us (the GP/IDR Restructuring). Distributions by us with a record date after January 31, 2018, including the
distribution with respect to the fourth quarter 2017, will be made based on the terms of our limited partnership
agreement, in effect at the time a distribution is declared. Immediately after the execution of our Equity Restructuring
Agreement, a new limited partnership agreement was entered into. As of January 21, 2018, as a result of GP/IDR
Restructuring, Enbridge, through its ownership of Spectra Energy, collectively owns approximately 83% of our
outstanding common units.

4
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General
Spectra Energy Partners, through its subsidiaries and equity affiliates, is engaged in the transmission, storage and
gathering of natural gas, and the transportation and storage of crude oil, through interstate pipeline systems in the
United States and Canada with approximately 16,000 miles of transmission and transportation pipelines, the storage of
natural gas in underground facilities with aggregate working gas storage capacity of approximately 170 billion cubic
feet (Bcf) and crude oil storage of approximately 5.6 million barrels.
We own and operate natural gas transmission, gathering and storage assets, and crude oil transportation and storage
assets in central, southern and eastern United States as well as western Canada. Our assets are strategically located in
geographic regions of the United States and Canada where demand, primarily for natural gas used in electricity
generation, and crude oil, is expected to increase steadily. We have a broad mix of customers, including local gas
distribution companies (LDC), municipal utilities, interstate and intrastate pipelines, direct industrial users, electric
power generators, marketers and producers, oil refineries, and exploration and production companies. Our interstate
gas transmission pipeline and storage operations and our crude oil transportation and storage operations are regulated
by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT), or the
National Energy Board (NEB) with the exception of Moss Bluff
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intrastate storage operations and Ozark gathering facilities, which are subject to oversight by various state
commissions.
In March 2013, Spectra Energy acquired 100% of the ownership interests in the Express-Platte crude oil pipeline
system from third-parties. Later in 2013, we acquired a 40% ownership interest in the U.S. portion of Express-Platte
(Express US) and a 100% ownership interest in the Canadian portion of Express-Platte (Express Canada)
(collectively, Express-Platte) from subsidiaries of Spectra Energy (the Express-Platte acquisition).
In November 2013, we acquired substantially all of Spectra Energy’s remaining U.S. transmission, storage and liquids
assets, including Spectra Energy’s remaining 60% interest in Express US (the U.S. Assets Dropdown). The pipeline
systems include Texas Eastern Transmission, LP (Texas Eastern), Algonquin Gas Transmission, LLC (Algonquin),
the remaining ownership interest in Express US, an additional 39% interest in Maritimes & Northeast Pipeline, L.L.C
(M&N U.S.), 33% interests in both DCP Sand Hills Pipeline, LLC (Sand Hills) and DCP Southern Hills Pipeline,
LLC (Southern Hills), an additional 1% interest in Gulfstream Natural Gas System, L.L.C. (Gulfstream) and a 24.95%
interest in Southeast Supply Header, LLC (SESH). The natural gas and crude oil storage businesses include Bobcat
Gas Storage (Bobcat), the remaining 50% interest in Market Hub Partners Holding, LLC (Market Hub), a 49% interest
in Steckman Ridge, LP (Steckman Ridge), and Texas Eastern's and Express-Platte's storage facilities.
In November 2014, we completed the second of the three planned transactions related to the U.S. Assets Dropdown.
This transaction consisted of acquiring an additional 24.95% ownership interest in SESH and an additional 1% interest
in Steckman Ridge from Spectra Energy.
The final transaction related to the U.S. Assets Dropdown occurred in November 2015, and consisted of the
acquisition of Spectra Energy's remaining 0.1% interest in SESH.
The U.S. Assets Dropdown has been accounted for as an acquisition under common control, resulting in the recast of
our prior results. See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the transaction.
In October 2015, Spectra Energy acquired our 33.3% ownership interests in Sand Hills and Southern Hills.
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Businesses
We manage our business in two reportable segments: U.S. Transmission and Liquids. The remainder of our business
operations is presented as “Other,” and consists mainly of certain corporate costs. The following sections describe the
operations of each of our businesses. For financial information on our business segments, see Note 5 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
U.S. Transmission
Our U.S. Transmission business primarily provides transmission, storage, and gathering of natural gas for customers
in various regions of the northeastern and southeastern United States. Our pipeline systems consist of approximately
14,000 miles of pipelines with nine primary transmission systems: Texas Eastern, Algonquin, East Tennessee Natural
Gas, LLC (East Tennessee), M&N U.S., Ozark Gas Transmission, L.L.C. (Ozark Gas Transmission), Big Sandy
Pipeline, LLC (Big Sandy), Gulfstream, SESH and Sabal Trail Transmission, LLC. (Sabal Trail). The pipeline
systems in our U.S. Transmission business receive natural gas from major North American producing regions for
delivery to their respective markets. A majority of contracted transportation volumes are under long-term firm service
agreements, where customers reserve capacity in the pipeline. Interruptible services, where customers can use capacity
if it is available at the time of the request, are provided on a short-term or seasonal basis.
U.S. Transmission provides natural gas storage services through Saltville Gas Storage Company L.L.C. (Saltville),
Market Hub, Steckman Ridge, Bobcat and Texas Eastern's facilities. Gathering services are provided through Ozark
Gas Gathering, L.L.C. (Ozark Gas Gathering). In the course of providing transportation services, U.S. Transmission
also processes natural gas on our Texas Eastern system.
Demand on the natural gas pipeline and storage systems is seasonal, with the highest throughput occurring during
colder periods in the first and fourth quarters, and storage injections occurring primarily during the summer periods.
Actual throughput and storage injections/withdrawals do not have a significant effect on revenues or earnings.
Most of U.S. Transmission’s pipeline and storage operations are regulated by the FERC and are subject to the
jurisdiction of various federal, state and local environmental agencies.

7
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Texas Eastern
The Texas Eastern natural gas transmission system extends approximately 1,700 miles from producing fields in the
Gulf Coast region of Texas and Louisiana to Ohio, Pennsylvania, New Jersey and New York. It consists of two
parallel systems, the first of which has one to four large-diameter parallel pipelines and the other with one to three
large-diameter pipelines. Texas Eastern’s onshore system consists of approximately 9,070 miles of pipeline and
associated compressor stations (facilities that increase the pressure of gas to facilitate its pipeline transmission). Texas
Eastern also owns and operates two offshore Louisiana pipeline systems, which extend approximately 100 miles into
the Gulf of Mexico and include approximately 400 miles of pipeline. Texas Eastern has two storage facilities in
Pennsylvania held through joint ventures and one 100%-owned and operated storage facility in Maryland. Texas
Eastern’s total working joint venture capacity in these three facilities is 74 Bcf. In addition, Texas Eastern’s system is
connected to Steckman Ridge, a 12 Bcf joint venture storage facility in Pennsylvania, and three affiliated storage
facilities in Texas and Louisiana, aggregating 75 Bcf, owned by Market Hub and Bobcat.

8
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Algonquin
The Algonquin natural gas transmission system, which we directly own 92%, connects with Texas Eastern’s facilities
in New Jersey and extends approximately 250 miles through New Jersey, New York, Connecticut, Rhode Island and
Massachusetts where it connects to M&N U.S. The system consists of approximately 1,140 miles of pipeline with
associated compressor stations.

9
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East Tennessee
East Tennessee’s natural gas transmission system crosses Texas Eastern’s system at two locations in Tennessee and
consists of two mainline systems totaling approximately 1,500 miles of pipeline in Tennessee, Georgia, North
Carolina and Virginia, with associated compressor stations. East Tennessee has a liquefied natural gas, (LNG), natural
gas that has been converted to liquid form, storage facility in Tennessee with a total working capacity of 1 Bcf. East
Tennessee also connects to the Saltville storage facilities in Virginia.

10
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Maritimes & Northeast Pipeline
M&N U.S. is owned 78% directly by us, with affiliates of Emera, Inc. and Exxon Mobil Corporation directly owning
the remaining 13% and 9% interests, respectively. M&N U.S. is an approximately 350-mile mainline interstate natural
gas transmission system which extends from northeastern Massachusetts to the border of Canada near Baileyville,
Maine. M&N U.S. is connected to the Canadian portion of the Maritimes & Northeast Pipeline system, Maritimes &
Northeast Pipeline Limited Partnership (M&N Canada), which is owned 78% by Spectra Energy. M&N U.S. facilities
include compressor stations, with a market delivery capability of approximately 0.8 billion cubic feet per day (Bcf/d)
of natural gas. The pipeline’s location and key interconnects with our transmission system link regional natural gas
supplies to the northeast U.S. markets.

11
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Ozark
Ozark Gas Transmission consists of an approximately 365-mile natural gas transmission system extending from
southeastern Oklahoma through Arkansas to southeastern Missouri. Ozark Gas Gathering consists of an
approximately 330-mile natural gas gathering system, with associated compressor stations, that primarily serves
Arkoma basin producers in eastern Oklahoma.

12
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Big Sandy
Big Sandy is an approximately 70-mile natural gas transmission system, with associated compressor stations, located
in eastern Kentucky. Big Sandy’s interconnection with the Tennessee Gas Pipeline system links the Huron Shale and
Appalachian Basin natural gas supplies to the mid-Atlantic and northeast markets.

13
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Gulfstream
Gulfstream is an approximately 745-mile interstate natural gas transmission system, with associated compressor
stations, operated jointly by us and The Williams Companies, Inc. (Williams). Gulfstream transports natural gas from
Mississippi, Alabama, Louisiana and Texas, crossing the Gulf of Mexico to markets in central and southern Florida.
Gulfstream is owned 50% directly by us and 50% by affiliates of Williams. Our investment in Gulfstream is
accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

14
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Sabal Trail
Sabal Trail is an approximately 515-mile interstate natural gas transmission system, with associated laterals and
compressor stations, and provides natural gas transportation services for power generation needs to markets in Florida.
Sabal Trail is owned 50% directly by us, 42.5% by US Southeastern Gas Infrastructure, LLC (NextEra), and 7.5% by
Duke Energy Corporation (Duke) and operated by us. As of July 1, 2017, our investment in Sabal Trail is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting.
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Southeast Supply Header
SESH, an approximately 290-mile natural gas transmission system, with associated compressor stations, is operated
jointly by Spectra Energy and Enable Gas Transmission, LLC (Enable). SESH extends from the Perryville Hub in
northeastern Louisiana where the emerging shale gas production of eastern Texas, northern Louisiana and Arkansas,
along with conventional production, is reached from six major interconnections. SESH extends to Alabama,
interconnecting with 14 major north-south pipelines and three high-deliverability storage facilities. SESH is owned
50% directly by us and 50% by Enable Midstream Partners, LP, collectively. Our investment in SESH is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting.

16
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Market Hub
Market Hub owns and operates two natural gas storage facilities, Moss Bluff and Egan, with a total storage capacity of
approximately 46 Bcf. The Moss Bluff facility consists of four salt dome storage caverns located in southeast Texas,
with access to five pipeline systems including the Texas Eastern system. The Egan facility consists of four salt dome
storage caverns located in south central Louisiana, with ten interconnections serving eight pipeline systems, including
the Texas Eastern system.
Saltville
Saltville owns and operates natural gas storage facilities in Virginia with a total storage capacity of approximately 5
Bcf, interconnecting with East Tennessee’s system. This salt cavern facility offers high-deliverability capabilities and
is strategically located near markets in Tennessee, Virginia and North Carolina.  
Bobcat
Bobcat, an approximately 29 Bcf salt dome facility, is strategically located on the Gulf Coast near Henry Hub,
interconnecting with five major interstate pipelines, including Texas Eastern.
Steckman Ridge
Steckman Ridge is an approximately 12 Bcf depleted reservoir storage facility located in south central Pennsylvania
that interconnects with the Texas Eastern and Dominion Transmission, Inc. systems. Steckman Ridge is owned 50%
by us and 50% by NJR Steckman Ridge Storage Company. Our investment in Steckman Ridge is accounted for under
the equity method of accounting.
Competition
Our natural gas transmission and storage businesses compete with similar facilities that serve our supply and market
areas in the transmission and storage of natural gas. The principal elements of competition are location, rates, terms of
service, flexibility and reliability of service.
The natural gas transported in our transmission business competes with other forms of energy available to our
customers and end-users, including electricity, coal, propane, fuel oils and renewable energy. Factors that influence
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the demand for natural gas include price changes, the availability of natural gas and other forms of energy, levels of
business activity, long-term economic conditions, conservation, legislation, governmental regulations, the ability to
convert to alternative fuels, weather and other factors.
Customers and Contracts
In general, our natural gas pipelines provide transmission and storage services for LDCs (companies that obtain a
major portion of their revenues from retail distribution systems for the delivery of natural gas for ultimate
consumption), electric power generators, exploration and production companies, and industrial and commercial
customers, as well as energy marketers. Transmission and storage services are generally provided under firm
agreements where customers reserve capacity in pipelines and storage facilities. The vast majority of these agreements
provide for fixed reservation charges that are paid monthly regardless of the actual volumes transported on the
pipelines or injected or withdrawn from our storage facilities, plus a small variable component that is based on
volumes transported, injected or withdrawn, which is intended to recover variable costs.
We also provide interruptible transmission and storage services where customers can use capacity if it is available at
the time of the request. Interruptible revenues depend on the amount of volumes transported or stored and the
associated rates for this interruptible service. New projects placed into service may initially have higher levels of
interruptible services at inception. Storage operations also provide a variety of other value-added services including
natural gas parking, loaning and balancing services to meet our customers’ needs. See Note 2 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on our significant customer.

18
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Liquids
Our Liquids business provides transportation and storage of crude oil for customers in central United States and
Canada. Our Liquids pipeline system consists of Express-Platte.
Most of Liquids’ pipeline and storage operations are regulated by the FERC or the NEB, and are subject to the
jurisdiction of various federal, state and local environmental agencies.
Express-Platte
The Express-Platte pipeline system, an approximately 1,700-mile crude oil transportation system, which begins in
Hardisty, Alberta, and terminates in Wood River Illinois, is comprised of both the Express and Platte crude oil
pipelines and crude oil storage of approximately 5.6 million barrels. The Express pipeline carries crude oil to U.S.
refining markets in the Rocky Mountains area, including Montana, Wyoming, Colorado and Utah. The Platte pipeline,
which interconnects with the Express pipeline in Casper, Wyoming transports crude oil predominantly from the
Bakken shale and western Canada to refineries in the Midwest.
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Competition
Our crude oil transportation business competes with pipelines, rail, truck and barge facilities that transport crude oil
from production areas to refinery markets. The principal elements of competition are location, rates, terms of service,
flexibility and reliability of service.
Customers and Contracts
Customers on the Express-Platte system are primarily refineries located in the Rocky Mountain and Midwestern states
of the United States. Other customers include oil producers and marketing entities. Express pipeline capacity is
typically contracted under long-term committed contracts where customers reserve capacity and pay commitment
charges based on a contracted volume even if they do not ship. A small amount of Express pipeline capacity and all
Platte pipeline capacity is used by uncommitted shippers who only pay for the pipeline capacity that is actually used in
a given month.
Supplies and Raw Materials
We purchase a variety of manufactured equipment and materials for use in operations and expansion projects. The
primary equipment and materials utilized in operations and project execution processes are steel pipe, compression
engines, pumps, valves, fittings, gas meters and other consumables.
We utilize Enbridge’s supply chain management function which operates a North American supply chain management
network. The supply chain management group uses the economies-of-scale available to Enbridge to maximize the
efficiency of supply networks where applicable. The price of equipment and materials may vary substantially from
year to year.
Regulations
Most of our U.S. gas transmission, crude oil pipeline and storage operations are regulated by the FERC. The FERC
regulates natural gas transmission and crude oil transportation in U.S. interstate commerce including the establishment
of rates for services. The FERC also regulates the construction of U.S. interstate natural gas pipelines and storage
facilities, including the extension, enlargement and abandonment of facilities. In addition, certain operations are
subject to oversight by state regulatory commissions. To the extent that the natural gas intrastate pipelines that
transport or store natural gas in interstate commerce provide services under Section 311 of the Natural Gas Policy Act
of 1978, they are subject to FERC regulations. The FERC may propose and implement new rules and regulations
affecting interstate natural gas transmission and storage companies, which remain subject to the FERC’s jurisdiction.
These initiatives may also affect certain transmission of gas by intrastate pipelines.
Our gas transmission and storage operations are subject to the jurisdiction of the Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) and various other federal, state and local environmental agencies. See “Environmental Matters” for a discussion
of environmental regulation. Our interstate natural gas pipelines are also subject to the regulations of the DOT
concerning pipeline safety. For more information on pipeline safety matters, see Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Express-Platte rates and tariffs are subject to regulation by the NEB in Canada and the FERC in the United States. In
addition, the Platte pipeline also operates as an intrastate pipeline in Wyoming and is subject to jurisdiction by the
Wyoming Public Service Commission.
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Environmental Matters
We are subject to various U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations, as well as Canadian federal and provincial
regulations regarding air and water quality, hazardous and solid waste disposal and other environmental matters.
Environmental laws and regulations affecting our U.S. based operations include, but are not limited to:

•

The Clean Air Act (CAA) and the 1990 amendments to the CAA, as well as state laws and regulations affecting air
emissions (including State Implementation Plans related to existing and new national ambient air quality standards),
which may limit new sources of air emissions. Our natural gas transmission, storage and gathering assets are
considered sources of air emissions and are thereby subject to the CAA. Owners and/or operators of air emission
sources, like us, are responsible for obtaining permits for existing and new sources of air emissions and for annual
compliance and reporting.

•

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act (Clean Water Act), which requires permits for facilities that discharge
wastewaters into the environment. The Oil Pollution Act (OPA) amended parts of the Clean Water Act and other
statutes as they pertain to the prevention of and response to oil spills. The OPA imposes certain spill prevention,
control and countermeasure requirements. Although we are primarily a natural gas business, the OPA affects our
business primarily because of the presence of liquid hydrocarbons (condensate) in our offshore pipelines.

•

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), which imposes liability
for remediation costs associated with environmentally contaminated sites. Under CERCLA, any individual or entity
that currently owns or in the past owned or operated a disposal site can be held liable and required to share in
remediation costs, as well as transporters, generators or arrangers of hazardous substances sent to a disposal site.
Because of the geographical extent of our operations, we have disposed of waste at many different sites and therefore
have CERCLA liabilities.

•

The Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, which requires certain
solid wastes, including hazardous wastes, to be managed, transported and disposed pursuant to a comprehensive
regulatory regime. As part of our business, we generate solid waste within the scope of these regulations and therefore
must comply with such regulations.

•

The Toxic Substances Control Act, which requires that polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) contaminated materials be
managed in accordance with a comprehensive regulatory regime. Because of the historical use of lubricating oils
containing PCBs, the internal surfaces of some of our pipeline systems are contaminated with PCBs, and liquids and
other materials removed from these pipelines must be managed, transported and disposed in compliance with such
regulations.

•

U.S. Department of the Interior regulations, which relate to offshore oil and natural gas operations in U.S. waters and
impose obligations for establishing financial assurances for decommissioning activities, liabilities for pollution
cleanup costs resulting from operations, and potential liabilities for pollution damages. Our offshore facilities
operating in federal waters are subject to these regulatory obligations and liabilities.

•

The National Environmental Policy Act, which requires federal agencies to consider potential environmental effects
in their decisions, including site approvals. Many of our capital projects require federal agency review, and therefore
the environmental effects of proposed projects are a factor in determining whether we will be permitted to complete
proposed projects.

•

The Endangered Species Act, which restricts activities that may affect federally identified endangered and threatened
species or their habitats through the implementation of operating restrictions or a temporary, season, or permanent ban
in affected areas. Our expansion and other construction activities must consider the potential impact of those activities
on endangered and threatened species or their habitats.
Environmental laws and regulations affecting our Canadian-based operations include, but are not limited to:

•
The Canadian Environmental Protection Act, which, among other things, requires the reporting of greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions from our operations in Canada. Additional regulations to be promulgated under this Act may
require the reduction of GHGs, nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides, volatile organic compounds and particulate matter.
•
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conducts environmental assessments for projects that are not specifically designated under CEAA 2012. In either case,
prior to receiving an approval to construct or operate a federally-regulated pipeline or facility, the NEB must consider
a series of environmental factors, in particular whether the project has the potential to have adverse environmental
effects. These types of assessments occur in relation to both maintenance and capital projects.
For more information on environmental matters, including possible liability and capital costs, see Part I. Item 1A. Risk
Factors and Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, Notes 6 and 18 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
Except to the extent discussed in Notes 6 and 18, compliance with international, federal, state, provincial and local
provisions regulating the discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise protecting the environment, is
incorporated into the routine cost structure of our partnership and is not expected to have a material effect on our
competitive position or consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
Geographic Regions
For a discussion of our Canadian operations and the risks associated with them, see Notes 5 and 16 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Employees
We do not have any employees. We are managed by the directors and officers of our General Partner. As of
December 31, 2017, our General Partner and its affiliates have approximately 2,100 employees performing services
for our operations, and are solely responsible for providing the employees and other personnel necessary to conduct
our operations.
Insurance
Our operations are subject to many hazards inherent in the natural gas gathering and processing, transmission and
storage activities and crude oil transportation and storage industry. Our assets may experience physical damage as a
result of an accident or natural disaster. These hazards can also cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to
and destruction of property and equipment, pollution or environmental damage, and suspension of operations. We are
included in the comprehensive insurance program maintained by Enbridge for its subsidiaries. This program includes
insurance coverage in types and amounts and with terms and conditions that are generally consistent with coverage
considered customary for our industry.
In the unlikely event multiple insurable incidents occur which exceed coverage limits within the same insurance
period, the total insurance coverage will be allocated among the Enbridge entities on an equitable basis based on an
insurance allocation agreement we have entered into with Enbridge and other Enbridge subsidiaries.
We can make no assurance that the insurance coverage we maintain will be available or adequate for any particular
risk or loss or that we will be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we consider reasonable.
Although we believe that our assets are adequately covered by insurance, a substantial uninsured loss could have a
material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
Our Partnership Agreement
On January 21, 2018, immediately after the entry into the Equity Restructuring Agreement, our General Partner
executed and delivered the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Spectra Energy
Partners, LP (our partnership agreement) to, among other matters, reflect the GP/IDR Restructuring.
Set forth below is a summary of the material provision of our partnership agreement that relates to available cash:
Available Cash. For any quarter ending prior to liquidation:
(a) the sum of:
(1) all cash and cash equivalents of the partnership and our subsidiaries on hand at the end of that quarter; and
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(2) if our General Partner so determines, all or a portion of any additional cash or cash equivalents of our partnership
and our subsidiaries on hand on the date of determination of Available Cash for that quarter;
(b) less the amount of cash reserves established by our General Partner to:
(1) provide for the proper conduct of the business of the partnership and our subsidiaries (including reserves for future
capital expenditures and for future credit needs of the partnership and our subsidiaries) after that quarter;
(2) comply with applicable law or any debt instrument or other agreement or obligation to which we or any of our
subsidiaries or a part of our assets are subject; and
(3) provide funds for distributions for any one or more of the next four quarters;
provided, however, that disbursements made by us or any of our subsidiaries or cash reserves established, increased or
reduced after the end of that quarter but on or before the date of determination of Available Cash for that quarter shall
be deemed to have been made, established, increased or reduced, for purposes of determining Available Cash, within
that quarter if our General Partner so determines.
Additional Information
We were formed on March 19, 2007 as a Delaware master limited partnership. Our principal executive offices are
located at 5400 Westheimer Court, Houston, Texas 77056 and our telephone number is 713-627-5400. We
electronically file various reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports. The public
may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an internet site that contains reports and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.
Additionally, information about us, including our reports filed with the SEC, is available through our website at
http://www.spectraenergypartners.com. Such reports are accessible at no charge through our website and are made
available as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is filed with or furnished to the SEC. Our website and
the information contained on that site, or connected to that site, are not incorporated by reference into this report.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Discussed below are the material risk factors relating to us.
Risks Related to our Business

Our cash distributions are not guaranteed. The cash from operations that we generate could decrease or fail to meet
expectations, either of which could reduce our ability to pay quarterly cash distributions
The amount of cash we can distribute on our units principally depends upon the amount of cash we generate from
operations, which will fluctuate based on, among other things:

•the rates charged to, and the volumes contracted by customers for natural gas transmission, storage and gathering
services and crude oil transportation;

•
the overall demand for natural gas in the southeastern, mid-Continent, and Northeast regions of the United States, and
the quantities of natural gas available for transport, especially from the Gulf of Mexico, Appalachian and
mid-Continent areas, as well as the overall demand for crude oil in central United States and Canada;

•regulatory action affecting the demand for natural gas and crude oil, the supply of natural gas and crude oil, the rates
we can charge, contracts for services, existing contracts, operating costs and operating flexibility;
•changes in environmental, safety and other laws and regulations;

•shareholder activism and activities by non-governmental organizations to limit certain sources of funding for the
energy sector or restrict the exploration, development and production of oil and gas;

•regulatory and economic limitations on the development of import and export LNG terminals in the Gulf Coast
region; and
•the level of operating and maintenance, and general and administrative costs.
In addition, the actual amount of Available Cash will depend on other factors, some of which are beyond our control,
including:
•the level of capital expenditures to complete construction projects;
•the cost and form of payment of acquisitions;
•debt service requirements and other liabilities;
•fluctuations in working capital needs;
•the ability to borrow funds and access capital markets;
•restrictions on distributions contained in debt agreements; and
•the amount of cash reserves established by our General Partner.

•

Our distributable cash flow does not depend solely on profitability, which is affected by non-cash items. As a result,
we could pay cash distributions during periods when we record net losses and could be unable to pay cash
distributions during periods when we record net income. In addition, the amount of cash we generate from operations
is affected by numerous factors beyond our control, fluctuates from quarter to quarter and may change over time.
Significant or sustained reductions in the cash generated by our operations could reduce our ability to pay quarterly
distributions. Any failure to pay distributions at expected levels could result in a loss of investor confidence and a
decrease in the value of our unit price.
Our subsidiaries and equity investments conduct operations and own our operating assets, which may affect our ability
to make distributions to our unitholders. In addition, we cannot control the amount of cash that will be received from
our equity investments, and we may be required to contribute significant cash to fund their operations.
We are a partnership holding company and our operating subsidiaries conduct all of our operations and own all of our
operating assets. We have no significant assets other than the ownership interests in our subsidiaries and our equity
investments. As a result, our ability to make distributions to our unitholders depends on the performance of these
subsidiaries and equity investments and their ability to distribute funds to us. The ability of our subsidiaries and equity
investments to make distributions to us may be restricted by, among other things, the provisions of
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existing and future indebtedness, applicable state partnership and limited liability company laws and other laws and
regulations, including FERC policies.
Our equity investments generated approximately 13% of our distributable cash flow in 2017. We operate Steckman
Ridge and Sabal Trail. Spectra Energy shares operations of SESH with Enable, and we share operations of Gulfstream
with Williams. Accordingly, we do not control the amount of cash distributed to us nor do we control ongoing
operational decisions, including the incurrence of capital expenditures that we may be required to fund.
Our lack of control over the operations of our equity investments may mean that we do not receive the amount of cash
we expect to be distributed to us. In addition, we may be required to provide additional capital, and these contributions
may be material. The equity investments are not prohibited from incurring indebtedness by the terms of their
respective limited liability company agreement and general partnership agreements. If they were to incur significant
additional indebtedness, it could inhibit their respective abilities to make distributions to us. This lack of control may
significantly and adversely affect our ability to distribute cash.
Our natural gas transmission pipeline systems, crude oil transportation pipeline systems and certain of our storage
facilities and related assets are subject to regulation by the FERC and the NEB, which could have an adverse effect on
our ability to establish transmission, transportation, storage and gathering rates that would allow us to recover the full
cost of operating our pipelines, including a reasonable return, and our ability to make distributions.
Our natural gas transmission pipeline systems, crude oil transportation pipeline systems and certain of our storage
facilities and related assets are subject to regulation by the FERC with respect to operations in the U. S. and the NEB
with respect to operations in Canada. The regulators have authority to regulate natural gas pipeline transmission and
crude oil pipeline transportation services, including; the rates charged for the services, terms and conditions of service,
certification and construction of new facilities, the extension or abandonment of services and facilities, the
maintenance of accounts and records, the acquisition and disposition of facilities, the initiation and discontinuation of
services, and various other matters.
Action by the FERC and the NEB on currently pending regulatory matters as well as matters arising in the future
could adversely affect our ability to establish or charge rates that would cover future increase in their costs, such as
additional costs related to environmental matters including any climate change regulation, or even to continue to
collect rates that cover current costs, including a reasonable return. We cannot assure unitholders that our pipeline
systems will be able to recover all of their costs through existing or future rates.
Effective January 2018, the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act changed several provisions of the federal tax code, including
a reduction in the maximum corporate tax rate. Following the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act being signed into law,
filings have been made at FERC requesting that FERC require natural gas and liquids pipelines to lower their
transportation rates to account for lower taxes. Following the effective date of the law, FERC orders granting
certificates to construct proposed natural gas pipeline facilities have directed pipelines proposing new rates for service
on those facilities to re-file such rates so that the rates reflect the reduction in the corporate tax rate, and FERC has
issued data requests in pending certificate proceedings for proposed natural gas pipeline facilities requesting pipelines
to explain the impacts of the reduction in the corporate tax rate on the rate proposals in those proceedings and to
provide re-calculated initial rates for service on the proposed pipeline facilities. FERC may enact other regulations or
issue further requests to pipelines regarding the impact of the corporate tax rate change on the rates. However, FERC’s
establishment of a just and reasonable rate is based on many components, and the reduction in the corporate tax rate
may only impact two of such components, the allowance for income taxes and the amount for accumulated deferred
income taxes. Because our existing jurisdictional rates were established based on a higher corporate tax rate, FERC or
our shippers may challenge these rates in the future, and the resulting new rate may be lower than the rates we
currently charge.
In addition, we cannot give assurance regarding the likely future regulations under which we will operate our natural
gas transmission, crude oil transportation, storage and gathering businesses or the effect such regulation could have on
our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, including our ability to make distributions.
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Certain transmission services are subject to long-term, fixed-price “negotiated rate” contracts that are not subject to
adjustment, even if our cost to perform services exceeds the revenues received from such contracts, and, as a result,
our costs could exceed our revenues received under such contracts.
Under FERC policy, a regulated service provider and a customer may mutually agree to sign a contract for service at a
“negotiated rate” which may be above or below the FERC-regulated “recourse rate” for that service. For 2017, 53% of
U.S. Transmission’s firm revenues were derived from such negotiated rate contracts. These negotiated rate contracts
are not subject to adjustment for increased costs which could be produced by inflation or other factors relating to the
specific facilities being used to perform the services. It is possible that the costs to perform services under these
negotiated rate contracts will exceed the negotiated rates. If this occurs, it could decrease cash flows from U.S.
Transmission.
Increased competition from alternative natural gas transmission, storage and gathering options and alternative fuel
sources could have a significant financial effect on us.
We compete primarily with other interstate and intrastate pipelines, storage and gathering facilities in the
transmission, storage and gathering of natural gas. Some of these competitors may expand or construct transmission,
storage and gathering systems that would create additional competition for the services we provide to our customers.
Moreover, Enbridge and its affiliates are not limited in their ability to compete with us. Further, natural gas also
competes with other forms of energy available to our customers, including electricity, coal, fuel oils and renewable
energy.
The principal elements of competition among natural gas transmission, storage and gathering assets are location, rates,
terms of service, access to natural gas supplies, flexibility and reliability. The FERC’s policies promoting competition
in natural gas markets are having the effect of increasing the natural gas transmission, storage and gathering options
for our traditional customer base. As a result, we could experience some “turnback” of firm capacity as existing
agreements expire. If our pipelines and storage facilities are unable to remarket this capacity or can remarket it only at
substantially discounted rates compared to previous contracts, they may have to bear the costs associated with the
turned back capacity. Increased competition could reduce the volumes of natural gas transported, stored or gathered by
our systems or, in cases where we do not have long-term fixed rate contracts, could force us to lower our transmission,
storage or gathering rates. Competition could intensify the negative effect of factors that significantly decrease
demand for natural gas in the markets served by our pipeline systems, such as competing or alternative forms of
energy, a recession or other adverse economic conditions, higher fuel costs and taxes or other governmental or
regulatory actions that directly or indirectly increase the cost or limit the use of natural gas. Our ability to renew or
replace existing contracts at rates sufficient to maintain current revenues and cash flows could be adversely affected
by the activities of our competitors. All of these competitive pressures could have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows, including our ability to make distributions.
The lack of availability of natural gas and oil resources in our areas of operation may cause customers to seek
alternative energy resources, which could materially affect our revenues, earnings and cash flows.
Our business is dependent on the continued availability of oil and natural gas production and reserves. The
development of additional oil and natural gas reserves requires significant capital expenditures by others for
exploration and development drilling and the installation of production, gathering, storage, transportation and other
facilities that permit oil and natural gas to be produced and delivered to our assets. Low prices for oil and natural gas,
regulatory limitations or the lack of available capital for these projects could adversely affect the development and
production of additional reserves, as well as gathering, storage, pipeline transmission and import and export of oil and
natural gas supplies, which could adversely impact our ability to fill the capacities of our gathering, transmission,
storage and processing facilities.
Production from existing wells and oil and natural gas supply basins with access to our pipeline systems and storage
facilities will naturally decline over time. The amount of oil and natural gas reserves underlying these wells may also
be less than anticipated, and the rate at which production from these reserves declines may be greater than anticipated.
Additionally, the competition for oil and natural gas supplies to serve other markets could reduce the amount of oil
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adversely affect our business. Demand for oil and natural gas is also affected by weather, future industrial and
economic conditions, fuel conservation measures, alternative fuel requirements, governmental regulation, and
technological advances in fuel economy and energy generation devices, all of which are matters beyond our control.
If new supplies of oil and natural gas are not obtained to replace the natural decline in volumes from existing supply
areas, or if oil and natural gas supplies are diverted to serve other markets, the overall volume of oil and natural gas
transported or stored in our assets would decline, which could have a material effect on our revenues, earnings and
cash flows, including our ability to make distributions.
We may be unable to secure renewals of long-term transportation or storage agreements at favorable rates or on a
long-term basis or at all.
We may be unable to secure renewals of long-term transportation or storage agreements in the future for our natural
gas transmission and crude oil transportation businesses as a result of economic factors, changing gas supply flow
patterns in North America, increased competition or changes in regulation. If an existing customer breaches its
long-term transportation or storage contract or terminates such contract at the expiration of its term, we may be subject
to a loss of revenue if we are unable to promptly resell the capacity to other customers. Our ability to execute a
long-term transportation or storage contract with one or more replacement customers on substantially equivalent terms
and conditions is uncertain and depends on a number of factors beyond our control, including:
•the timing, volume and location of new market demands;
•competition from alternative sources of fuels and other supply basins;
•the supply and price of oil and natural gas accessible by our system;
•the demand for oil and natural gas in markets served by us;
•whether the market will continue to support long-term firm contracts;
•the effects of state regulation on customer contracting practices; and
•the availability and competitiveness of alternative transportation and storage services in the markets we serve.
Any failure to extend or replace a significant portion of our existing contracts may have a material adverse effect on
our business, earnings, financial condition and cash flows.
If third-party pipelines and other facilities interconnected to our pipelines become unavailable to transport natural gas,
our revenues and Available Cash could be adversely affected.
We depend upon third-party pipelines and other facilities that provide delivery options to and from our pipelines and
storage facilities. Because we do not own these third-party pipelines or facilities, their continuing operation is not
within our control. If these or any other pipeline connection were to become unavailable for current or future volumes
of natural gas due to repairs, damage to the facility, lack of capacity or any other reason, our ability to operate
efficiently and continue shipping natural gas to end-markets could be restricted, thereby reducing revenues. Any
temporary or permanent interruption at any key pipeline interconnect could have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows, including our ability to make distributions.
We may face opposition to the operation or expansion of our pipelines and facilities from various groups.
We may face opposition to the operation or expansion of our pipelines and facilities from environmental groups,
landowners, tribal groups, local groups and other advocates. Such opposition could take many forms, including
organized protests, attempts to block or sabotage our operations, intervention in regulatory or administrative
proceedings involving our assets, or lawsuits or other actions designed to prevent, disrupt or delay the operation of our
assets and business. For example, repairing our pipelines often involves securing consent from individual landowners
to access their property; one or more landowners may resist our efforts to make needed repairs, which could lead to an
interruption in the operation of the affected pipeline or facility for a period of time that is significantly longer than
would have otherwise been the case. In addition, acts of sabotage or eco-terrorism could cause significant damage or
injury to people, property or the environment or lead to extended interruptions of our operations. Any event that
interrupts the revenues generated by our operations, that delays or reduces anticipated revenues, or that causes us to
make significant expenditures not covered by insurance, could reduce our cash available for paying distributions and
adversely affect our financial condition.
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If we do not complete expansion projects or make and integrate acquisitions our future growth may be limited.
A principal focus of our strategy is to continue to grow the cash distributions on our units by expanding our business.
Our ability to grow depends on our ability to complete expansion projects and make acquisitions that result in an
increase in cash generated. We may be unable to complete successful, accretive expansion projects or acquisitions for
any of the following reasons:
•an inability to identify attractive expansion projects or acquisition candidates or we are outbid by competitors;
•an inability to obtain necessary rights-of-way or government approvals, including regulatory agencies;
•an inability to successfully integrate the businesses we build or acquire;
•we are unable to raise financing for such expansion projects or acquisitions on economically acceptable terms;
•incorrect assumptions about volumes, reserves, revenues and costs, including synergies and potential growth; or

• we are unable to secure adequate customer commitments to use the newly expanded or acquired
facilities.

We rely on access to short-term and long-term capital markets to finance capital requirements and support liquidity
needs, and access to those markets can be affected, particularly if we or our rated subsidiaries are unable to maintain
an investment-grade credit rating, which could affect our cash flows or restrict business.
Our business is financed to a large degree through debt. The maturity and repayment profile of debt used to finance
investments often does not correlate to cash flows from assets. Accordingly, we rely on access to both short-term and
long-term capital markets as a source of liquidity for capital requirements not satisfied by cash flows from operations
and to fund investments originally financed through debt. Our senior unsecured long-term debt is currently rated
investment-grade by various rating agencies. If the rating agencies were to rate us or our rated subsidiaries below
investment-grade, our borrowing costs would increase, perhaps significantly. Consequently, we would likely be
required to pay a higher interest rate in future financings and our potential pool of investors and funding sources could
decrease.
We maintain a revolving credit facility to provide back-up for our commercial paper program, for borrowings and/or
letters of credit. This facility requires us to maintain a consolidated leverage ratio of consolidated indebtedness to
consolidated earnings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, and depreciation and amortization (EBITDA),
as defined in the agreement. Failure to maintain this covenant could preclude us from issuing commercial paper or
letters of credit or borrowing under the revolving credit facility which could affect cash flows or restrict business.
Furthermore, if Spectra Energy Partner’s short-term debt rating were to be below tier 2 (for example, A-2 for Standard
and Poor’s, P-2 for Moody’s Investor Service and F2 for Fitch Ratings), access to the commercial paper market could
be significantly limited. Although this would not affect our ability to draw under our credit facility, borrowing costs
could be significantly higher.
If we are not able to access capital at competitive rates, our ability to finance operations and implement our strategy
may be affected. Restrictions on our ability to access financial markets may also affect our ability to execute our
business plan as scheduled. An inability to access capital may limit our ability to pursue improvements or acquisitions
that we may otherwise rely on for future growth. Any downgrade or other event negatively affecting the credit ratings
of our subsidiaries could make their costs of borrowing higher or access to funding sources more limited, which in
turn could increase our need to provide liquidity in the form of capital contributions or loans to such subsidiaries, thus
reducing the liquidity and borrowing availability of the consolidated group.
We may incur significant costs and liabilities as a result of pipeline integrity management program testing and any
necessary pipeline repair or preventative or remedial measures.
The DOT has adopted regulations requiring pipeline operators to develop integrity management programs for
transmission pipelines located where a leak or rupture could do the most harm in “high consequence areas.” The
regulations require operators to:
•perform ongoing assessments of pipeline integrity;
•identify and characterize applicable threats to pipeline segments that could affect a high consequence area;
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•improve data collection, integration and analysis;
•repair and remediate the pipeline as necessary; and
•implement preventive and mitigating actions.
Our actual implementation costs may be affected by industry-wide demand for the associated contractors and service
providers. Additionally, should we fail to comply with DOT regulations, we could be subject to penalties and fines.
Our operations are subject to pipeline safety laws and regulations, compliance with which may require significant
capital expenditures, increase our cost of operations and affect or limit our business plans.
Our interstate pipeline operations in the U.S. are subject to pipeline safety laws and regulations administered by the
Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA) of the DOT. These laws and regulations require us
to comply with a significant set of requirements for the design, construction, maintenance and operation of our
interstate pipelines. These regulations, among other things, include requirements to monitor and maintain the integrity
of our pipelines, including those pipelines where a leak or rupture could harm high consequence areas such as high
population areas and unusually sensitive ecological areas. The regulations determine the pressures at which our
pipelines can operate.
New legislation or regulations adopted by PHMSA may impose more stringent requirements applicable to integrity
management programs and other pipeline safety aspects of our operations, which could cause us to incur increased
capital costs, operational delays and costs of operations. PHMSA adopted pipeline safety legislation in 2011 and,
more recently, in 2016 that, among other things, increased the penalties for safety violations, established additional
safety requirements for newly constructed pipelines and required studies of safety issues that could result in the
adoption of new regulatory requirements by PHMSA for existing pipelines, and empowered PHMSA to address
imminent hazards by imposing emergency restrictions, prohibitions and safety measures on owners and operators of
regulated pipeline facilities without prior notice or an opportunity for a hearing. PHMSA issued interim regulations in
October 2016 to implement the agency’s expanded authority to address unsafe pipeline conditions or practices that
pose an imminent hazard to life, property, or the environment.
PHMSA is designing an Integrity Verification Process intended to create standards to verify maximum allowable
operating pressure, and to improve and expand integrity management processes. Additionally, PHMSA will establish
standards for storage facilities. Proposed rulemaking on these matters has not been finalized and there remains
uncertainty as to how these standards will be implemented, but it is expected that the changes will impose additional
costs on new pipeline projects as well as on existing operations. In this climate of increasingly stringent regulation,
pipeline failures or failures to comply with applicable regulations could result in reduction of allowable operating
pressures as authorized by PHMSA, which would reduce available capacity on our pipelines. Should any of these risks
materialize, it may have an adverse effect on our operations, earnings, financial condition or cash flows.
PHMSA was recently granted authority by the U.S. Congress to govern safety relating to underground natural gas
storage facilities, and in particular, relating to downhole facilities, including well integrity, wellbore tubing, and
casing. In December 2016, PHMSA issued final interim rules that impose new safety-related requirements on
downhole facilities of new and existing underground natural gas storage facilities. The regulations incorporate
standards for design, operations, and functional integrity of underground storage wells. PHMSA indicated when it
issued the interim final rule that the adoption of these safety standards for natural gas storage facilities represent a first
step in a multi-phase process to enhance the safety of underground natural gas storage, with more standards likely
forthcoming. Most recently, in response to a petition for reconsideration of the interim final rule received in January
2017, PHMSA published a notice in June 2017, advising that the agency intends to consider the issues raised by the
petitioners in a final rule, which it currently expects to issue in 2018. At this time, we cannot predict the impact of any
future regulatory actions in this area and can provide no assurance that our future costs to comply with existing or new
standards relating to underground natural gas storage facilities will not have a material adverse effect on our business
and operating results.
In Canada, our pipeline operations are subject to pipeline safety regulations overseen by the NEB. Applicable
legislation and regulation require us to comply with a significant set of requirements for the design, construction,
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As in the U.S., several legislative changes addressing pipeline safety in Canada have recently come into force. The
changes evidence an increased focus on the implementation of management systems to address key areas such as
emergency management, integrity management, safety, security and environmental protection. Other legislative
changes have created authority for the NEB to impose administrative monetary penalties for non-compliance with the
regulatory regime it administers.
Compliance with these legislative changes may impose additional costs on new Canadian pipeline projects as well as
on existing operations. Failure to comply with applicable regulations could result in a number of consequences which
may have an adverse effect on our operations, earnings, financial condition and cash flows.
Restrictions in our financing arrangements may limit our ability to make distributions and may limit our ability to
capitalize on acquisition and other business opportunities.
The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in our credit facility and any future financing agreements could
restrict our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to expand or pursue business activities associated
with our subsidiaries and equity investments. Our credit facility contains covenants that restrict or limit our ability to:
•make distributions if any default or event of default, as defined, occurs;

•make other restricted distributions or dividends on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition,
cancellation or termination of partnership interests;
•incur additional indebtedness or guarantee other indebtedness;
•grant liens or make certain negative pledges;
•make certain loans or investments;
•engage in transactions with affiliates;
•make any material change to the nature of our business from the midstream energy business;
•make a disposition of assets; or
•enter into a merger, consolidate, liquidate, wind up or dissolve.
The credit facility contains covenants requiring us to maintain certain financial ratios and tests. The ability to comply
with the covenants and restrictions contained in the credit facility may be affected by events beyond our control,
including prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. If market or other economic conditions deteriorate,
our ability to comply with these covenants may be impaired. If we violate any of the restrictions, covenants, ratios or
tests in our credit facility, the lenders will be able to accelerate the maturity of all borrowings under the credit facility
and demand repayment of amounts outstanding, the lenders’ commitment to make further loans to us may terminate,
and the operating partnership may be prohibited from making any distributions. We might not have, or be able to
obtain, sufficient funds to make these accelerated payments. Any subsequent replacement of our credit facility or any
new indebtedness could have similar or greater restrictions.
The credit and risk profile of our General Partner and its owner, Enbridge, could adversely affect our credit ratings
and risk profile, which could increase our borrowing costs or hinder our ability to raise capital.
The credit and business risk profiles of our General Partner and Enbridge may be factors considered in credit
evaluations of us. This is because our General Partner controls our business activities, including our cash distribution
policy, acquisition strategy and business risk profile. Another factor that may be considered is the financial condition
of Enbridge, including the degree of its financial leverage and its dependence on cash flow from the partnership to
service its indebtedness.
Our credit rating could be adversely affected by the leverage of our General Partner or Enbridge, as credit rating
agencies may consider the leverage and credit profile of Enbridge and its affiliates because of their ownership interest
in and control of us, and the strong operational links between Enbridge and us. Any adverse effect on our credit rating
would increase our cost of borrowing or hinder our ability to raise financing in the capital markets, which would
impair our ability to grow our business and make distributions.
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We are involved in numerous legal proceedings, the outcome of which are uncertain, and resolutions adverse to us
could negatively affect our earnings, financial condition and cash flows.
We are subject to numerous legal proceedings. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and we cannot predict the
outcome of individual matters with assurance. It is reasonably possible that the final resolution of some of the matters
in which we are involved could require additional expenditures, in excess of established reserves, over an extended
period of time and in a range of amounts that could have a material effect on our earnings and cash flows.
Protecting against potential terrorist activities, including cyber-terrorism, requires significant capital expenditures and
a successful terrorist attack could affect our business.
Acts of terrorism and any possible reprisals as a consequence of any action by the U.S. and its allies could be directed
against companies operating in the U.S. This risk is particularly relevant for companies, like ours, operating in any
energy infrastructure industry that handles volatile gaseous and liquid hydrocarbons. The potential for terrorism,
including cyber-terrorism, has subjected our operations to increased risks that could have an adverse effect on our
business. In particular, we may experience increased capital and operating costs to implement increased security for
our facilities and pipelines, such as additional physical facility and pipeline security, and additional security personnel.
Moreover, any physical damage to high profile facilities resulting from acts of terrorism may not be covered, or
covered fully, by insurance. We may be required to expend material amounts of capital to repair any facilities, the
expenditure of which could adversely affect our business and cash flows. A cyber attack could also lead to a
significant interruption in our operations or unauthorized release of confidential or otherwise protected information,
which could damage our reputation or lead to financial losses.
Changes in the insurance markets attributable to terrorist attacks may make certain types of insurance more difficult
for us to obtain. Moreover, the insurance that may be available to us may be significantly more expensive than our
existing insurance coverage. Instability in the financial markets as a result of terrorism or war could also affect our
ability to raise capital.
Cyber-attacks or security breaches could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations.
Our business is dependent upon information systems and other digital technologies for controlling our plants and
pipelines, processing transactions and summarizing and reporting results of operations. The secure processing,
maintenance and transmission of information is critical to our operations. A security breach of our network or systems
could result in improper operation of our assets, potentially including delays in the delivery or availability of our
customers’ products, contamination or degradation of the products we transport, store or distribute, or releases of
hydrocarbon products for which we could be held liable. Furthermore, we collect and store sensitive data in the
ordinary course of our business, including personal identification information of our employees as well as our
proprietary business information and that of our customers, suppliers, investors and other stakeholders. We conduct
cyber security audits from time to time and continuously monitor our systems in an effort to mitigate the risk of
cyber-attacks or security breaches. Enbridge has a Cybersecurity controls framework in place which has been derived
from the NIST Cybersecurity Framework and ISO 27001 standards. We monitor our control effectiveness in an
increasing threat landscape and continuously take action to improve our security posture. We have implemented a
7X24 security operations center to monitor, detect and investigate any anomalous activity in our network together
with an incident response process that we test on a monthly basis. We conduct independent cyber security audits and
penetration tests on a regular basis to test that our preventative and detective controls are working as designed. Despite
our security measures, our information systems may become the target of cyber-attacks or security breaches (including
employee error, malfeasance or other breaches), which could compromise our network or systems and result in the
release or loss of the information stored therein, misappropriation of assets, disruption to our operations or damage to
our facilities. Enbridge’s current insurance coverage programs do not contain specific coverage for cyber-attacks or
security breaches. As a result of a cyber-attack or security breach, we could also be liable under laws that protect the
privacy of personal information, subject to regulatory penalties, experience damage to our reputation or a loss of
consumer confidence in our products and services, or incur additional costs for remediation and modification or
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We do not insure against all potential losses and could be seriously harmed by unexpected liabilities or by the inability
of our insurers to satisfy our claims.
Our assets and operations are covered under insurance programs maintained by Enbridge for its subsidiaries and
affiliates. Enbridge’s comprehensive insurance programs are maintained on a consolidated basis to include the
operations of its subsidiaries, including us. We are not fully insured against all risks inherent to our business,
including environmental accidents that might occur. If a significant accident or event occurs that is not fully insured, it
could adversely affect our operations and financial condition. In addition, we may not be able to maintain or obtain
insurance of the type and amount we desire at reasonable rates. Changes in the insurance markets occasionally make it
more difficult for us to obtain certain types of coverage at reasonable rates, and we may elect to self-insure a portion
of our asset portfolio. In addition, we do not maintain offshore business interruption insurance. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain the levels or types of insurance we would otherwise have obtained prior to
these market changes or that the insurance coverage we do obtain will not contain large deductibles or fail to cover
certain hazards or cover all potential losses. The occurrence of any operating risks not fully covered by insurance
could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, in the
unlikely event there is a total or partial loss of our assets or storage facilities, any insurance proceeds that we may
receive in respect thereof may not be sufficient in any particular situation to effect a restoration of our assets or
facilities to the condition that existed prior to such loss or sufficient to satisfy our obligations under the notes. In
addition, in the event that multiple insurable incidents that, in the aggregate, exceed coverage limits and occur within
the same insurance period, the total insurance coverage will be allocated among the Enbridge entities covered thereby
on an equitable basis based on an insurance allocation agreement we have entered into with Enbridge and other
Enbridge subsidiaries.
Reductions in demand for natural gas and oil and low market prices of commodities adversely affect our operations
and cash flows.
Our regulated businesses are generally economically stable; they are not significantly affected in the short term by
changing commodity prices. However, our businesses can all be negatively affected in the long-term by sustained
downturns in the economy or long-term conservation efforts, which could affect long-term demand and market prices
for natural gas and oil. These factors are beyond our control and could impair the ability to meet long-term goals.
Most of our revenues are based on regulated tariff rates, which include the recovery of certain fuel costs. However,
lower overall economic output could reduce the volume of natural gas transported or gathered, and the volume of oil
transported, resulting in lower earnings and cash flows. Transmission revenues could be affected by long-term
economic declines, resulting in the non-renewal of long-term contracts at the time of expiration. Lower demand, along
with lower prices for natural gas and oil, could result from multiple factors that affect the markets where we operate,
including:

•weather conditions, such as abnormally mild winter or summer weather, resulting in lower energy usage for heating or
cooling purposes, respectively;

•supply of and demand for energy commodities, including any decrease in the production of natural gas and oil could
negatively affect our processing and transmission businesses due to lower throughput; and
•capacity and transmission service into, or out of, our markets.
Our business is subject to extensive regulation that affects our revenues, operations and costs.
Our U.S. assets and operations are subject to regulation by various federal, state and local authorities, including
regulation by the FERC and by various authorities under federal, state and local environmental laws. Our operations in
Canada are subject to regulation by the NEB, and by federal and provincial authorities under environmental laws.
Regulation affects almost every aspect of our business, including, among other things, the ability to determine terms
and rates for services provided by some of our businesses, make acquisitions, construct, expand and operate facilities,
issue equity or debt securities, and make distributions.
In addition, regulators in the U.S. have taken actions to strengthen market forces in the gas pipeline industry, which
have led to increased competition. In a number of key markets, natural gas pipeline and storage operators are facing
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Execution of our capital projects subjects us to construction risks, increases in labor and material costs, and other risks
that may affect our financial results.
A significant portion of our growth is accomplished through the construction of new pipelines and storage facilities as
well as the expansion of existing facilities. Construction of these facilities is subject to various regulatory,
development, operational and market risks, including:

•the ability to obtain necessary approvals and permits by regulatory agencies on a timely basis and on acceptable terms
and to maintain those approvals and permits issued and satisfy the terms and conditions imposed therein;
•the availability of skilled labor, equipment and materials to complete expansion projects;

• potential changes in federal, state and local statutes and regulations, including environmental requirements,
that may delay or prevent a project from proceeding or increase the anticipated cost of the project;

•impediments on our ability to acquire rights-of-way or land rights on a timely basis and on acceptable terms; and

•
the ability to construct projects within anticipated costs, including the risk of cost overruns resulting from inflation or
increased costs of equipment, materials or labor, weather, geologic conditions or other factors beyond our control, that
may be material; and
•general economic factors that affect the demand for natural gas infrastructure.
The current FERC Chairman announced in December 2017 that FERC will review its policies on certification of
natural gas pipelines, including an examination of its long-standing Policy Statement on Certification of New
Interstate Natural Gas Pipeline Facilities, issued in 1999, that is used to determine whether to grant certificates for
new pipeline projects. We are unable to predict what, if any, changes may be proposed that will affect our natural gas
pipeline business or when such proposals, if any, might become effective. We do not expect that any change in this
policy would affect us in a materially different manner than any other similarly sized natural gas pipeline company
operating in the United States.
Any of these risks could prevent a project from proceeding, delay its completion or increase its anticipated cost. As a
result, new facilities may not achieve their expected investment return, which could affect our earnings, financial
position and cash flows.
Market-based storage operations are subject to commodity price risk, which could result in a decrease in our earnings
and reduced cash flows.
We have market-based rates for some of our storage operations and sell our storage services based on natural gas
market spreads and volatility. If natural gas market spreads or volatility deviate from historical norms or there is
significant growth in the amount of storage capacity available to natural gas markets relative to demand, our approach
to managing our market-based storage contract portfolio may not protect us from significant variations in storage
revenues, including possible declines, as contracts renew.
Our operations are subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations, compliance with which may require
significant capital expenditures, increase our cost of operations and affect or limit our business plans, or expose us to
environmental liabilities.
We are subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations affecting many aspects of our present and future
operations, including air emissions, water quality, wastewater discharges, solid waste and hazardous waste. These
laws and regulations can result in increased capital, operating and other costs. These laws and regulations generally
require us to obtain and comply with a wide variety of environmental licenses, permits, inspections and other
approvals. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations can require significant expenditures, including
expenditures for cleanup costs and damages arising out of contaminated properties. In particular, compliance with
major CAA regulatory programs is likely to cause us to incur significant capital expenditures to obtain permits,
evaluate offsite impacts of our operations, install, upgrade or replace pollution control equipment, and otherwise
assure compliance. Some states in which we operate are implementing new emissions limits to comply with 2008
ozone standards regulated under the National Ambient Air Quality Standards. In 2015, the ozone standards were
lowered even further from 75 parts per billion (ppb) to 70 ppb. The EPA published a final rule in November 2017 that
issued area designations with respect to ground-level ozone for approximately 85% of the U.S. counties as either
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of 2018. States are also expected to implement regulations implementing the NAAQS rule that may be more stringent
than the federal standards. The precise nature of these compliance obligations at each of our facilities has not been
finally determined and may depend in part on future regulatory changes. In addition, compliance with new and
emerging environmental regulatory programs is likely to significantly increase our operating costs compared to
historical levels.
In the U.S., climate change continues to attract considerable public and scientific attention. As a result, numerous
proposals have been made and could continue to be made at the federal, regional and state levels of government to
monitor and limit emissions of GHGs through consideration of cap-and-trade programs, carbon taxes, GHG reporting
and tracking programs, and regulations that directly limit GHG emissions from certain sources. The Supreme Court
decision in Massachusetts v. EPA in 2007 established that GHGs were pollutants subject to regulation under the Clean
Air Act. Pursuant to federal regulations, we are currently subject to an obligation to report our GHG emissions at our
largest emitting facilities, but are not generally subject to limits on permitted emissions of GHGs, (except to the extent
that some GHGs consist of volatile organic compounds and nitrous oxides that are subject to emission limits). In June
2016, the EPA published a final rule requiring certain new, modified or reconstructed facilities in the oil and natural
gas sector to reduce these methane gas and volatile organic compound emissions. However, in June 2017, the EPA
proposed a rule to stay certain portions of the June 2016 rule for two years and reconsider the entirety of the 2016 rule
but has not yet published a final rule and, as a result, the 2016 rule remains in effect but future implementation of that
rule is uncertain at this time. Additionally, while the U.S. joined the international community in meeting on climate
change issues and preparing an agreement that became known as the “Paris Agreement,” which set non-binding GHG
emissions reduction goals for member counties and was signed by the U.S. in November 2016, with the change in
Presidential Administrations, the U.S. State Department informed the United Nations in August 2017 of the intent of
the U.S. to withdraw from the Paris Agreement. In Canada, the federal government has committed to reducing GHGs
and emissions, including becoming signatory and being committed to the Paris Agreement. In addition, a number of
Canadian provinces have joined regional GHG initiatives or are developing their own programs that would mandate
reductions in GHG emissions. In the U.S., Canada and other countries, public interest groups and regulatory agencies
are increasingly focusing on the emission of methane associated with natural gas development and transmission as a
source of GHG emissions. Both the US and Canada have developed regulations to find and fix methane leaks.
However, as the key details of future GHG restrictions and compliance mechanisms remain undefined, the likely
future effects on our business are uncertain. Recently, activists concerned about the potential effects of climate change
have directed their attention at sources of funding for fossil-fuel energy companies, which has resulted in certain
financial institutions, funds and other sources of capital restricting or eliminating their investment in oil and natural
gas activities. Ultimately, this could make it more difficult to secure funding for exploration and production or
midstream activities. Notwithstanding potential risks related to climate change, the International Energy Agency
estimates that global energy demand will continue to rise and will not peak until after 2040 and that oil and natural gas
will continue to represent a substantial percentage of global energy use over that time.
Failure to comply with environmental regulations may result in the imposition of fines, penalties and injunctive
measures affecting our operating assets. In addition, changes in environmental laws and regulations or the enactment
of new environmental laws or regulations could result in a material increase in our cost of compliance with such laws
and regulations. We may not be able to obtain or maintain all required environmental regulatory approvals for our
operating assets or development projects. If there is a delay in obtaining any required environmental regulatory
approvals, if we fail to obtain or comply with them or if environmental laws or regulations change or are administered
in a more stringent manner, the operations of facilities or the development of new facilities could be prevented,
delayed or become subject to additional costs. We expect that costs we incur to comply with environmental
regulations in the future will have a significant effect on our earnings and cash flows.
Due to the speculative outlook regarding any U.S. federal and state policies, we cannot estimate the potential effect of
proposed GHG policies on our future consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows. However,
such legislation or regulation could materially increase our operating costs, require material capital expenditures or
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Natural gas transmission and storage and crude oil transportation and storage activities involve numerous risks that
may result in accidents or otherwise affect our operations.
There are a variety of hazards and operating risks inherent in natural gas gathering and processing, transmission and
storage activities, and crude oil transportation and storage, such as leaks, explosions, mechanical problems, activities
of third parties and damage to pipelines, facilities and equipment caused by hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, fires and
other natural disasters, that could cause substantial financial losses. In addition, these
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risks could result in significant injury, loss of life, significant damage to property, environmental pollution and
impairment of operations, any of which could result in substantial losses. For pipeline and storage assets located near
populated areas, including residential areas, commercial business centers, industrial sites and other public gathering
areas, the level of damage resulting from these risks could be greater. Therefore, should any of these risks materialize,
it could have a material effect on our business, earnings, financial condition and cash flows.
We do not maintain insurance coverage against all of these risks and losses, and any insurance coverage we might
maintain may not fully cover the damages caused by those risks and losses. We may elect to self insure a portion of
our asset portfolio. Therefore, should any of these risks materialize, it could have a material effect on our business,
earnings, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, including our ability to make distributions.
We do not own all of the land on which our pipelines and facilities are located, which could result in disruptions to our
operations.
We do not own all of the land on which our pipelines and facilities have been constructed, and we are, therefore,
subject to the possibility of more onerous terms and/or increased costs to retain necessary land use if we do not have
valid rights-of-way or if such rights-of-way lapse or terminate. We obtain the rights to construct and operate our
pipelines on land owned by third parties and governmental agencies for a specific period of time. Additionally,
following a recent decision issued in May 2017 by the federal Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, tribal ownership of
even a very small fractional interest in an allotted land, that is, tribal land owned or at one time owned by an
individual Indian landowner, bars condemnation of any interest in the allotment. Consequently, the inability to
condemn such allotted lands under circumstances where an existing pipeline rights-of-way may soon lapse or
terminate serves as an additional impediment for pipeline operators. We cannot guarantee that we will always be able
to renew existing rights-of-way or obtain new rights-of-way without experiencing significant costs. Any loss of rights
with respect to our real property, our loss of these rights, through our inability to renew right-of-way contracts or
otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial position and ability to
make cash distributions to our unitholders.
We are exposed to the credit risk of our customers.
We are exposed to the credit risk of our customers in the ordinary course of our business. Generally, our customers are
rated investment-grade, are otherwise considered creditworthy or provide us security to satisfy credit concerns. A
significant amount of our credit exposures for transmission, storage and gathering services are with customers who
have an investment-grade rating (or the equivalent based on our evaluation) or are secured by collateral. However, we
cannot predict to what extent our business would be impacted by deteriorating conditions in the economy, including
possible declines in our customers’ creditworthiness. As a result of future capital projects for which natural gas and oil
producers may be the primary customer, our credit exposure with below investment-grade customers may increase.
While we monitor these situations carefully and take appropriate measures when deemed necessary, it is possible that
customer payment defaults, if significant, could have a material effect on our earnings and cash flows.
Our long-term firm transportation and storage contracts obligate our customers to pay reservation charges regardless
of whether they transport oil or natural gas on our pipeline systems or store oil or natural gas in our storage facilities,
subject to the customer’s right to receive a credit to the extent we are unable, due to an event of force majeure, to
transport or store volumes of oil or natural gas up to the customer’s contracted capacity. As a result, absent an event of
force majeure, a significant portion of our business will generally depend on our customers’ financial condition and
ability to pay rather than upon the amount of natural gas transported or stored. A customer subject to a bankruptcy
filing may elect to reject its transportation or storage contract. Prior to such an election, we will not be able to
terminate the bankrupt customer’s transportation or storage contract and replace the customer absent approval of the
bankruptcy court. In addition, a bankruptcy court may avoid security provided, or certain payments made, by a
bankrupt customer and deny us priority status with respect to volumes paid for but not delivered.
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Risks Inherent in an Investment in Us
Enbridge controls our General Partner, which has sole responsibility for conducting our business and managing our
operations. Our General Partner and its affiliates, including Enbridge, have conflicts of interest with us and limited
fiduciary duties, and may favor their own interests to the detriment of us.
Enbridge owns and controls our General Partner. Some of our General Partner’s directors, and some of its executive
officers, are directors or officers of Enbridge or its affiliates. Although our General Partner has a fiduciary duty to
manage us in a manner beneficial to Enbridge and our unitholders, the directors and officers of our General Partner
have a fiduciary duty to manage our General Partner in a manner beneficial to Enbridge. Therefore, conflicts of
interest may arise between Enbridge and its affiliates, including our General Partner, on the one hand, and us and our
unitholders, on the other hand. In resolving these conflicts of interest, our General Partner may favor its own interests
and the interests of its affiliates over the interests of our unitholders. These conflicts include, among others, the
following situations:

•
neither our partnership agreement nor any other agreement requires Enbridge to pursue a business strategy that favors
us. Enbridge’s directors and officers have a fiduciary duty to make these decisions in the best interests of the owners of
Enbridge, which may be contrary to our interests;

•our General Partner is allowed to take into account the interests of parties other than us, such as Enbridge and its
affiliates, in resolving conflicts of interest;
•Enbridge and its affiliates are not limited in their ability to compete with us;

•some officers of Enbridge who provide services to us also devote significant time to the business of Enbridge and will
be compensated by Enbridge for the services rendered to it;

•

our General Partner has limited its liability and reduced its fiduciary duties, and has also restricted the remedies
available to our unitholders for actions that, without the limitations, might constitute breaches of fiduciary duty. By
purchasing common units, unitholders will be deemed to have consented to some actions and conflicts of interest that
might otherwise constitute a breach of fiduciary or other duties under applicable law;

•
our General Partner determines the amount and timing of asset purchases and sales, borrowings, issuances of
additional partnership securities and reserves, each of which can affect the amount of cash that is distributed to
unitholders;

•

our General Partner determines the amount and timing of any capital expenditures and, the amount of any cash
reserves that in its reasonable discretion are necessary to fund our future operating expenditures. In addition, our
partnership agreement permits our General Partner to reduce available cash by establishing cash reserves for the
proper conduct of our business, to comply with applicable laws or agreements to which we are a party or to provide
funds for future distributions to partners. These determinations can affect the amount of cash that is distributed to our
unitholders;
•our General Partner determines which costs incurred by it and its affiliates are reimbursable by us;

•in some instances, our General Partner may cause us to borrow funds in order to permit the payment of cash
distributions, even if the purpose or effect of the borrowing is to make distributions;

•our partnership agreement does not restrict our General Partner from causing us to pay it or our affiliates for any
services rendered to us or entering into additional contractual arrangements with any of these entities on our behalf;

•our General Partner intends to limit its liability regarding our contractual and other obligations and, in some
circumstances, is entitled to be indemnified by us;

•our General Partner may exercise its limited right to call and purchase common units if it and its affiliates own more
than 90% of the common units;
•our General Partner controls the enforcement of obligations owed to us by our General Partner and its affiliates; and
•our General Partner decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for us.
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Affiliates of our General Partner are not limited in their ability to compete with us, which could limit commercial
activities or our ability to acquire additional assets or businesses.
Neither our partnership agreement nor the omnibus agreement among us, Enbridge and others prohibits affiliates of
our General Partner from owning assets or engaging in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. In
addition, Enbridge and its affiliates may acquire, construct or dispose of additional transmission, storage and gathering
or other assets in the future, without any obligation to offer us the opportunity to purchase or construct any of those
assets. Each of these entities is a large, established participant in the midstream energy business and each has
significantly greater resources and experience than we have, which may make it more difficult for us to compete with
these entities with respect to commercial activities as well as for acquisition candidates. As a result, competition from
these entities could adversely affect our results of operations and available cash.
If a unitholder is not an Eligible Holder, such unitholder will not be entitled to receive distributions or allocations of
income or loss on common units and those common units will be subject to redemption at a price that may be below
the current market price.
In order to comply with certain FERC rate-making policies applicable to entities that pass through taxable income to
their owners, we have adopted certain requirements regarding those investors who may own our common units.
Eligible Holders are individuals or entities subject to United States federal income taxation on the income generated
by us or entities not subject to United States federal income taxation on the income generated by us, so long as all of
the entity’s owners are subject to such taxation. If a unitholder is not a person who fits the requirements to be an
Eligible Holder, such unitholder may not receive distributions or allocations of income and loss on the unitholder’s
units and the unitholder runs the risk of having the units redeemed by us at the lower of the unitholder’s purchase price
cost or the then-current market price. The redemption price will be paid in cash or by delivery of a promissory note, as
determined by our General Partner.
Cost reimbursements to our General Partner and its affiliates for services provided, which will be determined by our
General Partner, will be substantial and will reduce our distributable cash flow.
Pursuant to an omnibus agreement we entered into with Spectra Energy, our General Partner and certain of their
affiliates, Spectra Energy will receive reimbursement from us for the payment of operating expenses related to our
operations and for the provision of various general and administrative services for our benefit, including costs for
rendering administrative staff and support services, and overhead allocated to us. These amounts will be determined
by our General Partner in its sole discretion. Payments for these services will be substantial and will reduce the
amount of distributable cash flow. In addition, under Delaware partnership law, our General Partner has unlimited
liability for our obligations, such as our debts and environmental liabilities, except for contractual obligations that are
expressly made without recourse to our General Partner. To the extent our General Partner incurs obligations on our
behalf, we are obligated to reimburse or indemnify it. If we are unable or unwilling to reimburse or indemnify our
General Partner, our General Partner may take actions to cause us to make payments of these obligations and
liabilities. Any such payments could reduce the amount of our cash otherwise available for distribution.
Our partnership agreement limits our General Partner’s fiduciary duties to holders of our common units, and restricts
the remedies available to holders of our common units for actions taken by our General Partner that might otherwise
constitute breaches of fiduciary duty.
Our partnership agreement contains provisions that reduce the fiduciary standards to which our General Partner would
otherwise be held by state fiduciary duty laws. For example, our partnership agreement:

•

permits our General Partner to make a number of decisions in its individual capacity, as opposed to in its capacity as
our General Partner. This entitles our General Partner to consider only the interests and factors that it desires, and it
has no duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting us, our affiliates or any
limited partner;

•
provides that our General Partner will not have any liability to us or our unitholders for decisions made in its capacity
as a General Partner so long as it acted in good faith, meaning it believed the decision was in the best interests of our
partnership;
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must be on terms no less favorable to us than those generally being provided to or
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available from unrelated third parties or must be “fair and reasonable” to us, as determined by our General Partner in
good faith. In determining whether a transaction or resolution is “fair and reasonable,” the General Partner may consider
the totality of the relationships between the parties involved, including other transactions that may be particularly
advantageous or beneficial to unitholders;

•

provides that our General Partner and its officers and directors will not be liable for monetary damages to us, our
limited partners or assignees for any acts or omissions unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment
entered by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that the General Partner or those other persons acted in bad
faith or engaged in fraud or willful misconduct or, in the case of a criminal matter, acted with knowledge that the
conduct was criminal; and

•
provides that in resolving conflicts of interest, it will be presumed that in making its decision the General Partner or
its Conflicts Committee acted in good faith, and in any proceeding brought by or on behalf of any limited partner or
us, the person bringing or prosecuting such proceeding will have the burden of overcoming such presumption.
Holders of our common units have limited voting rights and are not entitled to elect our General Partner or its
directors, which could reduce the price at which the common units will trade.
Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting
our business and, therefore, limited ability to influence management’s decisions regarding our business. Unitholders
will not elect our General Partner or the board of directors of our General Partner (the Board of Directors), and will
have no right to elect our General Partner or Board of Directors on an annual or other continuing basis. The Board of
Directors, including the independent directors, will be chosen entirely by owners of the General Partner and not by our
unitholders. Furthermore, if the unitholders were dissatisfied with the performance of the general partner of our
general partner, they will have little ability to remove the General Partner. As a result of these limitations, the price at
which the common units will trade could be diminished because of the absence or reduction of a takeover premium in
the trading price.
Even if holders of our common units are dissatisfied, they cannot presently remove our General Partner without its
consent.
The unitholders will be unable to remove our General Partner without its consent because our General Partner and its
affiliates own sufficient units to be able to prevent its removal. The vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of all
outstanding units voting together as a single class is required to remove our General Partner. As of January 31, 2018,
our General Partner and its affiliates own 83% of our aggregate outstanding common units.
Our partnership agreement restricts the voting rights of unitholders owning 20% or more of our common units.
Our partnership agreement restricts unitholders’ voting rights by providing that any units held by a person that owns
20% or more of any class of units then outstanding, other than our General Partner, its affiliates, their transferees and
persons who acquired such units with the prior approval of the board of directors of our General Partner, cannot vote
on any matter. Our partnership agreement also contains provisions limiting the ability of unitholders to call meetings
or to acquire information about our operations, as well as other provisions limiting the unitholders’ ability to influence
the manner or direction of management.
If we are deemed an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 1940, it would adversely affect the
price of our common units and could have an adverse effect on our business.
Our assets include 100% ownership interests in various pipelines, as well as 50% equity interests in Gulfstream,
SESH, Steckman Ridge and Sabal Trail. If a sufficient amount of our assets that are comprised of equity investments,
other assets acquired in the future, are deemed to be “investment securities” within the meaning of the Investment
Company Act of 1940 (Investment Company Act), we would either have to register as an investment company under
the Investment Company Act, obtain exemptive relief from the SEC or modify the organizational structure or contract
rights to fall outside the definition of an investment company. Although general partner interests are typically not
considered “securities” or “investment securities,” there is a risk that our 50% general partner interest in Steckman Ridge
could be deemed to be an investment security. In that event, it is possible that our ownership of this interest, combined
with all of our current equity investments or assets acquired in the future, could result in us being required to register
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transactions with affiliates, including the purchase and sale of certain securities or other property to or from our
affiliates, restrict our ability to borrow funds or engage in other transactions involving leverage and require us to add
additional directors who are independent of us or our affiliates. The occurrence of some or all of these events would
adversely affect the price of the common units and could have an adverse effect on our business.
Control of our General Partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.
Our General Partner may transfer its general partner interest to a third party in a merger or in a sale of all or
substantially all of its assets without the consent of the unitholders. Furthermore, our partnership agreement does not
restrict the ability of the owners of our General Partner or its parent from transferring all or a portion of their
respective ownership interest in our General Partner or its parent to a third party. The new owners of our General
Partner or its parent would then be in a position to replace the board of directors and officers of its parent with its own
choices and thereby influence the decisions taken by the board of directors and officers.
Increases in interest rates could adversely affect our unit price and our ability to issue additional equity to make
acquisitions, incur debt or for other purposes.
In recent years, the U.S. credit markets have experienced 50-year record lows in interest rates. Interest rates on future
credit facilities and debt offerings could be higher than current levels, causing our financing costs to increase
accordingly. As with other yield-oriented securities, our unit price is affected by the level of our cash distributions and
implied distribution yield. Therefore, changes in interest rates may affect the yield requirements of investors who
invest in our units, and a rising interest rate environment could have an adverse effect on our unit price and the ability
to issue additional equity to make acquisitions, to incur debt or for other purposes.
We may issue additional units without our unitholders’ approval, which would dilute our existing unitholders’
ownership interests.
Our partnership agreement does not limit the number of additional limited partner interests that we may issue at any
time without the approval of our unitholders. The issuance by us of additional common units or other equity securities
of equal or senior rank will have the following effects:
•each unitholder’s proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;
•the amount of distributable cash flow on each unit may decrease;
•the ratio of taxable income to distributions may increase;
•the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding unit may be diminished; and
•the market price of the common units may decline.
Enbridge and its affiliates may sell units in the public or private markets, which sales could have an adverse effect on
the trading price of the common units.
As of January 31, 2018, Enbridge and its affiliates hold an aggregate of 402,989,862 common units. The sale of any of
these units in the public or private markets could have an adverse effect on the price of the common units or on any
trading market that may develop.
Our General Partner has a limited call right that may require our unitholder to sell the units at an undesirable time or
price.
If at any time our General Partner and its affiliates own more than 90% of the common units, our General Partner will
have the right, but not the obligation, which it may assign to any of its affiliates or to us, to acquire all, but not less
than all, of the common units held by unaffiliated persons at a price not less than their then-current market price. As a
result, our unitholders may be required to sell their common units at an undesirable time or price and may not receive
any return on their investment. A unitholder may also incur a tax liability upon a sale of their units. As of January 31,
2018, our General Partner and its affiliates own approximately 83% of our outstanding common units.
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Our unitholders’ liability may not be limited if a court finds that unitholder action constitutes control of our business.
A general partner of a partnership generally has unlimited liability for the obligations of the partnership, except for
those contractual obligations of the partnership that are expressly made without recourse to the general partner. We are
organized under Delaware law and conduct business in a number of other states. The limitations on the liability of
holders of limited partner interests for the obligations of a limited partnership have not been clearly established in
some of the states in which we do business. Our unitholders could be liable for any and all of our obligations as if our
unitholders were a general partner if a court or government agency determined that:
•we were conducting business in a state but had not complied with that particular state’s partnership statute; or

•
our unitholders’ right to act with other unitholders to remove or replace the general partner, to approve some
amendments to our partnership agreement or to take other actions under our partnership agreement constitutes “control”
of our business.
Unitholders may have liability to repay distributions that were wrongfully distributed to them.
Under certain circumstances, unitholders may have to repay amounts wrongfully returned or distributed to them.
Under Section 17-607 of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act, we may not make a distribution to
the unitholder if the distribution would cause our liabilities to exceed the fair value of our assets. Delaware law
provides that for a period of three years from the date of the impermissible distribution, limited partners who received
the distribution and who knew at the time of the distribution that it violated Delaware law will be liable to the limited
partnership for the distribution amount. Substituted limited partners are liable for the obligations of the assignor to
make contributions to the partnership that are known to the substituted limited partner at the time it became a limited
partner and for unknown obligations if the liabilities could be determined from our partnership agreement.
Liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interest and liabilities that are non-recourse to the partnership are
not counted for purposes of determining whether a distribution is permitted.
Tax Risks to Unitholders
Our tax treatment depends on our status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, as well as not being subject
to a material amount of entity-level taxation. If the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) treats us as a corporation or we
otherwise become subject to a material amount of entity-level taxation for federal and state tax purposes, it would
substantially reduce the amount of distributable cash flow.
The anticipated after-tax economic benefit of an investment in our common units depends largely on us being treated
as a partnership for federal income tax purposes and not becoming subject to a material amount of federal or state
taxation. We have not requested, and do not plan to request, a ruling from the IRS on this or any other tax matter
affecting us.
If we were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, we would pay federal income tax on our taxable
income at the corporate tax rate, which is currently 21% and would likely pay state income tax at varying rates.
Distributions would generally be taxed again as corporate distributions, and no income, gains, losses or deductions
would flow through to the unitholders. Because a tax would be imposed upon us as a corporation, our distributable
cash flow would be substantially reduced. Therefore, treatment of us as a corporation would result in a material
reduction in the anticipated cash flow and after-tax return to a unitholder, likely causing a substantial reduction in the
value of our common units.
Under current law, for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, we may be required to pay federal income
tax as the result of an audit adjustment (as further described below). Furthermore, current law may change so as to
cause us to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes or otherwise subject us to other entity-level
taxation. In addition, because of widespread state budget deficits and other reasons, several states are evaluating ways
to subject partnerships to entity-level taxation through the imposition of state income, franchise and other forms of
taxation.
Our partnership agreement provides that if a law is enacted or existing law is modified or interpreted in a manner that
subjects us to taxation as a corporation or otherwise subjects us to entity-level taxation for federal,
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state or local income tax purposes, the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the target distribution levels may
be adjusted to reflect the effect of that law.
The U.S. federal income tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships or an investment in our common units could be
subject to potential legislative, judicial, or administrative changes and differing interpretations, possibly on a
retroactive basis.
The present federal income tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships, including us, or an investment in our
common units may be modified by administrative or legislative action or judicial interpretation at any time. From time
to time, members of the U.S. Congress, the Treasury Department and the IRS have proposed and considered
substantive changes to the existing federal income tax laws that affect publicly traded partnerships. Although there is
no current legislative proposal, a prior legislative proposal would have eliminated the qualifying income exception to
the treatment of all publicly traded partnerships as corporations, upon which we rely for our treatment as a partnership
for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We are unable to predict whether similar legislative or regulatory changes or
other proposals will ultimately be enacted or adopted. However, it is possible that a change in the law could affect us
and may be applied retroactively. Any such changes could negatively impact the value of an investment in our units.
Moreover, while we believe the income that we treat as qualifying income satisfies the requirements for qualifying
income under applicable legal requirements, including the recently-finalized qualifying income Treasury Regulations,
the IRS could take a position that is contrary to our interpretation of (a) Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, (b) the final qualifying income Treasury Regulations, or (c) other applicable guidance.
If for any reason we are taxable as a corporation in any taxable year, our items of income, gain, loss and deduction
would be taken into account by us, in determining the amount of our liability for federal income tax, rather than being
passed through to our unitholders. Our taxation as a corporation would materially reduce the cash available for
distribution to unitholders and thus would likely substantially reduce the value of our units. Any distribution made to a
unitholder at a time we are treated as a corporation would be (i) a taxable dividend to the extent of our current or
accumulated earnings and profits, then (ii) a nontaxable return of capital to the extent of the unitholder's adjusted tax
basis in its units (determined separately for each unit), and thereafter (iii) taxable capital gain.
You are urged to consult with your own tax advisor with respect to the status of regulatory or administrative
developments and proposals and their potential effect on your investment in our common units.
If the IRS makes audit adjustments to our income tax returns for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, it (and
some states) may assess and collect any taxes (including any applicable penalties and interest) resulting from such
audit adjustments directly from us, in which case our cash available for distribution to our unitholders might be
substantially reduced and our current and former unitholders may be required to indemnify us for any taxes (including
any applicable penalties and interest) resulting from such audit adjustments that were paid on such unitholders’ behalf.
Pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, if the IRS makes
audit adjustments to our income tax returns, it (and some states) may assess and collect any taxes (including any
applicable penalties and interest) resulting from such audit adjustments directly from us. To the extent possible under
the new rules, our General Partner may elect to either pay the taxes (including any applicable penalties and interest)
directly to the IRS or, if we are eligible, issue a revised information statement to each unitholder and former
unitholder with respect to an audited and adjusted return. Although our General Partner may elect to have our
unitholders and former unitholders take such audit adjustment into account and pay any resulting taxes (including
applicable penalties or interest in accordance with their interests in us during the tax year under audit, but there can be
no assurance that such election will be practical, permissible or effective in all circumstances. As a result, our current
unitholders may bear some or all of the tax liability resulting from such audit adjustment, even if such unitholders did
not own units in us during the tax year under audit. If, as a result of any such audit adjustment, we are required to
make payments of taxes, penalties and interest, our cash available for distribution to our unitholders might be
substantially reduced and our current and former unitholders may be required to indemnify us for any taxes (including
any applicable penalties and interest) resulting from such audit adjustments that were paid on such unitholders’ behalf.
These rules are not applicable for tax years beginning on or prior to December 31, 2017.
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If the tax authorities contest the federal income tax positions we take, it may adversely affect the market for our
common units, and the cost of any tax authority contest would reduce our distributable cash flow.
We have not requested a ruling from the IRS with respect to our treatment as a partnership for federal income tax
purposes or any other matter. The IRS may adopt positions that differ from our conclusions. It may be necessary to
resort to administrative or court proceedings to sustain some or all of our counsel’s conclusions or the positions we
take. A court may not agree with all of our conclusions or positions we take. Any contest with the IRS may materially
and adversely affect the market for our common units and the price at which they trade. In addition, the costs of any
contest with the IRS would be borne indirectly by the unitholders and our General Partner because the costs would
reduce our distributable cash flow.
The unitholder may be required to pay taxes on the unitholder’s share of our income even if the unitholder does not
receive any cash distributions.
Because the unitholders are treated as partners to whom we allocate taxable income which could be different in
amount than the cash distributed, unitholders are required to pay any federal income taxes and, in some cases, state
and local income taxes on the unitholder’s share of taxable income even if the unitholders receive no cash distributions
from us. The unitholder may not receive cash distributions from us equal to the unitholder’s share of taxable income or
even equal to the actual tax liability that results from that income.
Tax gain or loss on disposition of our common units could be more or less than expected.
If the unitholder sells its common units, the unitholder will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the
amount realized and the unitholder’s tax basis in those common units. Because distributions in excess of the
unitholder’s allocable share of our net taxable income decrease the unitholder’s tax basis in the common units, the
amount, if any, of such prior excess distributions with respect to the units the unitholder sells will, in effect, become
taxable income to the unitholder if the unitholder sells such units at a price greater than the tax basis, even if the price
the unitholder receives is less than the original cost. In addition, because the amount realized includes the share of our
nonrecourse liabilities, if the unitholder sells the units, the unitholder may incur a tax liability in excess of the amount
of cash the unitholder received from the sale.
A substantial portion of the amount realized from a unitholder’s sale of our common units, whether or not representing
gain, may be taxed as ordinary income to such unitholder due to potential recapture items, including depreciation
recapture. Thus, a unitholder may recognize both ordinary income and capital loss from the sale of common units if
the amount realized on a sale of such common units is less than such unitholder’s adjusted basis in the common units.
Net capital loss may only offset capital gains and, in the case of individuals, up to $3,000 of ordinary income per year.
In the taxable period in which a unitholder sells its common units, such unitholder may recognize ordinary income
from our allocations of income and gain to such unitholder prior to the sale and from recapture items that generally
cannot be offset by any capital loss recognized upon the sale of common units.
Tax-exempt entities face unique tax issues from owning common units that may result in adverse tax consequences to
them.
Investment in common units by tax-exempt entities, such as employee benefit plan and individual retirement accounts
(IRAs), raises issues unique to them. For example, virtually all of our income allocated to organizations that are
exempt from federal income tax, including IRAs and other retirement plans, will be unrelated business taxable income
and will be taxable to them. Further, with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, a tax-exempt
entity with more than one unrelated trade or business (including by attribution from investment in a partnership such
as ours that is engaged in one or more unrelated trade or business) is required to compute the unrelated business
taxable income of such tax-exempt entity separately with respect to each such trade or business (including for
purposes of determining any net operating loss deduction). As a result, for years beginning after December 31, 2017,
it may not be possible for tax-exempt entities to utilize losses from an investment in our partnership to offset unrelated
business taxable income from another unrelated trade or business and vice versa. Tax-exempt entities should consult a
tax advisor before investing in our common units.
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Non-U.S. Unitholders will be subject to U.S. taxes and withholding with respect to their income and gain from
owning our units.
Non-U.S. unitholders are generally taxed and subject to income tax filing requirements by the United States on
income effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business (“effectively connected income”). Income allocated to our
unitholders and any gain from the sale of our units will generally be considered to be “effectively connected with a
U.S. trade or business. As a result, distributions to a Non-U.S. unitholder will be subject to withholding at the highest
applicable effective tax rate and a Non-U.S. unitholder who sells or otherwise disposes of a unit will also be subject to
U.S. federal income tax on the gain realized from the sale or disposition of that unit.
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act imposes a withholding obligation of 10% of the amount realized upon a Non- U.S.
unitholder’s sale or exchange of an interest in a partnership that is engaged in a U.S. trade or business. However, due to
challenges of administering a withholding obligation applicable to open market trading and other complications, the
IRS has temporarily suspended the application of this withholding rule to open market transfers of interest in publicly
traded partnerships pending promulgation of regulations or other guidance that resolves the challenges. It is not clear
if or when such regulations or other guidance will be issued. Non-U.S. unitholders should consult a tax advisor before
investing in our common units.
We treat each purchaser of our common units as having the same tax benefits without regard to the actual common
units purchased. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of the common units.
Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of common units and because of other reasons, we have adopted
depreciation and amortization positions that may not conform to all aspects of existing U.S. Treasury Regulations. A
successful IRS challenge to those positions could adversely affect the amount of tax benefits available to the
unitholder. It also could affect the timing of these tax benefits or the amount of gain from the sale of our common
units and could have a negative effect on the value of our common units or result in audit adjustments to the tax
returns.
We have adopted certain valuation methodologies that may result in a shift of income, gain, loss and deduction
between the General Partner and the unitholders. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect
the value of the common units.
When we issue additional units or engage in certain other transactions, we determine the fair market value of our
assets and allocate any unrealized gain or loss attributable to our assets to the capital accounts of the unitholders and
our General Partner. Our methodology may be viewed as understating the value of our assets. In that case, there may
be a shift of income, gain, loss and deduction between certain unitholders and the General Partner, which may be
unfavorable to such unitholders. Moreover, subsequent purchasers of common units may have a greater portion of
their Internal Revenue Code Section 743(b) adjustment allocated to our tangible assets and a lesser portion allocated
to our intangible assets. The IRS may challenge our valuation methods, or our allocation of the Section 743(b)
adjustment attributable to tangible and intangible assets, and allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction between
the General Partner and certain of the unitholders.
A successful IRS challenge to these methods or allocations could adversely affect the amount of taxable income or
loss being allocated to the unitholders. It also could affect the amount of gain from the unitholders’ sale of common
units and could have a negative effect on the value of the common units or result in audit adjustments to unitholders’
tax returns without the benefit of additional deductions.
We generally prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our units
each month based upon the ownership of our units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a
particular unit is transferred. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could change the allocation of items of
income, gain, loss and deduction among our unitholders.
We generally prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction for federal income tax purposes between
transferors and transferees of our units each month based upon the ownership of our units on the first day of each
month (the Allocation Date), instead of on the basis of the date a particular unit is transferred. Similarly, we generally
allocate certain deductions for depreciation of capital additions, gain or loss realized on a sale or other disposition of
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method we have adopted. If the IRS were to challenge this method, we could be required to change the allocation of
items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our unitholders.
A unitholder whose units are the subject of a securities loan (e.g. loaned to a “short seller”) to cover a short sale of units
may be considered as having disposed of those units. If so, the unitholder would no longer be treated for tax purposes
as a partner with respect to those units during the period of the loan and may recognize gain or loss from the
disposition.
Because there are no specific rules governing the U.S. federal income tax consequence of loaning a partnership
interest, a unitholder whose units are the subject of a securities loan may be considered to have disposed of the loaned
units. In that case, the unitholder may no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner with respect to those units
during the period of the loan and the unitholder may recognize gain or loss from such disposition. Moreover, during
the period of the loan, any of our income, gain, loss or deduction with respect to those units may not be reportable by
the unitholder and any cash distributions received by the unitholder as to those units could be fully taxable as ordinary
income. Unitholders desiring to assure their status as partners and avoid the risk of gain recognition from a securities
loan are urged to consult a tax advisor to determine whether it is advisable to modify any applicable brokerage
account agreements to prohibit their brokers from borrowing and lending their units.
A unitholder will likely be subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements in states where the unitholder
does not live as a result of investing in our common units.
In addition to federal income taxes, a unitholder will likely be subject to other taxes, including foreign, state and local
taxes, unincorporated business taxes and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that are imposed by the various
jurisdictions in which we do business or own property, even if the unitholder does not live in any of those
jurisdictions. The unitholder will likely be required to file foreign, state and local income tax returns and pay state and
local income taxes in some or all of these jurisdictions. Further, the unitholder may be subject to penalties for failure
to comply with those requirements. It is the unitholder’s responsibility to file all United States federal, foreign, state
and local tax returns.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.

At December 31, 2017, we had over 100 primary facilities located in the United States and Canada. We generally own
sites associated with our major pipeline facilities, such as compressor stations. However, we generally operate our
transmission pipelines using rights of way pursuant to easements to install and operate pipelines, but we do not own
the land. Except as described in Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, Note 14 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, none of our properties were secured by mortgages or other material security
interests at December 31, 2017.
Our principal executive offices are located at 5400 Westheimer Court, Houston, Texas 77056, which is a facility
leased by Spectra Energy. We also maintain offices in, among other places, Calgary, Alberta. For a description of our
material properties, see Part I. Item 1. Business.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Except for the matters described below, we have no material pending legal proceedings that are required to be
disclosed hereunder. For more information regarding other legal proceedings, including regulatory and environmental
matters, see Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Paul Morris v. Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, Spectra Energy Corp, Defendants, and Spectra Energy Partners,
LP, Nominal Defendant 
A putative class action lawsuit asserting direct and derivative claims was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery in
March of 2016 by Paul Morris (Plaintiff), a unitholder of Spectra Energy Partners. The claims in the lawsuit relate to a
transaction in October 2015 whereby 33% ownership interests in the Sand Hills and Southern Hills pipelines were
sold by us to Spectra Energy and, subsequent to that transaction, Spectra Energy contributed those ownership interests
to DCP Midstream, LLC, a joint venture in which Spectra Energy owns a 50% ownership interest. The lawsuit alleges
that the consideration paid to us by Spectra Energy in exchange for those ownership interests was approximately $525
million less than the purported value of such ownership interests. The lawsuit asserted direct and derivative claims of
breach of contract and breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing against the General Partner and direct
and derivative claims against Spectra Energy of tortious interference with the Second Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership of Spectra Energy Partners, LP dated as of November 1, 2013, as amended by
Amendment No. 1 dated as of July 2, 2015 (our partnership agreement in effect at the time). Spectra Energy Partners
is also named as a “nominal” defendant in the lawsuit for the derivative claims.
On January 13, 2017, Plaintiff withdrew all of his direct claims in the lawsuit. On June 27, 2017, the Delaware Court
of Chancery issued a Memorandum and Opinion dismissing the derivative claims of tortious interference against
Spectra Energy and the breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing against the General Partner, leaving
only the derivative claim for breach of our partnership agreement in effect at the time against the General Partner
pending. The relief sought in the complaint includes rescission of the transaction, damages, interest and attorneys’ fees.
Sierra Club v. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Respondent, and Sabal Trail Transmission, LLC et al.,
Intervenor-Respondents (D.C. Cir.) 
Sierra Club and two other non-governmental organizations filed a Petition for Review of Sabal Trail’s FERC
certificate on September 20, 2016 in the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals. On August 22, 2017, the D.C. Circuit issued
an opinion denying one of the petitions, and granting the other petition in part, vacating the certificates, and
remanding the case to FERC to supplement the environmental impact statement for the project to estimate the quantity
of green-house gases to be released into the environment by the gas-fired generation plants in Florida that will
consume the gas transported by Sabal Trail. The court withheld issuance of the mandate requiring vacatur of the
certificate until seven days after the disposition of any timely petition for rehearing. On October 6, 2017, Sabal Trail
and FERC each filed timely petitions for rehearing. On January 31, 2018, the court denied FERC’s and Sabal Trail’s
petitions for rehearing. Absent a stay, the court’s mandate could have issued on February 7, 2018. However, on
February 2, 2018, Sabal Trail filed with FERC a request for expedited issuance of its order on remand or,
alternatively, temporary emergency certificates to permit continued operation of the pipeline absent a stay of the
court’s mandate. On February 5, 2018, FERC issued its final supplemental environmental impact statement in
compliance with the D.C. Circuit decision. In addition, on February 6, 2018, FERC filed a motion with the court
requesting a 45-day stay of the mandate, and stated in its motion that it intends to issue the order on remand within 45
days. Sabal Trail filed a motion with the court requesting a 90-day stay of the mandate. The February 6, 2018 motions
automatically stay the issuance of the court’s mandate until the later of seven days after the court denies the motions or
the expiration of any stay granted by the court. Both motions are pending.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Unitholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Our common units are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol “SEP.” The following table
sets forth the high and low intra-day sales prices for our common units during the periods indicated, as reported by the
NYSE, and the amount of the quarterly cash distributions we paid on each of our common units.
Common Unit Data by Quarter

Distributions Paid in the Quarter
per Common Unit

Unit Price Range
(a)
High Low

2017
First Quarter $ 0.68875 $ 47.49 $ 41.56
Second Quarter 0.70125 45.50 40.75
Third Quarter 0.71375 46.47 42.51
Fourth Quarter 0.72625 45.70 38.42
2016
First Quarter $ 0.63875 $ 50.48 $ 39.53
Second Quarter 0.65125 50.43 44.22
Third Quarter 0.66375 49.45 42.58
Fourth Quarter 0.67625 46.46 40.19
__________
(a) Unit prices represent the intra-day high and low price.
As of January 31, 2018, there were approximately 33 holders of record of our common units. A cash distribution to
unitholders of $0.73875 per limited partner unit was declared on February 8, 2018 and is payable on February 28,
2018, which is a $0.0125 per limited partner unit increase over the cash distribution of $0.72625 per limited partner
unit paid on November 29, 2017.
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Unit Performance Graph
The following graph reflects the comparative changes in the value from January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2017
of $100 invested in (1) Spectra Energy Partners’ common units, (2) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, and (3) the
Alerian MLP Index. The amounts included in the table were calculated assuming the reinvestment of distributions, at
the time distributions were paid.

January 1,
2013

December 31,
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Spectra Energy Partners $ 100.00 $152.86 $200.48 $176.38 $179.82 $165.46
S&P 500 Stock Index 100.00 132.39 150.51 152.59 170.84 208.14
Alerian MLP Index 100.00 127.58 133.71 90.13 106.63 99.68
Distributions of Available Cash
General. Our partnership agreement requires that, within 60 days after the end of each quarter, we distribute all of our
Available Cash, as defined in our partnership agreement, to unitholders of record on the applicable record date.

On January 21, 2018, we entered into an Equity Restructuring Agreement with GP, LP, pursuant to which the
incentive distribution rights and the 2% general partner interest in us held by GP, LP were converted into (i)
172,500,000 newly issued common units of Spectra Energy Partners and (ii) a non-economic general partner interest
in us. Distributions will be made based on the terms of our limited partnership agreement in effect at the time a
distribution is declared. Immediately following the execution of our Equity Restructuring Agreement, a new limited
partnership agreement was entered into reflecting the new ownership structure.
Equity Compensation Plans
For information related to our equity compensation plans, see Part III. Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Unitholder Matters.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Part II. Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(in millions, except per-unit amounts)

Statements of Income
Operating revenues $1,950 $2,533 $2,455 $2,269 $ 1,965
Operating income 563 1,228 1,273 1,136 973
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 94 78 40 23 16
Net income attributable to controlling interests (a) 609 1,161 1,225 1,104 1,070
Limited Partner Unit Data
Net income per limited partner unit—basic and diluted (b)$0.77 $2.84 $3.30 $2.84 $ 4.25
Distributions paid per limited partner unit 2.83 2.63 2.43 2.245 2.02125
_________
(a)Includes a $354 million benefit related to the elimination of accumulated deferred income tax liabilities in 2013.

(b)Earnings related to the U.S. Assets Dropdown for periods prior to November 1, 2013 were allocated entirely to the
general partner in calculating net income per limited partner unit.

December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
(in millions)

Balance Sheets
Total assets $22,056 $21,606 $18,851 $17,778 $16,776
Total long-term debt 7,963 6,223 5,845 5,134 5,160
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
INTRODUCTION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
We reported net income attributable to controlling interests of $609 million in 2017 compared with $1,161 million in
2016 mainly due to the establishment of an estimated regulatory liability as a result of the U.S. tax reform legislation
dated December 22, 2017, partially offset due to expansion projects and the valuation gain on the deconsolidation of
Sabal Trail. Distributable cash flow was $1,392 million in 2017 compared with $1,187 million in 2016.
We increased our quarterly cash distribution each quarter in 2017, from $0.68875 per limited partner unit for the
fourth quarter of 2016 which was paid in February 2017, to $0.73875 per unit for the fourth quarter of 2017 which is
payable on February 28, 2018. Our expectation is that we will continue to increase our quarterly distribution by one
and a quarter cents per unit each quarter through 2018. The declaration and payment of distributions is subject to the
sole discretion of our Board of Directors and depends upon many factors, including the financial condition, earnings
and capital requirements of our operating subsidiaries, covenants associated with certain debt obligations, legal
requirements, regulatory constraints, our partnership agreement and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of
Directors.
We invested $2.2 billion of capital and investment expenditures in 2017, including $2.0 billion of expansion and
investment capital expenditures. We continue to foresee significant capital spending over the next several years, with
approximately $1.6 billion planned for 2018, excluding contributions from noncontrolling interests. We will rely upon
cash flows from operations, including cash distributions received from our equity investments, and various financing
transactions, which may include issuances of short-term and long-term debt, to fund our liquidity and capital
requirements for 2018. Given that we expect to continue to pursue expansion opportunities over the next several years,
capital resources will continue to include long-term borrowings and possibly unit issuances. We expect to maintain an
investment-grade capital structure and liquidity profile that supports our strategic objectives. Therefore, we will
continue to monitor market requirements and our liquidity, and make adjustments to these plans, as needed.
We are committed to an investment-grade balance sheet and continued prudent financial management of our capital
structure. Therefore, financing these growth activities will continue to be based on our strong and growing fee-based
earnings and cash flows as well as the issuances of debt and/or equity securities. As of December 31, 2017, we have
access to a $2.5 billion revolving credit facility which is used principally as a back-stop for our commercial paper
program.
Our Strategy. Our strategy is to create superior and sustainable value for our investors, customers, employees and
communities by delivering natural gas and crude oil to premium markets. We will grow our business by way of
organic growth, greenfield expansions and strategic acquisitions, with a steadfast focus on safety, reliability, customer
responsiveness and profitability. We intend to accomplish this by:
•Building off the strength of our asset base.
•Maximizing that base through sector leading operations and service.
•Effectively executing the projects we have secured.
•Securing new growth opportunities that add value for our investors within each of our business segments.
•Expanding our value chain participation into complementary infrastructure assets.
Natural gas supply dynamics continue to evolve, and there is general recognition that natural gas can be an effective
solution for meeting the energy needs of North America and beyond. This causes us to be optimistic about future
growth opportunities. Identified opportunities include growth in gas-fired power generation and industrial markets,
LNG exports from North America, and growth related to moving new sources of gas supplies to markets (including
exports). With our advantage of providing first mile access from leading supply regions to the last mile of
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pipe to growing markets, we expect to continue expanding our assets and operations to meet the evolving needs of our
customers.
Crude oil supply dynamics continue to evolve as North American oil production has shifted from growth to decline. In
recent years, growing North American crude oil production has displaced imports from overseas and led to increased
demand for crude oil transportation and logistics. Although depressed global crude oil prices resulted in declining
North American oil production, we expect a return to attractive pricing and a growing North American production
outlook. Thus, we remain confident about long-term growth in North American oil production and our ability to
capture crude oil pipeline business.
Successful execution of our strategy will depend on maintaining our reputation and leadership as a safe and reliable
operator and the effective execution of our capital projects. Continued growth and new opportunities will be
determined by key factors, such as the continued growth and production of natural gas and crude oil within North
America and our ability to provide creative solutions to meet the markets' evolving energy needs in both North
America and beyond.
We continue to be actively engaged in the national discussions in both the United States and Canada regarding energy
policy and have taken a lead role in shaping policy as it relates to pipeline safety and operations.
Significant Economic Factors For Our Business. Our regulated businesses are generally economically stable and are
not significantly affected in the short-term by changing commodity prices. However, all of our businesses can be
negatively affected in the long term by sustained downturns in the economy or prolonged decreases in the demand for
crude oil and/or natural gas, all of which are beyond our control and could impair our ability to meet long-term goals.
Most of our revenues are based on regulated tariff rates, which include the recovery of certain fuel costs. Lower
overall demand would reduce the volume of natural gas transported, gathered and processed, and the volume of crude
oil transported, resulting in lower earnings and cash flows. Transmission revenues could be affected by long-term
economic declines resulting in the non-renewal of contracts at expiration. Pipeline transmission customers continue to
renew most contracts as they expire.
Our key natural gas markets—the northeastern, the southeastern and Gulf Coast regions of the United States—are projected
to continue to exhibit higher than average annual growth in natural gas demand versus the North American and
continental United States average growth rates through 2020. This demand growth is primarily driven by the natural
gas-fired electricity generation sector and Gulf Coast exports of natural gas and LNG. The natural gas industry is
currently experiencing a significant shift in the sources of supply, and this dramatic change is affecting our growth
strategies. Traditionally, supply to our markets has come from the Gulf Coast region, both onshore and offshore. The
national supply profile still includes significant production from traditional sources in the Rocky Mountains,
Midcontinent, and the U.S. Gulf Coast and is augmented by significant resource growth in Appalachia and West
Texas. These supply shifts are shaping the growth strategies that we pursue, and therefore, will affect the nature of the
projects anticipated in the capital and investment expenditure increases discussed below in “Liquidity and Capital
Resources”. The construction of new pipelines has faced recent social and environmental activism and political
pressures. Although we continue to believe that natural gas will remain a viable energy solution for the U.S., these
pressures could increase costs and/or cause uncertainty on timing of permitting and execution of new projects.
Our key crude oil markets include the Rocky Mountain and Midwest states. Growth in our business is dependent on
incremental crude oil supply from North American sources and the ability of that supply to compete with imported
crude oil from overseas. Lower crude oil prices over the past two years have adversely affected the availability and
cost-competitiveness of North American crude oil supply. This has not adversely affected our crude oil pipeline
business, but sustained low oil prices could have a negative impact on our current business and associated growth
opportunities although producers have adapted to and improved their competitiveness despite lower oil prices.
While the dramatic supply increase has been largely positive for midstream companies, lower price dynamics and
shifting preferences on producing basins have resulted in other uneconomic impacts, which in the longer-term may
impact some of our businesses and pipelines. Furthermore our storage business is adversely impacted by the
contraction of price spreads historically seen between the summer and winter months. As a result, the value of storage
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increases in demand on the Gulf Coast, particularly for exports should improve the value of our storage service.
However, this may also expose our business to cyclical, economic and demand issues in other parts of the world.
Our businesses in the United States and Canada are subject to laws and regulations at the federal, state and provincial
levels. Regulations applicable to the natural gas transmission, crude oil transportation and storage industries have a
significant effect on the nature of the businesses and the manner in which they operate. Changes to regulations are
ongoing and we cannot predict the future course of changes in the regulatory environment or the ultimate effect that
any future changes will have on our businesses.
These laws and regulations can result in increased capital, operating and other costs. Environmental laws and
regulations generally require us to obtain and comply with a wide variety of environmental licenses, permits,
inspections and other approvals. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations can require significant
expenditures, including expenditures for cleanup costs and damages arising out of contaminated properties. In
particular, compliance with major Clean Air Act regulatory programs may cause us to incur significant capital
expenditures to obtain permits, evaluate offsite impacts of our operations, install, upgrade or replace pollution control
equipment, and otherwise assure compliance.
PHMSA adopted pipeline safety legislation in 2011 and, more recently, in 2016 that, among other things, increased
the penalties for safety violations, established additional safety requirements for newly constructed pipelines and
required studies of safety issues that could result in the adoption of new regulatory requirements by PHMSA for
existing pipelines, and empowered PHMSA to address imminent hazards by imposing emergency restrictions,
prohibitions and safety measures on owners and operators of regulated pipeline facilities without prior notice or an
opportunity for a hearing. PHMSA issued interim regulations in October 2016 to implement the agency’s expanded
authority to address unsafe pipeline conditions or practices that pose an imminent hazard to life, property, or the
environment.
Our interstate pipeline operations and our underground natural gas storage operations are subject to pipeline safety
laws and regulations administered by PHMSA of the U.S. Department of Transportation. In December 2016, PHMSA
issued final interim rules that impose new safety-related requirements on downhole facilities of new and existing
underground natural gas storage facilities. These laws and regulations require us to comply with a significant set of
requirements for the design, construction, maintenance and operation of our interstate pipelines, and design, operation
and functional integrity of our underground storage wells. PHMSA indicated when it issued the interim final rule that
the adoption of these safety standards for natural gas storage facilities represent a first step in a multi-phase process to
enhance the safety of underground natural gas storage, with more standards likely forthcoming. Most recently, in
response to a petition for reconsideration of the interim final rule received in January 2017, PHMSA published a
notice in June 2017, advising that the agency intends to consider the issues raised by the petitioners in a final rule,
which it currently expects to issue in 2018. At this time, we cannot predict the impact of any future regulatory actions
in this area and can provide no assurance that our future costs to comply with existing or new standards relating to
underground natural gas storage facilities will not have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.
PHMSA is designing an Integrity Verification Process, in conjunction with their efforts to develop an Integrity
Management Rule for Gas Pipelines, intended to create standards to verify maximum allowable operating pressure,
and to improve and expand integrity management processes. Proposed rulemaking on these matters has not been
finalized and there remains uncertainty as to how this process and rulemaking will be implemented, but it is expected
that the changes will impose additional costs on new pipeline projects as well as on existing operations. In this climate
of increasingly stringent regulation, pipeline failures or failures to comply with applicable regulations could result in
reduction of allowable operating pressures as authorized by PHMSA, which would reduce available capacity on our
pipelines. Should any of these risks materialize, it may have an adverse effect on our operations, earnings, financial
condition or cash flows.
In light of the changing environmental and safety laws and regulations described above, we are evaluating efforts
required to maintain compliance with such laws and regulations and, in addition, are assessing ways to improve
overall system integrity, efficiency and reliability. The capital costs to effectively modernize our pipelines in this way
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Additionally, investments and projects located in Canada expose us to risks related to Canadian laws, taxes, economic
conditions, fluctuations in currency rates, political conditions and policies of the Canadian government. During the
past several years, the Canadian dollar has fluctuated compared to the U.S. dollar, which affected
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earnings to varying degrees for brief periods. Changes in the exchange rate or any other factors are difficult to predict
and may affect our future results.
Our strategic objectives include a critical focus on capital expansion projects that will require access to capital
markets. An inability to access capital at competitive rates could affect our ability to implement our strategy. Market
disruptions or a downgrade in our credit ratings may increase the cost of borrowings or affect our ability to access one
or more sources of liquidity.
During the past few years, capital expansion projects have been exposed to cost pressures associated with the
availability of skilled labor, the pricing of materials and challenges associated with ensuring the protection of our
environment and continual safety enhancements to our facilities. We maintain a strong focus on project management
activities to address these pressures as we move forward with planned expansion opportunities. We have also
experienced increased scrutiny placed on the permitting and construction of new projects from social and
environmental activism, which can sometimes impact the timing of when constructions activities, and ultimate
completion of a project, can occur relative to the expected timeline. Significant cost increases could negatively affect
the returns ultimately earned on current and future expansions.
For further information related to management’s assessment of our risk factors, see Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

Operating revenues $1,950 $2,533 $2,455
Operating expenses 1,387 1,305 1,182
Operating income 563 1,228 1,273
Earnings from equity investments 307 127 167
Other income and expenses, net 117 126 76
Interest expense 265 224 239
Earnings before income taxes 722 1,257 1,277
Income tax expense 19 18 12
Net income 703 1,239 1,265
Net income—noncontrolling interests94 78 40
Net income—controlling interests $609 $1,161 $1,225

2017 Compared to 2016
Operating Revenues. The $583 million decrease was driven by:

•lower revenues due to the establishment of a regulatory liability as a result of the U.S. tax reform legislation dated
December 22, 2017,
•lower recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers and
•lower storage revenues due to lower contract renewal rates, partially offset by
•increased revenues from expansion projects, primarily on Texas Eastern and Algonquin,
•higher revenues on Express pipeline due to higher average tariff rates and
•the Express Enhancement expansion project placed into service in October 2016.
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Operating Expenses. The $82 million increase was driven mainly by:
•increases in integrity and maintenance costs, and higher power and property tax expenses,
•higher costs related to expansion and
•an increase in merger-related severance costs, partially offset by
•lower pipeline inspection costs related to the 2016 Texas Eastern pipeline incident and
•a decrease in electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers.
Earnings from Equity Investments. The $180 million increase was primarily attributable to the gain recognized as a
result of the deconsolidation and re-measurement of Sabal Trail.
Other Income and Expenses, Net. The $9 million decrease was mainly attributable to lower allowance for funds used
during construction (AFUDC) due to lower capital spending on expansion projects.
Interest Expense. The $41 million increase was driven mainly by higher average long-term debt balances and lower
capitalized interest from expansion projects.
2016 Compared to 2015
Operating Revenues. The $78 million increase was driven by:
•revenues from expansion projects, primarily on Texas Eastern and Algonquin,
•storage revenues due to new contracts at higher rates, and

•higher crude oil transportation revenues due to the Express Enhancement expansion project placed into service in
October 2016, partially offset by
•lower recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers,
•lower processing revenues primarily due to lower volumes,

•lower crude oil transportation revenues, as a result of lower volumes primarily on the Platte pipeline, substantially
offset by increased tariff rates mainly on the Express pipeline, and

•lower natural gas transportation revenues mainly from interruptible transportation on Texas Eastern and M&N U.S.,
and short-term firm transportation on Algonquin.
Operating Expenses. The $123 million increase was driven mainly by:
•pipeline inspection and repair costs related to the Texas Eastern incident near Delmont, Pennsylvania,
•higher costs related to expansion, and
•higher property tax accruals due to the absence of a 2015 tax benefit, partially offset by
•lower electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers,
•a prior year non-cash impairment charge on Ozark Gas Gathering,
•lower operating costs primarily due to employee benefit costs,
•lower maintenance costs,
•lower power costs due to lower usage on the Express and Platte pipelines, and
•lower project development costs.
Earnings from Equity Investments. The $40 million decrease was primarily attributable to the absence of equity
earnings from Sand Hills and Southern Hills owned until October 2015.
Other Income and Expenses, Net. The $50 million increase was mainly attributable to higher AFUDC due to higher
capital spending on expansion projects.
Interest Expense. The $15 million decrease was driven mainly by higher capitalized interest due to higher capital
spending on expansion projects, partially offset by higher average long-term debt balances.
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Income Tax Expense. The $6 million increase mainly reflects an increase in Canadian earnings at Express-Platte.
For a more detailed discussion of earnings drivers, see the segment discussions that follow.
Segment Results
We manage our business in two reportable segments: U.S. Transmission and Liquids. The remainder of our business
operations is presented as “Other,” and consists of certain corporate costs.
Management evaluates segment performance based on EBITDA. Cash, cash equivalents and investments are managed
centrally, so the gains and losses on foreign currency remeasurement, and interest and dividend income, are excluded
from the segments’ EBITDA. We consider segment EBITDA to be a good indicator of each segment’s operating
performance from its continuing operations, as it represents the results of our operations without regard to financing
methods or capital structures. Our segment EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies because other companies may not calculate EBITDA in the same manner.
Our U.S. Transmission business primarily provides transmission and storage of natural gas for customers in various
regions of the northeastern and southeastern United States. Our Liquids business provides transportation of crude oil
for customers in central United States and Canada.
Segment EBITDA is summarized in the following table. Detailed discussions follow.
EBITDA by Business Segment

2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

U.S. Transmission 1,199 1,639 $1,599
Liquids 259 237 283
Total reportable segment EBITDA 1,458 1,876 1,882
Other (127 ) (82 ) (66 )
Depreciation and amortization 346 314 295
Interest expense 265 224 239
Interest income and other 2 1 (5 )
Earnings before income taxes $722 $1,257 $1,277
The amounts discussed below are after eliminating intercompany transactions.
U.S. Transmission

2017 2016 Increase
(Decrease) 2015 Increase

(Decrease)
(in millions)

Operating revenues 1,545 2,167 $ (622 ) $2,087 $ 80
Operating expenses
Operating, maintenance and other 769 779 $ (10 ) 680 99
Other income and expenses 423 251 $ 172 192 59
EBITDA 1,199 1,639 $ (440 ) $1,599 $ 40

2017 Compared to 2016
Operating Revenues. The $622 million decrease was driven by:

•

an $860 million decrease due to the establishment of a regulatory liability as a result of the U.S. tax reform legislation
dated December 22, 2017. This charge has no immediate net impact to the rate base of the affected entities. In the
event of a future rate case, and subject to further regulatory guidance, we anticipate that the charge may be required to
be amortized over the remaining useful life of the affected assets and would be one of many factors to be considered
in establishing go-forward rates.
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•a $10 million decrease in recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers
and
•a $7 million decrease in storage revenues due to lower contract renewal rates, partially offset by
•a $256 million increase due to expansion projects, primarily on Algonquin and Texas Eastern.
Operating Expenses. The $10 million decrease was driven by:
•a $59 million decrease due to pipeline inspection costs related to the 2016 Texas Eastern pipeline incident,
•a $10 million decrease in electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers and
•a $7 million decrease in property taxes, partially offset by
•a $37 million increase in costs related to expansion, and
•a $34 million increase primarily due to merger-related severance costs.
Other Income and Expenses. The $172 million increase was mainly due to a gain as a result of the deconsolidation and
re-measurement of Sabal Trail and higher equity earnings resulting from Sabal Trail being placed in service on July 3,
2017.
2016 Compared to 2015
Operating Revenues. The $80 million increase was driven by:
•a $113 million increase due to expansion projects, primarily on Texas Eastern and Algonquin, and
•a $7 million increase in storage revenues due to new contracts at higher rates, partially offset by
•a $16 million decrease in recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers,
•a $15 million decrease in processing revenues primarily due to lower volumes, and

•a $9 million decrease in natural gas transportation revenues mainly from interruptible transportation on Texas Eastern
and M&N U.S., and short-term firm transportation on Algonquin.
Operating Expenses. The $99 million increase was driven by:

•an $80 million increase due to pipeline inspection and repair costs related to the Texas Eastern incident near Delmont,
Pennsylvania,
•a $47 million increase in costs related to expansion, and
•an $11 million increase in property tax accruals due to the absence of a 2015 tax benefit, partially offset by
•a $16 million decrease in electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers,
•a $9 million decrease due to a non-cash impairment charge on Ozark Gas Gathering in 2015,
•an $8 million decrease in operating costs, and
•a $4 million decrease in project development costs.
Other Income and Expenses. The $59 million increase was mainly due to higher AFUDC resulting from higher capital
spending on expansion projects.
Matters Affecting Future U.S. Transmission Results
We plan to grow our earnings through capital efficient projects, such as transportation and storage expansion to
support a two-pronged “supply push” / “market pull” strategy, as well as continued focus on optimizing the performance
of the existing operations through organizational efficiencies and cost control. “Supply push” is when producers agree to
pay to transport specified volumes of natural gas in order to support the construction of new pipelines or the expansion
of existing pipelines. “Market pull” is taking gas away from established liquid supply points and building pipeline
transportation capacity to satisfy end-user demand in new markets or demand growth in existing markets. Future
earnings growth will be dependent on the success of our expansion plans in both the market and supply areas of the
pipeline network, which includes, among other things, shale gas exploration and development areas, the ability to
continue renewing service contracts and continued regulatory stability. Natural gas
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storage prices have recently been challenged as a result of increasing natural gas supply and narrower seasonal price
spreads.
Gas supply and demand dynamics continue to change as a result of the development of non-conventional shale gas
supplies. The increase in natural gas supply has resulted in declines in the price of natural gas in North America. As a
result, a shift occurred to extraction of gas in richer, “wet” gas areas with higher natural gas liquids content which
depressed activity in “dry” fields like the Fayetteville Shale formation where our Ozark assets are located. This, in turn,
contributed to a resulting over-supply of pipeline take-away capacity in these areas. As the balance of supply and
demand evolves, we expect activity in these areas to push prices higher. However, should supply and demand not
come into balance, our businesses there may be subject to further possible impairment. The supply increase has also
had a negative impact on the seasonal price spreads historically seen between the summer and winter months. The
value of storage assets and contracts has declined in recent years, negatively affecting the results of our storage
facilities. While we expect storage values to stabilize and strengthen in the future, should these market factors
continue to keep downward pressure on the seasonality spread and re-contracting, we could be subject to further
reduced value and impairment, recognized in 2015, of our storage assets.
Our businesses in the United States are subject to laws and regulations on the federal and state levels. Regulations
applicable to the natural gas transmission and storage industries have a significant effect on the nature of the
businesses and the manner in which they operate. Changes to regulations are ongoing and we cannot predict the future
course of changes in the regulatory environment or the ultimate effect that any future changes will have on our
businesses.
FERC’s current policy permits pipelines and storage companies to include a tax allowance in the cost-of-service used
as the basis for calculating their regulated rates. For pipelines and storage companies owned by partnerships or limited
liability company interests, the current tax allowance policy reflects the actual or potential income tax liability on the
FERC jurisdictional income attributable to all partnership or limited liability company interests if the ultimate owner
of the interest has an actual or potential income tax liability on such income. This tax allowance policy applies to rates
that we charge customers on our cost of service assets. The tax allowance policy does not affect market-based or
negotiated rates that we charge customers.
On December 22, 2017, the US enacted the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act” (“TCJA”). The changes in the TCJA are effective for
taxation years beginning after December 31, 2017. While the changes are broad and complex, the most significant
change is the reduction in the corporate federal income tax rate from 35% to 21%. Our regulated gas pipeline entities
have recognized a regulatory liability of $860 million related to cost of service contracts where the tax rate will be
adjusted in our rates at some time in the future. The regulatory liability represents amounts previously collected from
utility customers for deferred taxes that may be refundable to such customers, generally through reductions in future
rates. 
These laws and regulations can result in increased capital, operating and other costs. Environmental laws and
regulations generally require us to obtain and comply with a wide variety of environmental licenses, permits,
inspections and other approvals. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations can require significant
expenditures, including expenditures for cleanup costs and damages arising out of contaminated properties. In
particular, compliance with major Clean Air Act regulatory programs may cause us to incur significant capital
expenditures to obtain permits, evaluate offsite impacts of our operations, install, upgrade or replace pollution control
equipment, and otherwise assure compliance.
New legislation or regulations adopted by PHMSA may impose more stringent requirements applicable to integrity
management programs and other pipeline safety aspects of our operations, which could cause us to incur increased
capital costs, operational delays and costs of operations. PHMSA adopted pipeline safety legislation in 2011 and,
more recently, in 2016 that, among other things, increased the penalties for safety violations, established additional
safety requirements for newly constructed pipelines and required studies of safety issues that could result in the
adoption of new regulatory requirements by PHMSA for existing pipelines, and empowered PHMSA to address
imminent hazards by imposing emergency restrictions, prohibitions and safety measures on owners and operators of
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October 2016 to implement the agency’s expanded authority to address unsafe pipeline conditions or practices that
pose an imminent hazard to life, property, or the environment.
Our interstate pipeline operations and our underground natural gas storage operations are subject to pipeline safety
regulations administered by PHMSA of the DOT. These laws and regulations require us to comply with a significant
set of requirements for the design, construction, maintenance and operation of our interstate pipelines, and design,
operation and functional integrity of our underground storage wells. PHMSA indicated when it issued
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the interim final rule that the adoption of these safety standards for natural gas storage facilities represent a first step in
a multi-phase process to enhance the safety of underground natural gas storage, with more standards likely
forthcoming. Most recently, in response to a petition for reconsideration of the interim final rule received in January
2017, PHMSA published a notice in June 2017, advising that the agency intends to consider the issues raised by the
petitioners in a final rule, which it currently expects to issue in 2018. At this time, we cannot predict the impact of any
future regulatory actions in this area and can provide no assurance that our future costs to comply with existing or new
standards relating to underground natural gas storage facilities will not have a material adverse effect on our business
and operating results.
PHMSA is designing an Integrity Verification Process intended to create standards to verify maximum allowable
operating pressure, and to improve and expand integrity management processes. Proposed rulemaking on these
matters has not been finalized and there remains uncertainty as to how these standards will be implemented, but it is
expected that the changes will impose additional costs on new pipeline projects as well as on existing operations. In
this climate of increasingly stringent regulation, pipeline failures or failures to comply with applicable regulations
could result in a reduction of allowable operating pressures as authorized by PHMSA, which would reduce available
capacity on our pipelines. Should any of these risks materialize, it may have an adverse effect on our operations,
earnings, financial condition or cash flows.
In light of the changing environmental and safety laws and regulations described above, we are evaluating efforts
required to maintain compliance with such laws and regulations and, in addition, are assessing ways to improve
overall system integrity, efficiency and reliability. The capital costs to effectively modernize our pipelines in this way
will be substantial and will be incurred over several years.
Liquids

2017 2016 Increase
(Decrease) 2015 Increase

(Decrease)
(in millions)

Operating revenues $405 $366 $ 39 $368 $ (2 )
Operating expenses
Operating, maintenance and other 145 130 15 141 (11 )
Other income and expenses (1 ) 1 (2 ) 56 (55 )
EBITDA $259 $237 $ 22 $283 $ (46 )

Express pipeline revenue receipts, MBbl/d (a) 262 241 21 239 2
Platte PADD II deliveries, MBbl/d 130 130 — 162 (32 )
_________
(a)    Thousand barrels per day.
In October 2015, Spectra Energy acquired our 33.3% ownership interests in Sand Hills and Southern Hills. Results
presented herein include Sand Hills and Southern Hills through October 30, 2015, the date of Spectra Energy's
acquisition.
2017 Compared to 2016
Operating Revenues. The $39 million increase in operating revenues was driven by:

•an increase in transportation revenues due to the Express Enhancement expansion project placed into service in
October 2016 and higher average tariff rates on the Express pipeline, partially offset by
•lower average tariff rates on the Platte pipeline due to discounts on domestic volumes.
Operating Expenses. The $15 million increase in operating expenses was driven by:
•an increase in integrity and maintenance costs, and higher power and property tax expenses.
2016 Compared to 2015
Operating Revenues. The $2 million decrease in operating revenues was driven by:
•
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•a $7 million increase in crude oil transportation revenues due to the Express Enhancement expansion project placed
into service in October 2016.
Operating Expenses. The $11 million decrease in operating expenses was driven by:
•a $6 million decrease in maintenance costs, and
•a $5 million decrease in power costs due to lower usage in 2016 on the Express and Platte pipelines.
Other Income and Expenses. The $55 million decrease was primarily due to the absence of equity earnings from Sand
Hills and Southern Hills owned until October 30, 2015.
Matters Affecting Future Liquids Results
Future earnings growth will be dependent on the success in renewing existing contracts or in securing new supply and
market for all pipelines. This will require ongoing increases in supply of crude oil and continued access to attractive
markets.
See Matters Affecting Future U.S. Transmission Results for discussions of pipeline safety, regulatory certainty and the
PHMSA, which are also applicable to the Liquids segment.
Other

2017 2016 Increase
(Decrease) 2015 Increase

(Decrease)
(in millions)

Operating expenses (127 ) (82 ) $ 45 $(66) $ 16
EBITDA $(127) $(82) $ (45 ) $(66) $ (16 )
2017 Compared to 2016
Operating Expenses. The $45 million increase reflects $38 million from merger-related severance costs, with the
remainder related to higher allocated shared service and governance costs.
2016 Compared to 2015
Operating Expenses. The $16 million increase was driven by higher allocated governance costs.
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Distributable Cash Flow
We define Distributable Cash Flow as EBITDA plus
•distributions from equity investments,
•other non-cash items affecting net income, less
•earnings from equity investments,
•interest expense,
•equity AFUDC,
•net cash paid for income taxes,
•distributions to noncontrolling interests, and
•maintenance capital expenditures.
Distributable Cash Flow does not reflect changes in working capital balances. Distributable Cash Flow should not be
viewed as indicative of the actual amount of cash that we plan to distribute for a given period.
Distributable Cash Flow is the primary financial measure used by our management and by external users of our
financial statements to assess the amount of cash that is available for distribution.
Distributable Cash Flow is a non-GAAP measure and should not be considered an alternative to Net Income,
Operating Income, cash from operations or any other measure of financial performance or liquidity presented in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP). Distributable Cash Flow
excludes some, but not all, items that affect Net Income and Operating Income and these measures may vary among
other companies. Therefore, Distributable Cash Flow as presented may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
of other companies.
Significant drivers of variances in Distributable Cash Flow between the periods presented are substantially the same
as those previously discussed under Results of Operations. Other drivers include the timing of certain cash outflows,
such as capital expenditures for maintenance.
We use earnings from continuing operations before interest, income taxes, and depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA), a non-GAAP financial measure, and the most directly comparable GAAP measure for EBITDA is net
income.
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Reconciliation of Net Income to Non-GAAP “Distributable Cash Flow”
2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

Net Income $703 $1,239 $1,265
Add:
Interest expense 265 224 239
Income tax expense 19 18 12
Depreciation and amortization 346 314 295
Foreign currency (gain) loss (1 ) 1 6
Less:
Interest income 1 2 1
EBITDA 1,331 1,794 1,816
Add:
Earnings from equity investments (307 ) (127 ) (167 )
Distributions from equity investments (a) 185 160 207
Non-cash impact of US tax reform 860 — —
Non-cash impairment at Ozark Gas Gathering — — 9
Other 10 13 12
Less:
Interest expense 265 224 239
Equity AFUDC 115 121 76
Net cash paid for income taxes 15 10 12
Distributions to noncontrolling interests 49 30 31
Maintenance capital expenditures 243 268 314
Distributable Cash Flow $1,392 $1,187 $1,205
________
(a) Excludes $403 million of distributions from equity investments for the 2015 period, $396 million of which relates
to the Gulfstream debt issuance. See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.  
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which require management to
make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes. In making judgments and estimates, management relies on external information and
observable conditions, where possible, supplemented by internal analysis as required. We believe our most critical
accounting policies and estimates discussed below have an impact across the various segments of our business.
Regulation
Certain of our businesses are subject to regulation by various authorities, including but not limited to, the NEB and the
FERC. Regulatory bodies exercise statutory authority over matters such as construction, rates and ratemaking and
agreements with customers. To recognize the economic effects of the actions of the regulator, the timing of
recognition of certain revenues and expenses in these operations may differ from that otherwise expected under U.S.
GAAP for non-rate-regulated entities. Key determinants in the ratemaking process are:
•Costs of providing service, including depreciation expense;
•Allowed rate of return, including the equity component of the capital structure and related income taxes;
•Contract and volume throughput assumptions.
Regulatory assets generally represent incurred costs that have been deferred because such costs are probable of future
recovery in customer rates. Regulatory liabilities generally represent obligations to make refunds to customers or for
instances where the regulator provides current rates that are intended to recover costs that are expected to be incurred
in the future. We continually assess whether the regulatory assets are probable of future recovery by considering
factors such as applicable regulatory changes and recent rate orders to other regulated entities. Based on this
assessment, we believe our existing regulatory assets are probable of recovery. This assessment reflects the current
political and regulatory climate at the state and federal levels, and is subject to change in the future. If future recovery
of costs ceases to be probable, regulatory asset write-offs would be required to be recognized.
Total regulatory assets were $220 million as of December 31, 2017 and $376 million as of December 31, 2016. Total
regulatory liabilities were $896 million as of December 31, 2017 and $61 million as of December 31, 2016.
Goodwill Impairment
We assess our goodwill for impairment at least annually unless events or changes in circumstances indicate that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is below its carrying value. For the purposes of impairment
testing, reporting units are identified as business operations within an operating segment. We have the option to first
assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test.
The quantitative goodwill impairment test involves determining the fair value of our reporting units inclusive of
goodwill and comparing those values to the carrying value of each reporting unit. If the carrying value of a reporting
unit, including allocated goodwill, exceeds its fair value, goodwill impairment is measured as the excess of the
carrying amount of the reporting unit’s allocated goodwill over the fair value of the goodwill based on the fair value of
the reporting unit’s assets and liabilities.
We performed either a quantitative assessment or a qualitative assessment for each of our reporting units to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the respective fair values of these reporting units are less than their carrying
amounts, including goodwill as of April 1, 2017 (our annual testing date). Based on that assessment, we determined
that this condition, for each reporting unit, does not exist. No triggering events occurred during the period from April
1, 2017 through December 31, 2017 that warranted re-testing for goodwill impairment.
We had goodwill balances of $2,957 million at December 31, 2017 and $3,234 million at December 31, 2016. The
decrease in goodwill in 2017 was the result of the deconsolidation of Sabal Trail, partially offset by foreign currency
translation. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

61

Edgar Filing: Spectra Energy Partners, LP - Form 10-K

85



Table of Contents

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from the transmission, storage and gathering of natural gas, and from the transportation of crude oil are
generally recognized when the service is provided. Revenues related to these services provided but not yet billed are
estimated each month. These estimates are generally based on contract data, regulatory information, and preliminary
throughput and allocation measurements. Final bills for the current month are billed and collected in the following
month. Differences between actual and estimated revenues are immaterial.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Known Trends and Uncertainties
As of December 31, 2017, we had negative working capital of $544 million. This balance includes current maturities
of long-term debt of $500 million. We will rely upon cash flows from operations, including cash distributions received
from our equity affiliates, and various financing transactions, which may include debt and/or equity issuances, to fund
our liquidity and capital requirements for 2018. We have access to a revolving credit facility, with available capacity
of $246 million at December 31, 2017. This facility is used principally as a back-stop for our commercial paper
program, which is used to manage working capital requirements and for temporary funding of capital expenditures.
Capital resources may continue to include commercial paper, short-term borrowings under our current credit facility
and possibly securing additional sources of capital including debt and/or equity.
Cash flows from operations are fairly stable given that substantially all of our revenues and those of our equity
investments are derived from operations under firm contracts. However, total operating cash flows are subject to a
number of factors, including, but not limited to, contract renewal rates and cash distributions from our equity
investments. The amount of cash distributed to us by our equity investments and the amount of cash we may be
required to fund, is determined by our equity investments based on their operating cash flows and other factors as
determined by their management. While we participate on the management committees of these equity investments,
determination of the amount of distributions and contributions, if any, are not within our control. We received total
distributions from equity investments of $185 million in 2017, $160 million in 2016 and $610 million in 2015. See
Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors for discussion of other factors that could affect our cash flows.
As a result of our ongoing strong earnings performance expected in existing operations, we expect to maintain a
capital structure and liquidity profile that supports our strategic objectives. We will continue to monitor market
requirements and our liquidity and make adjustments to these plans, as needed.
Cash Flow Analysis
The following table summarizes the changes in cash flows for each of the periods presented:

Years Ended December
31,
2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $1,610 $1,462 $1,522
Investing activities (2,289 ) (2,754 ) (1,830 )
Financing activities 570 1,340 336
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (109 ) 48 28
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 216 168 140
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $107 $216 $168
Operating Cash Flows
Net cash provided by operating activities increased $148 million to $1,610 million in 2017 compared to 2016. This
increase was driven primarily by higher earnings after adjusting for non-cash items, partially offset by changes in
working capital.
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Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $60 million to $1,462 million in 2016 compared to 2015. This
decrease was driven primarily by the absence of distributions from Sand Hills and Southern Hills owned until October
2015.
Investing Cash Flows
Net cash flows used in investing activities decreased $465 million to $2,289 million in 2017 compared to 2016. This
decrease was driven mainly by:
•a $446 million decrease in capital and investment expenditures, and

•a $148 million distribution of debt proceeds back to Gulfstream for payment of its matured debt in 2016, partially
offset by
•a $86 million increase in investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates, and
•a $67 million cash outflow as a result of Sabal Trail deconsolidation.
Net cash flows used in investing activities increased $924 million to $2,754 million in 2016 compared to 2015. This
increase was driven mainly by a $578 million net increase in capital and investment expenditures.
Capital and Investment Expenditures by Business Segment

Years Ended
December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

U.S. Transmission $2,204 $2,514 $1,952
Liquids 21 71 55
Total consolidated $2,225 $2,585 $2,007
Capital and investment expenditures for 2017 totaled $2,225 million and included $1,982 million for expansion
projects, and $243 million for maintenance and other projects.
We project 2018 capital and investment expenditures of approximately $1.6 billion, including $1.4 billion of
expansion capital expenditures and $0.2 billion for maintenance and upgrades of existing plants, pipelines and
infrastructure to serve growth. These projections exclude contributions from noncontrolling interests. Expansion
capital expenditures may vary significantly based on investment opportunities.
In October 2015, Spectra Energy acquired our 33.3% ownership interests in Sand Hills and Southern Hills. In
consideration for this transaction, we retired 21,560,000 of our common units and 440,000 of our general partner units
beneficially held by Spectra Energy resulting in a reduction of any associated distributions ultimately payable to
Spectra Energy. As a result of the transaction, there is a reduction in the aggregate quarterly distributions, if any, to
the General Partner, (as holder of incentive distribution rights), by $4 million per quarter for a period of 12
consecutive quarters ending on September 30, 2018. See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
further discussion.
In November 2015, we acquired the remaining 0.1% ownership interest in SESH from Spectra Energy. Total
consideration was 17,114 newly issued common units. In addition, we issued 342 general partner units to our General
Partner in exchange for the same amount of common units in order to maintain the General Partner's 2% general
partner interest. This was the last of three planned transactions related to the U.S. Assets Dropdown. See Note 3 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.
Capital expansion projects are developed and executed using results-proven project management processes. We
evaluate the strategic fit and commercial and execution risks, and continuously measure performance compared to
plan. Ongoing communications between project teams and senior leadership ensure we maintain the right focus and
deliver the expected results. We expect that significant natural gas infrastructure, including both natural gas
transportation and storage with links to growing gas supplies and markets, will be needed over time to serve growth in
gas-fired power generation, oil-to-gas conversions, industrial development and attachments to new gas supply.
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Expansion capital expenditures included several key projects placed into service in 2017, including:

•

Algonquin Incremental Market (AIM) - A 342 million cubic feet per day (MMcf/d) expansion of the Algonquin
system consisting of replacement pipeline, new pipeline, new and modified meter station facilities and additional
compression at existing stations. The project is designed to transport gas from existing interconnects in New Jersey
and New York to LDC markets in the northeast. 72% of the project was placed in-service in the fourth quarter of 2016
and the remainder was placed into service in the first quarter of 2017.

•

Access South / Adair Southwest / Lebanon Extension - This project combined is designed to attach emerging Ohio
Marcellus and Utica natural gas supplies to new markets in the Midwest and Southeast along Texas Eastern’s existing
footprint totaling 622 MMcf/d of gas deliveries to customers. The project was placed into service in the fourth quarter
of 2017.

•

Gulf Market Expansion - This Texas Eastern system expansion project connects growth markets (Gulf Coast LNG
and industrials) with diverse, growing shale supply. The project consists of installing reverse-compression capability
at six compressor stations to provide up to 650 MMcf/d. This project was executed in two phases.  Phase 1 was placed
into service in the fourth quarter of 2016, and provided north to south compression at five stations. Phase 2 was placed
into service in the third quarter of 2017 and provided north to south compression at a sixth station, added a new
compression unit at one existing compressor station and constructed one new compressor station.

•
Sabal Trail - 1,100 MMcf/d of new capacity to access onshore shale gas supplies. Facilities include a new
approximately 515-mile pipeline, laterals and various compressor stations. This project was placed into service in the
third quarter of 2017.
In addition to the remaining work mentioned above, significant 2018 expansion projects expenditures are also
expected to include:

•

Atlantic Bridge - This project is an expansion of the Algonquin system to transport 133 MMcf/d of natural gas to the
New England Region. Lift and relay of pipeline, compressor stations and meter stations will be required.  The
Connecticut portion of the project was placed into service in the fourth quarter of 2017. The remainder of the project
is expected to be in-service during the fourth quarter of 2018.

•
PennEast - A 1,100 MMcf/d 36-inch pipeline with scalable facilities and two compressor stations that runs 118 miles
from Northeast, Pennsylvania production to Texas Eastern and Algonquin- Lambertville and Transco-Woodbridge.
The project is expected to be in-service in 2019.

•

NEXUS - Greenfield path to transport 1.5 Bcf/d from SEP’s Texas Eastern pipeline to the Union Gas Dawn hub in
Ontario, Canada. The facilities will consist of approximately 255 miles of 36-inch pipeline across northern Ohio to the
Detroit, Michigan area, the addition of four new compressor stations totaling 130,000 horsepower, and six meter
stations. The project is expected to be in-service during the third quarter of 2018.

•
South Texas Expansion - The project will expand the Texas Eastern facilities in order to deliver 400 MMcf/d gas
supplies from east of Vidor, Texas to high demand markets in south Texas with a single delivery point in Petronila.
The project is expected to be in-service during the second half of 2018.

•

Stratton Ridge - This project will deliver 322 MMcf/d of gas from Stratton Ridge Storage to Freeport LNG Train 3.
The project scope also consists of additional compression, piping, and metering and regulation work on the Angleton
Compressor Station and Angleton Line, as well as work on the Brazoria Interconnector Gas (B.I.G) pipeline and Mont
Belvieu, Joaquin, Huntsville, Hempstead, and Provident City Station Sites. The project is expected to be in-service
during the first half of 2019.

•

Texas Eastern Appalachian Lease (TEAL) - This project is designed to create a gas path from the Texas Eastern
mainline system in Monroe County, Ohio, utilizing the Ohio Pipeline Energy Network (OPEN) pipeline, to deliver
gas northward to NEXUS at Kensington, Ohio. The pipeline portion of the project is due to go in service during the
second half of 2018, and the compressor station portion is due to go in service during the first half of 2019.
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Financing Cash Flows
Net cash provided by financing activities decreased $770 million to $570 million in 2017 compared to 2016. This
decrease was driven mainly by:
•a $906 million decrease in proceeds from issuances of units, and
•a $130 million decrease in proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, and
•a $542 million increase in repayments for the redemption of long-term debt, and
•a $325 million decrease in contributions from noncontrolling interests, and
•a $166 million increase in distributions to partners, partially offset by
•$1,408 million of net issuances of commercial paper in 2017, compared to $98 million of net issuances in 2016.
Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $1,340 million in 2016 compared to $336 million used in financing
activities in 2015. This $1,004 million change was driven mainly by:
•$98 million of net issuances of commercial paper in 2016, compared to $431 million of net redemptions in 2015,
•a $522 million increase in proceeds from issuances of units, and
•a $495 million increase in contributions from noncontrolling interests, partially offset by

•$520 million in net issuances of long-term debt in 2016, compared to $962 million in net issuances of long-term debt
in 2015, and
•a $100 million increase in distributions to partners.
Significant Financing Activities—2017
Debt Issuances. On June 7, 2017, we issued $400 million of variable-rate senior unsecured notes due in 2020. Net
proceeds from the offering were used to fully repay and terminate the variable-rate senior unsecured term loan due in
November 2018.
Common Unit Issuances. In 2017, we issued 4.0 million common units to the public under our at-the-market program
and approximately 81,000 general partner units to our general partner. Total net proceeds were $174 million,
including approximately $3 million of proceeds from our general partner. The net proceeds were used for general
partnership purposes, which may have included debt repayment, capital expenditures and/or additions to working
capital.
Significant Financing Activities—2016
Debt Issuances. On October 17, 2016, we issued $800 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes,
comprised of $600 million of 3.375% senior notes due in 2026 and $200 million of 4.50% senior notes due in 2045.
The new 2045 notes are an additional issuance of our 4.50% senior notes issued in March 2015. Net proceeds from the
offering were used to repay a portion of outstanding commercial paper, to fund capital expenditures and for general
partnership purposes.
Common Unit Issuances. In April 2016, we issued 10.4 million common units and 0.2 million general partner units to
our general partner in a private placement transaction. Total net proceeds were approximately $489 million. We used
the proceeds from this purchase for general partnership purposes, including the funding of our current expansion
capital plan.
In 2016, we issued 12.8 million common units to the public under our at-the-market program and approximately
262,000 general partner units to our general partner. Total net proceeds were $591 million, including approximately
$12 million of proceeds from our general partner. The net proceeds were used for general partnership purposes, which
may have included debt repayment, capital expenditures and/or additions to working capital.
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Significant Financing Activities—2015
Debt Issuances. On March 12, 2015, we issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes,
comprised of $500 million of 3.50% senior notes due in 2025 and $500 million of 4.50% senior notes due in 2045.
Net proceeds from the offering were used to repay a portion of outstanding commercial paper, to fund capital
expenditures and for general partnership purposes.
Common Unit Issuances. On November 4, 2015, we issued 17,114 common units in connection with the U.S. Assets
Dropdown, valued at $1 million. In addition, we issued 342 general partner units to our general partner in exchange
for the same amount of common units in order to maintain our general partner's 2% general partner interest. See Note
2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.
In March 2015, we entered into an equity distribution agreement under which we may sell and issue common units up
to an aggregate offering price of $500 million, and in December 2015 we replaced the equity distribution agreement.
The terms of this new equity distribution agreement are substantially similar to those in our previous agreements and
allow us to sell and issue up to an aggregate offering price of $1 billion of common units. This at-the-market offering
program allows us to offer and sell common units at prices deemed appropriate through a sales agent. Sales of
common units, if any, will be made by means of ordinary brokers’ transactions on the NYSE, in block transactions, or
as otherwise agreed to between the sales agent and us.
We issued 12 million common units to the public in 2015 under our at-the-market program, and approximately
245,000 general partner units to our general partner. Total net proceeds were $557 million, including approximately
$11 million of proceeds from our general partner.
Available Credit Facility and Restrictive Debt Covenants

Maturity
Dates(a)

Total
Facility

Draws
(b) Available

(in millions)
Spectra Energy Partners, LP 2022 $2,500 $2,254 $ 246
 _______
(a) Includes $336 million of commitments that expire in 2021.
(b) Includes facility draws and commercial paper issuances that are back-stopped by the credit facility.
Our credit facility agreements and term debt indentures include common events of default and covenant provisions,
including a financial covenant, whereby accelerated repayment and/or termination of the agreements may result if we
were to default on payment or violate certain covenants. As of December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with the
covenants.
Cash Distributions. Our partnership agreement requires that, within 60 days after the end of each quarter, we distribute
all of our Available Cash, as defined, to unitholders of record on the applicable record date.
We increased the quarterly cash distributions each quarter of 2017 from $0.68875 per limited partner unit for the
fourth quarter of 2016 to $0.73875 per limited partner unit for the fourth quarter of 2017. The cash distribution for the
fourth quarter of 2017 was declared on February 8, 2018 and is payable on February 28, 2018.
Our Board of Directors evaluates each individual quarterly distribution decision based on an assessment of growth in
cash available to make distributions. Growth in our cash available to make distributions over time is dependent on
incremental organic growth expansion, third-party acquisitions or acquisitions from Spectra Energy. Our amount of
Available Cash depends primarily upon our cash flows, including cash flow from financial reserves and working
capital or other borrowings, and not solely on profitability, which will be affected by non-cash items. As a result, we
may make cash distributions during periods when we record a net loss for financial accounting purposes and may not
make cash distributions during periods when we record net earnings for financial accounting purposes.
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Other Financing Matters. We have an effective shelf registration statement on file with the SEC to register the
issuance of unlimited amounts of limited partner common units and various debt securities and another registration
statement on file with the SEC to register the issuance of $1 billion, in the aggregate, of limited partner common units
and various debt securities over time. This registration statement has $186 million available as of December 31, 2017.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We enter into guarantee arrangements in the normal course of business to facilitate commercial transactions with third
parties. These arrangements include financial guarantees, stand-by letters of credit, surety bonds and indemnifications.
See Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of guarantee arrangements.
Most of the guarantee arrangements that we enter into enhance the credit standings of certain subsidiaries,
non-consolidated entities or less than 100%-owned entities, enabling them to conduct business. As such, these
guarantee arrangements involve elements of performance and credit risk which are not included on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The possibility of us having to honor our contingencies is largely dependent upon the future
operations of our subsidiaries, investees and other third parties, or the occurrence of certain future events.
We do not have any off-balance sheet financing entities or structures, except for normal operating lease arrangements,
guarantee arrangements and financings entered into by our equity investments. These debt obligations do not contain
provisions requiring accelerated payment of the related obligation in the event of specified declines in credit ratings.
Contractual Obligations
We enter into contracts that require payment of cash at certain periods based on certain specified minimum quantities
and prices. The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations for each of the periods presented. The
table below excludes all amounts classified as Total Current Liabilities on the December 31, 2017 Consolidated
Balance Sheet other than Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt. It is expected that the majority of Total Current
Liabilities will be paid in cash in 2018.
Contractual Obligations as of December 31, 2017

Payments Due by Period

Total 2018 2019 &
2020

2021 &
2022

2023 &
Beyond

(in millions)
Long-term debt (a)(b) $11,419 $760 $ 1,295 $ 3,418 $ 5,946
Operating leases (b) 208 15 37 36 120
Purchase obligations (c) 363 18 54 49 242
Total contractual cash obligations $11,990 $793 $ 1,386 $ 3,503 $ 6,308
_________

(a)See Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Amounts include principal payments and estimated
scheduled interest payments over the life of the associated debt.

(b)See Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(c)Purchase obligations reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets have been excluded from the above table.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks associated with interest rates and credit exposure. We have established comprehensive
risk management policy to monitor and manage these market risks. While our management team is responsible for the
day to day governance and compliance for us, the implementation of our risk policies is delegated to an Enbridge
committee. The responsibilities of this committee include monitoring our interest rate risk and credit risk, including
monitoring exposure limits to ensure compliance with our policy.
Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the loss that we would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual obligations.
Our exposure generally relates to receivables and unbilled revenue for services provided, as well as volumes owed by
customers for imbalances or gas loaned by us generally under park and loan services and no-
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notice services. Our principal customers for natural gas transmission and storage services are industrial end-users,
marketers, exploration and production companies, LDCs and utilities located throughout the United States and
Canada. Customers on the Express-Platte system are primarily refineries located in the Rocky Mountain and
Midwestern states of the United States. Other customers include oil producers and marketing entities. We have
concentrations of receivables from these industry sectors. These concentrations of customers may affect our overall
credit risk in that risk factors can negatively affect the credit quality of the entire sector.
Where exposed to credit risk, we analyze the customers’ financial condition prior to entering into an agreement,
establish credit limits and monitor the appropriateness of those limits on an ongoing basis. We also obtain parental
guarantees, cash deposits or letters of credit from customers to provide credit support, where appropriate, based on our
financial analysis of the customer and the regulatory or contractual terms and conditions applicable to each contract. A
significant amount of our credit exposures for transmission, storage and gathering services are with customers who
have an investment-grade rating (or the equivalent based on an evaluation by Enbridge), or are secured by collateral.
However, we cannot predict to what extent our business would be impacted by deteriorating conditions in the
economy, including possible declines in our customers’ creditworthiness.
Based on our policies for managing credit risk, our current exposures and our credit and other reserves, we do not
anticipate a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations as a result of
non-performance by any customer.
Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to risk resulting from changes in interest rates as a result of our issuance of variable and fixed-rate
debt and commercial paper. We also monitor our debt portfolio mix of fixed and variable rate debt instruments to
manage interest rate risk exposure. We primarily use qualifying derivative instruments to manage interest rate risk.
See also Notes 2, 15 and 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
As of December 31, 2017, we had interest rate hedges in place for various purposes. We are party to “pay
floating—receive fixed” interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $900 million to hedge against changes in the
fair value of our fixed-rate debt that arise as a result of changes in market interest rates. These swaps also allow us to
transform a portion of the underlying interest payments related to our long-term fixed-rate debt securities into
variable-rate interest payments in order to achieve our desired mix of fixed and variable-rate debt.
As of December 31, 2017, our earnings and cash flows are also exposed to variability in longer term interest rates
ahead of anticipated fixed rate term debt issuances. Forward starting interest rate swaps are used to hedge against the
effect of future interest rate movements. We have assumed a program to mitigate our exposure to long-term interest
rate variability on select forecast term debt issuances via execution of floating to fixed interest rate swaps with an
average swap rate of 2.48%. The total notional amount is $1.6 billion. The forecasted fixed rate term debt issuances
are planned for 2018 and 2020.
Based on a sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 2017, it was estimated that if short-term interest rates average 100
basis points higher (lower) in 2018 than in 2017, interest expense, net of offsetting interest income, would fluctuate by
$35 million before tax. Comparatively, based on a sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 2016, had short-term
interest rates averaged 100 basis points higher (lower) in 2017 than in 2016, it was estimated that interest expense, net
of offsetting interest income, would have fluctuated by approximately $17 million. These amounts were estimated by
considering the effect of the hypothetical interest rates on variable-rate debt outstanding, adjusted for interest rate
hedges, short-term investments, and cash and cash equivalents outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Commodity Price Risk
Our earnings and cash flows are exposed to changes in commodity prices as a result of our ownership interests in
certain assets. These commodities include natural gas, crude oil, power and NGL. We employ financial derivative
instruments to fix a portion of the variable price exposures that arise from physical transactions involving these
commodities. We use non-qualifying derivative instruments to manage commodity price risk. In July 2017, we
entered into a power swap to fix a portion of the variable price exposure for power costs in our Express Canada
operations until 2020.
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OTHER ISSUES
For information on other issues, see Notes 6 and 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
New Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
See Part II. Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk for discussion.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The management of our General Partner is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of inherent limitations,
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies and procedures may deteriorate.
The management of our General Partner, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer,
has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2017 based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, management concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2017.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, audited the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 and issued an unqualified opinion thereon as stated
in their report, which appears under Item 8.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Unitholders of Spectra Energy Partners, LP:

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Spectra Energy Partners, LP and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Partnership”) as of December 31, 2017 and the related consolidated statements of income, of
comprehensive income, of equity and of cash flows for the year then ended, including the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Partnership’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Partnership as of December 31, 2017 and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also in our opinion, the Partnership maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Partnership’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Partnership’s consolidated financial statements and on the Partnership’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to
the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
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assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Houston, Texas
February 15, 2018

We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2017.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC and Unitholders of Spectra Energy Partners, LP:
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Spectra Energy Partners, LP and subsidiaries (the
"Partnership") as of December 31, 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income, cash flows and equity for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2016. The Partnership’s
management is responsible for these financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Spectra Energy Partners, LP and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
February 24, 2017
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In millions, except per-unit amounts)

Years Ended
December 31,
2017 2016 2015

Operating revenues
Transportation of natural gas $1,331 $1,951 $1,858
Transportation of crude oil 394 359 357
Storage of natural gas and other 225 223 240
Total operating revenues 1,950 2,533 2,455
Operating expenses
Operating, maintenance and other 844 822 750
Depreciation and amortization 346 314 295
Property and other taxes 197 169 137
Total operating expenses 1,387 1,305 1,182
Operating income 563 1,228 1,273
Other income and expenses
Earnings from equity investments 307 127 167
Other income and expenses, net 117 126 76
Total other income and expenses 424 253 243
Interest expense 265 224 239
Earnings before income taxes 722 1,257 1,277
Income tax expense 19 18 12
Net income 703 1,239 1,265
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 94 78 40
Net income attributable to controlling interests $609 $1,161 $1,225

Net income attributable to controlling interests $609 $1,161 $1,225
Net income attributable to general partner 369 311 249
Net income attributable to limited partners $240 $850 $976
Weighted average limited partners units outstanding — basic and diluted310 299 296
Net income per limited partner unit — basic and diluted $0.77 $2.84 $3.30
Distributions paid per limited partner unit $2.83 $2.63 $2.43

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in millions)

Years Ended December
31,
2017 2016 2015

Net income $703 $1,239 $1,265
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments 15 5 (29 )
Change in unrealized loss on cash flow hedges (3 ) — —
Reclassification to net income of gain on cash flow hedges — — (1 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) 12 5 (30 )
Comprehensive income 715 1,244 1,235
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 94 78 40
Comprehensive income attributable to controlling interests $621 $1,166 $1,195

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions)

December 31,
2017 2016

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $107 $216
Receivables (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $10 and $6 at December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively) 372 380

Inventory 40 40
Other assets, net 42 24
Total current assets 561 660
Investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates 3,302 1,127
Goodwill 2,957 3,234
Property, plant and equipment, net 14,899 16,092
Regulatory and other assets 337 493
Total Assets $22,056 $21,606

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $259 $441
Commercial paper — 574
Taxes payable 84 76
Interest payable 68 79
Current portion of long-term debt 500 416
Other 194 193
Total current liabilities 1,105 1,779
Long-term debt 7,963 6,223
Deferred income taxes 46 42
Regulatory and other liabilities 1,041 158
Total Liabilities 10,155 8,202
Commitments and Contingencies
Partners’ Capital
Common units (312.4 and 308.4 units issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively) 11,183 11,650

General partner units (6.4 and 6.3 units issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively) 386 452

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (33 ) (45 )
Total partners’ capital 11,536 12,057
Noncontrolling interests 365 1,347
Total Equity 11,901 13,404
Total Liabilities and Equity $22,056 $21,606

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions)

Years Ended December
31,
2017 2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $703 $1,239 $1,265
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 338 320 304
Deferred income tax expense 3 4 3
Earnings from equity investments (307 ) (127 ) (167 )
Distributions from equity investments 152 110 160
Regulatory liability - deferred income taxes 860 — —

Change in operating assets and liabilities (139 ) (84 ) (43 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,610 1,462 1,522
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (1,888) (2,334 ) (1,883 )
Investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates (337 ) (251 ) (124 )
Additions to intangible assets (40 ) (80 ) —
Distributions from equity investments 33 50 450
Distributions to equity investment — (148 ) (248 )
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities (20 ) (39 ) (44 )
Proceeds from sales and maturities of held-to-maturity securities 20 39 44
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (69 ) (714 ) (95 )
Proceeds from sales and maturities of available-for-sale securities 76 715 84
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of subsidiary (67 ) — —
Other changes in restricted funds 1 9 (14 )
Other 2 (1 ) —
Net cash used in investing activities (2,289) (2,754 ) (1,830 )
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 670 800 994
Payments for the redemption of long-term debt (822 ) (280 ) (32 )
Net change in credit facility draws 1,408 98 (431 )
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (49 ) (30 ) (31 )
Contributions from noncontrolling interests 418 743 248
Proceeds from the issuances of units 174 1,080 558
Distributions to partners (1,227) (1,061 ) (961 )
Other (2 ) (10 ) (9 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 570 1,340 336
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (109 ) 48 28
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 216 168 140
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $107 $216 $168
Supplemental Disclosures
Cash paid for interest, net of amount capitalized $267 $209 $218
Cash paid for income taxes 15 10 12
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Property, plant and equipment noncash accruals 54 247 140

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(In millions)

Partners' Capital

Noncontrolling
Interests TotalCommon General

Partner

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

December 31, 2014 10,474 284 (20 ) 268 11,006
Net income 976 249 — 40 1,265
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — — (30 ) — (30 )
Retirement of units (794 ) (15 ) — — (809 )
Consideration over net disposed assets 51 1 — — 52
Attributed deferred tax benefit — 39 — 8 47
Issuances of units 547 11 — — 558
Distributions to partners (728 ) (233 ) — — (961 )
Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — 248 248
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — (31 ) (31 )
Other, net 1 — — — 1
December 31, 2015 10,527 336 (50 ) 533 11,346
Net income 850 311 — 78 1,239
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — 5 — 5
Attributed deferred tax benefit — 59 — 23 82
Issuances of units 1,058 22 — — 1,080
Distributions to partners (785 ) (276 ) — — (1,061 )
Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — 743 743
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — (30 ) (30 )
December 31, 2016 $11,650 $ 452 $ (45 ) $ 1,347 $13,404
Net income 240 369 — 94 703
Other comprehensive income — — 12 — 12
Attributed deferred tax benefit — (89 ) — (5 ) (94 )
Issuance of units 171 3 — — 174
Distributions to partners (878 ) (349 ) — — (1,227 )
Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — 418 418
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — (49 ) (49 )
Sabal Trail deconsolidation — — — (1,440 ) (1,440 )
December 31, 2017 11,183 386 (33 ) 365 11,901

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1.Business Overview
The terms “we,” “our,” “us” and “Spectra Energy Partners” as used in this report refer collectively to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP and its subsidiaries unless the context suggests otherwise. These terms are used for convenience only and are not
intended as a precise description of any separate legal entity within Spectra Energy Partners.
Nature of Operations. Spectra Energy Partners, through its subsidiaries and equity investments, is engaged in the
transmission, storage and gathering of natural gas and the transportation and storage of crude oil through interstate
pipeline systems. We are a Delaware master limited partnership (MLP).
On February 27, 2017, Enbridge Inc. (Enbridge) and Spectra Energy Corp (Spectra Energy) completed a merger
transaction (the Merger) resulting in Spectra Energy being a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enbridge. As a result of the
Merger, we became an indirect subsidiary of Enbridge through Enbridge's ownership of Spectra Energy.
As of December 31, 2017, Enbridge and its subsidiaries collectively owned a 74% ownership interest in us, with the
remaining 26% publicly owned.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).
Basis of Presentation. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well
as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. We regularly evaluate
these estimates utilizing historical experience, consultation with experts and other methods we consider reasonable in
the circumstances. Nevertheless, actual results may differ from these estimates. We record the effect of any revisions
to these estimates in our consolidated financial statements in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision
become known.
Our costs of doing business have been reflected in our financial accounting records for the periods presented. These
costs include direct charges and allocations from Spectra Energy and its affiliates for business services, such as
payroll, accounts payable and facilities management; corporate services, such as finance and accounting, legal, human
resources, investor relations, public and regulatory policy, and senior executives; and pension and other
post-retirement benefit costs.
Fair Value Measurements. We measure the fair value of financial assets and liabilities by maximizing the use of
observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. Fair value is the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.
Regulation. Our businesses are subject to regulation by various authorities including, but not limited to, the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) and the National Energy Board (NEB). Regulatory bodies exercise statutory
authority over matters such as construction, rates and ratemaking and agreements with customers. To recognize the
economic effects of the actions of the regulator, the timing of recognition of certain revenues and expenses in these
operations may differ from that otherwise expected under U.S. GAAP for non rate-regulated entities.

Regulatory assets represent amounts that are expected to be recovered from customers in future periods through rates.
Regulatory liabilities represent amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers in future periods through rates.
These regulatory assets and liabilities are mostly classified in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Regulatory and
other assets and Regulatory and other liabilities. Regulatory assets are assessed for impairment if we identify an event
indicative of possible impairment. The recognition of regulatory assets and liabilities is based on the actions, or
expected future actions, of the regulator. To the extent that the regulator’s actions differ from our expectations, the
timing and amount of recovery or settlement of regulatory balances could
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differ from those recorded. In the absence of rate regulation, we would generally not recognize regulatory assets or
liabilities and the income impact would be recorded in the period the expenses are incurred or revenues are earned.
Foreign Currency Translation. The Canadian dollar has been determined to be the functional currency of the Canadian
portion of the Express-Platte pipeline system (Express Canada) based on an assessment of the economic
circumstances of those operations. Assets and liabilities of Express Canada are translated into U.S. dollars at current
exchange rates. Translation adjustments resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates are included as a separate
component of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.
Revenue and expense accounts of these operations are translated at average monthly exchange rates prevailing during
the periods. Gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
are included in the results of operations of the period in which they occur. Foreign currency transaction gain totaled $1
million in 2017, and losses totaled $1 million, and $6 million in 2016 and 2015 respectively and are included in Other
Income and Expenses, Net on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Revenue Recognition. Revenues from the transmission, storage and gathering of natural gas, and from the
transportation of crude oil are generally recognized when the service is provided. Revenues related to these services
provided but not yet billed are estimated each month. These estimates are generally based on contract data, regulatory
information and preliminary throughput and allocation measurements. Final bills for the current month are billed and
collected in the following month. Differences between actual and estimated revenues are immaterial. There was one
customer, National Grid PLC, in the U.S. Transmission segment accounting for $244 million, or approximately 13%,
of consolidated revenues during 2017. There were no customers accounting for 10% or more of consolidated revenues
during 2016 or 2015. We also have certain customer contracts with billed amounts that decline annually over the
terms of the contracts. Differences between the amounts billed and recognized are deferred on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
Allowance for Equity Used During Construction (AFUDC). AFUDC, which represents the estimated debt and equity
costs of capital funds necessary to finance the construction and expansion of certain new regulated facilities, consists
of two components, an equity component and an interest expense component. After construction is completed, we are
permitted to recover these costs through inclusion in the rate base and in the depreciation provision. AFUDC is
capitalized as a component of Property, plant and equipment - net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with offsetting
credits to the Consolidated Statements of Income through Other Income and Expenses, net for the equity component
and Interest Expense for the interest expense component. The total amount of AFUDC included in the Consolidated
Statements of Income was $153 million in 2017 (an equity component of $115 million and an interest expense
component of $38 million), $168 million in 2016 (an equity component of $121 million and an interest expense
component of $47 million) and $95 million in 2015 (an equity component of $76 million and an interest expense
component of $19 million). The equity component of AFUDC, a non-cash item, is included as a reconciling item to
net income within Cash Flows from Operating Activities - Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
Income Taxes. As a result of our MLP structure, we are not subject to federal income tax. Our federal taxable income
or loss is reported on the respective income tax returns of our partners. However, we are subject to Canadian income
tax and Tennessee and New Hampshire income tax. Spectra Energy Partners is liable to Spectra Energy for Texas
income (margin) tax under a tax sharing agreement. As of December 31, 2017, the difference between the tax basis
and the reported amounts of Spectra Energy Partners’ assets and liabilities is $14.7 billion.
We are subject to cost-based regulation and consequently record a regulatory tax asset in connection with the tax gross
up of AFUDC equity. The corresponding deferred tax liability is recognized as an Attributed Deferred Tax Benefit in
the Consolidated Statements of Equity since we are a pass-through entity.
Cash and Cash Equivalents. Highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of
acquisition are considered cash equivalents, except for the investments that were pledged as collateral against
long-term debt as discussed in Note 14 and any investments that are considered restricted funds.
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Inventory. Inventory consists of natural gas retained from shippers for fuel and also includes materials and supplies.
Natural gas is recorded at the lower of cost or market. Materials and supplies are recorded at cost, using the average
cost method. Upon disposition, natural gas inventory is recorded to Operating, maintenance and other expenses at the
weighted average cost of inventory, including any adjustments recorded to reduce inventory to market value.
Disposition of materials and supplies will be recorded to Operating, maintenance and other expenses.
Natural Gas Imbalances. The Consolidated Balance Sheets include in-kind balances as a result of differences in gas
volumes received and delivered for customers. Since settlement of certain imbalances is in-kind,
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changes in the balances do not have an effect on our Consolidated Statements of Income or Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows. Receivables include $106 million and $99 million as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016,
respectively, and Other Current Liabilities include $80 million and $74 million as of December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively, related to all gas imbalances. Most natural gas volumes owed to or by us are valued
at natural gas market index prices as of the balance sheet dates.
Cash Flow and Fair Value Hedges. We have entered into interest rate swaps which were designated as either a hedge
of a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge) or a hedge of a recognized asset, liability or firm commitment (fair value
hedge). For all hedge contracts, we prepare documentation of the hedge in accordance with accounting standards and
assess whether the hedge contract is highly effective using regression analysis, both at inception and on a quarterly
basis, in offsetting changes in cash flows or fair values of hedged items.
Changes in the fair value of a derivative designated and qualified as a cash flow hedge, to the extent effective, are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income as Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) until
earnings are affected by the hedged item. We discontinue hedge accounting prospectively when we have determined
that a derivative no longer qualifies as an effective hedge or when it is no longer probable that the hedged forecasted
transaction will occur. When hedge accounting is discontinued because the derivative no longer qualifies as an
effective hedge, the derivative is subject to the mark-to-market model of accounting prospectively. Gains and losses
related to discontinued hedges that were previously accumulated in accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI)
remain in AOCI until the underlying transaction is reflected in earnings, unless it is probable that the hedged
forecasted transaction will not occur at which time associated deferred amounts in AOCI are immediately recognized
in current earnings.
For derivatives designated as fair value hedges, we recognize the gain or loss on the derivative instrument, as well as
the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item in earnings, to the extent effective, in the current period. In the event the
hedge is not effective, there is no offsetting gain or loss recognized in earnings for the hedged item. All derivatives
designated and accounted for as hedges are classified in the same category as the item being hedged in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. All components of each derivative gain or loss are included in the assessment
of hedge effectiveness.
Investments. We may actively invest a portion of our available cash and restricted funds balances in various financial
instruments, including taxable or tax-exempt debt securities. In addition, we invest in short-term money market
securities, some of which are restricted due to debt collateral requirements. Investments in available-for-sale (AFS)
securities are carried at fair value and investments in held-to-maturity (HTM) securities are carried at cost.
Investments in money market securities are also accounted for at fair value. Realized gains and losses, and dividend
and interest income related to these securities, including any amortization of discounts or premiums arising at
acquisition, are included in earnings. The costs of securities sold are determined using the specific identification
method. Purchases and sales of AFS and HTM securities are presented on a gross basis within Cash Flows from
Investing Activities in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. See also Notes 11 and 15 for
additional information.
Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets on
acquisition of a business. The carrying value of goodwill, which is not amortized, is assessed for impairment annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances arise that suggest the carrying value of goodwill may be
impaired.

We perform our annual review for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is identified by assessing whether the
components of our operating segments constitute businesses for which discrete information is available, whether
segment management regularly reviews the operating results of those components and whether the economic and
regulatory characteristics are similar. We have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is
necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test. The quantitative goodwill impairment test involves
determining the fair value of our reporting units and comparing those values to the carrying value of each reporting
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unit. If the carrying value of a reporting unit, including allocated goodwill, exceeds its fair value, goodwill impairment
is measured at the amount by which the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value. This amount should not
exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. No impairments of goodwill were recorded in 2017, 2016 or 2015.
We had goodwill balances of $2,957 million at December 31, 2017 and $3,234 million at December 31, 2016. The
decrease in goodwill in 2017 was the result of $282 million relating to the deconsolidation of Sabal Trail, partially
offset by foreign currency translation.
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Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost. Expenditures for
construction, expansion, major renewals and betterments are capitalized. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as
incurred. Expenditures for project development are capitalized if they are expected to have future benefit. We
capitalize interest incurred during construction for non rate-regulated assets. For rate-regulated assets, AFUDC is
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment and is depreciated over future periods as part of the total cost of
the related asset. AFUDC includes both an interest component and, if approved by the regulator, a cost of equity
component.

Depreciation is generally provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets commencing
when the asset is placed in service. When group assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, gains and losses are not
reflected in earnings but are booked as an adjustment to accumulated depreciation.

When we retire regulated property, plant and equipment, we charge the original cost plus the cost of retirement, less
salvage value, to accumulated depreciation and amortization. When we sell entire regulated operating units, or retire
non-regulated properties, the cost is removed from the property account and the related accumulated depreciation and
amortization accounts are reduced. Any gain and loss is recorded in earnings, unless otherwise required by the
applicable regulatory body.
Preliminary Project Costs. Project development costs, including expenditures for preliminary surveys, plans,
investigations, environmental studies, regulatory applications and other costs incurred for the purpose of determining
the feasibility of capital expansion projects, are capitalized for rate-regulated enterprises when it is determined that
recovery of such costs through regulated revenues of the completed project is probable. Any inception-to-date costs of
the projects that were initially incurred are reversed and capitalized as Property, Plant and Equipment.
Asset Impairments. We review the carrying values of its long-lived assets as events or changes in circumstances
warrant. If it is determined that the carrying value of an asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows expected from the
asset, the asset is written down to fair value.

With respect to investments in debt and equity securities, we assess at each balance sheet date whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired by completing a quantitative or qualitative analysis of factors
impacting the investment. If there is determined to be objective evidence of impairment, we value the expected
discounted cash flows using observable market inputs and determines whether the decline below carrying value is
other than temporary. If the decline is determined to be other than temporary, an impairment charge is recorded in
earnings with an offsetting reduction to the carrying value of the asset.

With respect to other financial assets, we assess the assets for impairment when it no longer has reasonable assurance
of timely collection. If evidence of impairment is noted, we reduce the value of the financial asset to its estimated
realizable amount, determined using discounted expected future cash flows.
We recorded a $9 million non-cash impairment charge on Ozark Gas Gathering, L.L.C. in the first quarter of 2015
included in Operating, Maintenance and Other on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Asset Retirement Obligations (AROs). AROs associated with the retirement of long-lived assets are measured at fair
value and recognized in the period in which they can be reasonably determined. The fair value approximates the cost a
third party would charge to perform the tasks necessary to retire such assets and is recognized at the present value of
expected future cash flows. AROs are added to the carrying value of the associated asset and depreciated over the
asset’s useful life. The corresponding liability is accreted over time through charges to earnings and is reduced by
actual costs of decommissioning and reclamation. Our estimates of retirement costs could change as a result of
changes in cost estimates and regulatory requirements.
Unamortized Debt Premium, Discount and Expense. Premiums, discounts, and expenses incurred with the issuance of
outstanding long-term debt are amortized over the terms of the debt issued. Any call premiums or unamortized
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amortized consistent with regulatory treatment of those items, where appropriate.
Environmental Expenditures. We expense environmental expenditures related to conditions caused by past operations
that do not generate current or future revenues. Environmental expenditures related to operations that generate current
or future revenues are expensed or capitalized, as appropriate. Undiscounted liabilities are
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recorded when the necessity for environmental remediation becomes probable and the costs can be reasonably
estimated, or when other potential environmental liabilities are reasonably estimable and probable.
Segment Reporting. Operating segments are components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is
available and evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and
evaluate performance. Two or more operating segments may be aggregated into a single reportable segment provided
certain criteria are met. There is no such aggregation within our defined business segments. A description of our
reportable segments consistent with how business results are reported internally to management, and the disclosure of
segment information is presented in Note 5.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Cash received from insurance proceeds are classified depending on the
activity that resulted in the insurance proceeds. For example, business interruption insurance proceeds are included as
a component of operating activities while insurance proceeds from damaged property are included as a component of
investing activities. With respect to cash overdrafts, book overdrafts are included within operating cash flows while
bank overdrafts, if any, are included within financing cash flows.
Distributions from Equity Investments. We consider distributions received from equity investments which do not
exceed cumulative equity in earnings subsequent to the date of investment to be a return on investment and classify
these amounts as Cash Flows from Operating Activities within the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows. Cumulative distributions received in excess of cumulative equity in earnings subsequent to the date of
investment are considered to be a return of investment and are classified as Cash Flows from Investing Activities.
New Accounting Pronouncements. The following new Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs) were adopted during
2017 and the effects of such adoptions, if any, are presented in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements:
Simplifying the Measurement of Goodwill Impairment. Effective January 1, 2017, we early adopted ASU 2017-04
and applied the standard on a prospective basis. Under the new guidance, goodwill impairment will now be the
amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value; this amount should not exceed the carrying
amount of goodwill. The adoption of the pronouncement did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

Clarifying the Definition of a Business in an Acquisition. Effective January 1, 2017, we early adopted ASU 2017-01
on a prospective basis. The new standard was issued with the objective of adding guidance to assist entities with
evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (disposals) of assets or businesses. The
adoption of the pronouncement did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Intra-Entity Asset Transfers. Effective January 1, 2017, we early adopted ASU 2016-16 on a modified
retrospective basis. The new standard was issued with the intent of improving the accounting for the income tax
consequences of intra-entity asset transfers other than inventory. Under the new guidance, an entity should recognize
the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs. The
adoption of the pronouncement did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. Effective January 1, 2017, we adopted ASU 2016-09
and applied certain amendments on a modified retrospective basis with the remaining amendments applied on a
prospective basis. The new standard was issued with the intent of simplifying and improving several aspects of
accounting for share-based payment transactions including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as
either equity or liabilities, and classification on the statement of cash flows. The adoption of the pronouncement did
not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Simplifying the Embedded Derivatives Analysis for Debt Instruments. Effective January 1, 2017, we adopted ASU
2016-06 on a modified retrospective basis. The new guidance simplifies the embedded derivative analysis for debt
instruments containing contingent call or put options. The adoption of the pronouncement did not have a material
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Pending. The following new ASUs have been issued but not yet adopted:

Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities. ASU 2017-12 was issued in August 2017 with the objective of
better aligning a company’s risk management activities and the resulting hedge accounting reflected in the financial
statements. The accounting update allows cash flow hedging of contractually specified components in financial and
non-financial items. Under the new guidance, hedge ineffectiveness is no longer required to be measured and hedging
instruments’ fair value changes will be recorded in the same statement of income line as the hedged item. The ASU
also allows the initial quantitative hedge effectiveness assessment to be performed at any time before the end of the
quarter in which the hedge is designated. After initial quantitative testing is performed, an ongoing qualitative
effectiveness assessment is permitted. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2019 and is to be applied on a
modified retrospective basis. We are currently assessing the impact of the new standard on our consolidated financial
statements.

Clarifying Guidance on the Application of Modification Accounting on Stock Compensation. ASU 2017-09 was
issued in May 2017 with the intent to clarify the scope of modification accounting and when it should be applied to a
change to the terms or conditions of a share based payment award. Under the new guidance, modification accounting
is required for all changes to share based payment awards, unless all of the following are met: 1) there is no change to
the fair value of the award, 2) the vesting conditions have not changed, and 3) the classification of the award as an
equity instrument or a debt instrument has not changed. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2018 and will
be applied on a prospective basis. We do not expect the adoption of this accounting update to have a material impact
on our consolidated financial statements.

Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Benefit Cost related to Defined Benefit Plans. ASU 2017-07 was issued in
March 2017 primarily to improve the statement of income presentation of the components of net periodic pension cost
and net periodic postretirement benefit cost for an entity’s sponsored defined benefit pension and other postretirement
plans. In addition, only the service cost component of net benefit cost is eligible for capitalization. The accounting
update is effective January 1, 2018 and will be applied on a retrospective basis for the statement of income
presentation component and a prospective basis for the capitalization component. We do not expect the adoption of
this accounting update to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Clarifying Guidance on Derecognition and Partial Sales of Nonfinancial Assets. ASU 2017-05 was issued in February
2017 with the intent of clarifying the scope of asset derecognition guidance and accounting for partial sales of
nonfinancial assets. The ASU clarifies the scope provisions of nonfinancial assets and how to allocate consideration to
each distinct asset, and amends the guidance for derecognition of a distinct nonfinancial asset in partial sale
transactions. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2018 and will be applied on a modified retrospective basis.
We do not expect the adoption of this accounting update to have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

Clarifying the Presentation of Restricted Cash in the Statement of Cash Flows. ASU 2016-18 was issued in November
2016 with the intent to clarify guidance on the classification and presentation of changes in Restricted cash and
restricted cash equivalents within the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. The accounting update requires that
changes in Restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be included within Cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the opening and closing period amounts shown on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. We
currently present the changes in Restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents under Investing activities in the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2018 and will be applied on a
retrospective basis. We will amend the presentation in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows to include Restricted
cash and restricted cash equivalents with cash and cash equivalents and we will retrospectively reclassify all periods
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Simplifying Cash Flow Classification. ASU 2016-15 was issued in August 2016 with the intent of reducing diversity
in practice of how certain cash receipts and cash payments are classified in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
The new guidance addresses eight specific presentation issues. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2018 and
will be applied on a retrospective basis. We assessed each of the eight specific presentation issues and the adoption of
this ASU does not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Credit Losses. ASU 2016-13 was issued in June 2016 with the intent of providing financial statement
users with more useful information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments
to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. Current treatment uses the incurred
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loss methodology for recognizing credit losses that delays the recognition until it is probable a loss has been incurred.
The accounting update adds a new impairment model, known as the current expected credit loss model, which is
based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. Under the new guidance, an entity recognizes as an allowance its
estimate of expected credit losses, which the Financial Accounting Standards Board believes will result in more timely
recognition of such losses. We are currently assessing the impact of the new standard on our consolidated financial
statements. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2020.

Recognition of Leases. ASU 2016-02 was issued in February 2016 with the intent to increase transparency and
comparability among organizations. It requires lessees of operating lease arrangements to recognize lease assets and
lease liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and disclose additional key information about lease agreements.
The accounting update also replaces the current definition of a lease and requires that an arrangement be recognized as
a lease when a customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of an asset, as
well as the right to direct the use of the asset. We are currently gathering a complete inventory of our lease contracts in
order to assess the impact of the new standard on our consolidated financial statements. The accounting update is
effective January 1, 2019 and will be applied using a modified retrospective approach.

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Liabilities. ASU 2016-01 was issued in January 2016 with the
intent to address certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial assets and
liabilities. Investments in equity securities, excluding equity method and consolidated investments, are no longer
classified as trading or available-for-sale securities. All investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair
values are classified as investments at fair value through net income. Investments in equity securities without readily
determinable fair values are measured using the fair value measurement alternative and are recorded at cost minus
impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for an
identical or similar investment of the same issuer. Investments in equity securities measured using the fair value
measurement alternative are reviewed for indicators of impairment each reporting period. Fair value of financial
instruments for disclosure purposes is measured using exit price. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2018
and will be applied on a prospective basis. We do not expect the adoption of this accounting update to have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014-09 was issued in 2014 with the intent of significantly enhancing
consistency and comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities and industries. The new standard
establishes a single, principles-based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers and introduces new
and enhanced disclosure requirements. It also requires the use of more estimates and judgments than the present
standards in addition to additional disclosures. The new standard is effective January 1, 2018. The new standard
permits either a full retrospective method of adoption with restatement of all prior periods presented, or a modified
retrospective method with the cumulative effect of applying the new standard recognized as an adjustment to opening
retained earnings in the period of adoption. We have decided to adopt the new standard using the modified
retrospective method.

We have reviewed our revenue contracts in order to evaluate the effect of the new standard on our revenue recognition
practices. Based on this assessment, the application of the standard will result in the following change to our financial
statements and revenue recognition methods:
•Certain payments received from customers to offset the cost of constructing assets required to provide services to
those customers, referred to as Contributions in Aid of Construction ("CIACs") were previously recorded as
reductions of property, plant and equipment regardless of whether the amounts were imposed by regulation or
negotiated. Under the new standard, negotiated CIACs are deemed to be advance payments for services and must be
recognized when those future services are provided. Negotiated CIACs will be accounted for as deferred revenue and
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After conducting this assessment any adjustments to our partner's capital account will be immaterial as of January 1,
2018.
We have also developed and tested processes to generate the disclosures which will be required under the new
standard commencing in the first quarter of 2018.
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3. Acquisition and Disposition
U.S. Assets Dropdown. During 2013, we completed the closing of substantially all of the U.S. Assets Dropdown,
excluding a 25.05% ownership interest in SESH and a 1% ownership interest in Steckman Ridge. This was the first of
three planned transactions.
In November 2014, we completed the second of the three planned transactions related to the U.S. Assets Dropdown.
This transaction consisted of acquiring an additional 24.95% ownership interest in SESH and the remaining 1%
ownership interest in Steckman Ridge from Spectra Energy. Total consideration was approximately 4.3 million newly
issued common units. Also in connection with this transaction, we issued approximately 86,000 general partner units
to our general partner in exchange for the same amount of common units in order to maintain the general partner's 2%
general partner interest.
In November 2015, we acquired the remaining 0.1% ownership interest in SESH from Spectra Energy. Total
consideration was 17,114 newly issued common units. This was the last of three planned transactions related to the
U.S. Assets Dropdown. Also in connection with this transaction, we issued 342 general partner units to our general
patner in exchange for the same amount of common units in order to maintain the general partner's 2% general partner
interest.
Disposition. In October 2015, Spectra Energy acquired our 33.3% ownership interests in DCP Sand Hills Pipeline,
LLC (Sand Hills) and DCP Southern Hills Pipeline, LLC (Southern Hills). In consideration for this transaction, we
retired 21,560,000 of our common units and 440,000 of our general partner units beneficially held by Spectra Energy,
which will result in the reduction of distributions ultimately payable to Spectra Energy for the related units retired.
Additional consideration consisted of a reduction in the aggregate quarterly distributions, if any, to our general
partner, as holder of incentive distribution rights, by $4 million per quarter for a period of 12 consecutive quarters
commencing with the quarter ending on December 31, 2015 and ending on September 30, 2018. The total reduction of
distributions to our general partner was $16 million and $16 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. This transfer of assets between entities under common control is included as a non-cash transaction in
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. See Note 7 for additional information on the Equity Restructure
Agreement entered into on January 21, 2018 with our General Partner.
4. Related Party Transactions
In the normal course of business, we provide natural gas transmission, storage and other services to Spectra Energy
and its affiliates.
In addition, pursuant to an agreement with Spectra Energy, Spectra Energy and its affiliates perform centralized
corporate functions for us, including legal, accounting, compliance, treasury and other areas. We reimburse Spectra
Energy for the expenses to provide these services as well as other expenses it incurs on our behalf, such as salaries of
personnel performing services for our benefit and the cost of employee benefits and general and administrative
expenses associated with such personnel, capital expenditures, maintenance and repair costs, taxes and direct
expenses, including operating expenses and certain allocated operating expenses associated with the ownership and
operation of the contributed assets. Spectra Energy and its affiliates charge such expenses based on the cost of actual
services provided or using various allocation methodologies based on our percentage of assets, employees, earnings or
other measures, as compared to Spectra Energy’s other affiliates.
Transactions with affiliates are summarized in the tables below:
Consolidated Statements of Income

20172016 2015
(in millions)

Operating revenues $41 $ 34 $ 53
Operating, maintenance and other expenses 314 310 457
We are party to an agreement with DCP Midstream, LLC (DCP Midstream), an equity investment of Spectra Energy,
in which DCP Midstream processes certain of our customers' gas to meet quality specifications in order to be
transported on our system. DCP Midstream processes the gas and sells the natural gas liquids that are extracted from
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We recognized revenues of $36 million, $31 million and $46 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015,
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respectively, related to those services, classified as Storage of Natural Gas and Other in our Consolidated Statements
of Income.
We recorded natural gas transmission revenues from DCP Midstream and its affiliates totaling $1 million in 2017, $1
million in 2016 and $4 million in 2015, classified as Transportation of Natural Gas in our Consolidated Statements of
Income.
In addition to the above, we recorded other revenues from DCP Midstream and its affiliates totaling $2 million in
2017, $2 million in 2016 and $3 million in 2015, classified as Storage of Natural Gas and Other in our Consolidated
Statements of Income.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
2017 2016
(in millions)

Receivables $ 10 $ 22
Current assets — other 1 2
Accounts payable 32 27
Current liabilities — other16 10

Transactions billed from affiliates, included within Property, Plant and Equipment in the Consolidated Balance Sheets,
were $93 million in 2017 and $46 million in 2016.
Gulfstream. During the third quarter of 2015, Gulfstream Natural Gas System, LLC (Gulfstream) issued unsecured
debt of $800 million to fund the repayment of its current debt. Gulfstream distributed $396 million, our proportionate
share of proceeds, to us, classified as Cash Flows from Investing Activities - Distributions from Equity Investments,
of which we contributed $248 million back to Gulfstream in the fourth quarter of 2015 and the remaining $148
million, classified as Cash Flows from Investing Activities - Distributions to Equity Investment, in the second quarter
of 2016.
See also Notes 1, 8 and 15 for discussion of specific related party transactions.

5. Business Segments
We manage our business in two reportable segments: U.S. Transmission and Liquids. The remainder of our business
operations is presented as “Other,” and consists of certain corporate costs.
Our chief operating decision maker regularly reviews financial information about both segments in deciding how to
allocate resources and evaluate performance. There is no aggregation of segments within our reportable business
segments.
The U.S. Transmission segment provides interstate transmission and storage of natural gas. Substantially all of our
operations are subject to FERC and the Department of Transportation’s (DOT’s) rules and regulations. Our investments
in Gulfstream, SESH, Steckman Ridge and Sabal Trail are included in U.S. Transmission.
The Liquids segment provides transportation of crude oil. The Express-Platte pipeline system (Express-Platte) is a
crude oil pipeline system that connects Canadian and U.S. producers to refineries in the U.S. Rocky Mountain and
Midwest regions. These operations are primarily subject to the rules and regulations of the FERC and the NEB. We
held direct one-third ownership interests in Sand Hills and Southern Hills until October 30, 2015.
Our reportable segments offer different products and services and are managed separately as business units.
Management evaluates segment performance based on earnings before interest, taxes, and depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA). Cash, cash equivalents and investments are managed centrally, so the gains and losses on
foreign currency remeasurement, and interest and dividend income, are excluded from the segments’ EBITDA. Our
segment EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies because other companies
may not calculate EBITDA in the same manner.
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Business Segment Data

Total
Revenues

Segment
EBITDA/Consolidated
Earnings Before
Income Taxes

Depreciation
and
Amortization

Capital and
Investment
Expenditures

Asset

(in millions)
2017
U.S. Transmission $1,545 $ 1,199 $ 314 $ 2,204 $20,157
Liquids 405 259 32 21 1,875
Total 1,950 1,458 346 2,225 22,032
Other — (127 ) — — 24
Depreciation and amortization — 346 — — —
Interest expense — 265 — — —
Interest income and other — 2 — — —
Total consolidated $1,950 $ 722 $ 346 $ 2,225 $22,056
2016
U.S. Transmission $2,167 $ 1,639 $ 285 $ 2,514 $19,747
Liquids 366 237 29 71 1,841
Total 2,533 1,876 314 2,585 21,588
Other — (82 ) — — 18
Depreciation and amortization — 314 — — —
Interest expense — 224 — — —
Interest income and other — 1 — — —
Total consolidated $2,533 $ 1,257 $ 314 $ 2,585 $21,606
2015
U.S. Transmission $2,087 $ 1,599 $ 264 $ 1,952 $17,050
Liquids 368 283 31 55 1,778
Total 2,455 1,882 295 2,007 18,828
Other — (66 ) — — 23
Depreciation and amortization — 295 — — —
Interest expense — 239 — — —
Interest income and other — (5 ) — — —
Total consolidated $2,455 $ 1,277 $ 295 $ 2,007 $18,851

Geographic Data
U.S. Canada Consolidated
(in millions)

2017
Consolidated revenues $1,865 $ 85 $ 1,950
Consolidated long-lived assets 17,958 227 18,185
2016
Consolidated revenues $2,456 $ 77 $ 2,533
Consolidated long-lived assets 19,580 215 19,795
2015
Consolidated revenues $2,383 $ 72 $ 2,455
Consolidated long-lived assets 18,104 203 18,307
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6. Regulatory Matters
Regulatory Assets and Liabilities
We record assets and liabilities that result from the regulated ratemaking process that would not be recorded under
GAAP for non-regulated entities. See Note 2 for further discussion.
Financial Statement Effects
The following items are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets. All regulatory assets and liabilities are excluded
from rate base unless otherwise noted below.

Recovery/Refund
Period Ends

December
31,
2017 2016
(in
millions)

Regulatory Assets (a)
Regulatory asset related to income taxes (b) Various $137 $297
Vacation accrual Various 17 19
Deferred debt expense/premium Various 14 18
Asset retirement obligations Various 22 17
Under-recovery of fuel costs (c,d) — 19 6
Project development costs Through 2036 8 9
Other — 3 10
Total Regulatory Assets $220 $376
Regulatory Liabilities
Over-recovery of fuel costs (d,e) — $15 $38
Deferred income taxes (f,g) Various 860 —
Pipeline rate credit (g) Life of associated liability 21 23
Total Regulatory Liabilities $896 $61
 ________
(a)Included in Regulatory and Other Assets, unless otherwise noted.
(b)Relates to tax gross-up of the AFUDC equity portion on certain pipelines' rate mechanisms. All amounts are
expected to be included in future rate filings.
(c)Included in Fuel Tracker.
(d)Includes amounts settled in cash annually through transportation rates in accordance with FERC gas tariffs.
(e)Included in Current Liabilities - Other.
(f)Relates to the establishment of a regulatory liability as a result of the U.S. tax reform legislation dated December
22, 2017.
(g)Included in Regulatory and Other Liabilities.

7. Net Income Per Limited Partner Unit and Cash Distributions
We allocate our net income among our general partner interest and our limited partner units using the two-class
method in accordance with applicable authoritative accounting guidance. Under the two-class method, we allocate our
net income attributable to our General Partner and our limited partners according to the distribution formula for
available cash as set forth in our partnership agreement. We also allocate any earnings in excess of distributions to our
General Partner and limited partners utilizing the distribution formula for available cash specified in our partnership
agreement.
On January 21, 2018, we entered into an Equity Restructuring Agreement with our GP, LP, pursuant to which the
incentive distribution rights and the 2% general partner interest in us held by GP, LP were converted into 172,500,000
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We determined basic and diluted net income per limited partner unit as follows:
2017 2016 2015
(in millions, except
per unit
amounts)

Net income—controlling interests $609 $1,161 $1,225
Less net income attributable to:
General partner’s interest in general partner units—2% 12 23 24
General partner’s interest in incentive distribution rights 357 288 225
Limited partners’ interest in net income attributable to common units $240 $850 $976
Weighted average limited partner units outstanding—basic and diluted310 299 296
Net income per limited partner unit—basic and diluted $0.77 $2.84 $3.30
Our partnership agreement requires that, within 60 days after the end of each quarter, we distribute all of our
Available Cash, as defined, to unitholders of record on the applicable record date.
Available Cash. Available Cash, for any quarter, consists of all cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of that
quarter:
•less the amount of cash reserves established by the general partner to:
•provide for the proper conduct of business,
•comply with applicable law, any debt instrument or other agreement, or

•provide funds for minimum quarterly distributions to the unitholders and to the general partner for any one or more of
the next four quarters,

•plus, if the general partner so determines, all or a portion of cash and cash equivalents on hand on the date of
determination of Available Cash for the quarter.
Incentive Distribution Rights. GP, LP, our general partner held through January 21, 2018 a 2% partner interest and
incentive distribution rights (IDRs) in accordance with the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of Spectra Energy Partners, LP dated as of November 1, 2013, as amended by Amendment No.1 dated as
of July 2, 2015 and Amendment No. 2 dated as of November 20, 2017 as follows:

Portion of Quarterly Distribution per Common Unit

Marginal Percentage
Interest in Distributions

Distribution Targets Unitholders General
Partner

Minimum Quarterly Distribution up to $0.30 98 % 2 %
First Target Distribution >$0.30 to $0.345 98 % 2 %
Second Target Distribution >$0.345 to $0.375 85 % 15 %
Third Target Distribution >$0.375 to $0.45 75 % 25 %
Thereafter >$0.45 50 % 50 %
To the extent distributions are made to GP, LP with respect to its IDRs, there would be more Available Cash
proportionately allocated to GP, LP than to holders of common units. A cash distribution of $0.73875 per limited
partner unit was declared on February 8, 2018 and is payable on February 28, 2018 to unitholders of record at the
close of business on February 20, 2018.
As a result of the sale of our interests in Sand Hills and Southern Hills to Spectra Energy in October 2015, there was a
reduction in the aggregate quarterly distributions, if any, to our general partner, (as holder of the IDRs), by $4 million
per quarter for a period of 12 consecutive quarters ending on September 30, 2018 (the IDR Give-Back). See Note 3 for
more information.
As a result of the Equity Restructuring Agreement, the IDRs, the 2% general partner interest, and the IDR Give-Back
were eliminated effective January 21, 2018, and distributions by us with a record date after January 21, 2018, will be
made based on the terms of our limited partnership agreement in effect at the time of declaration.
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Immediately after the execution of our Equity Restructuring Agreement, a new limited partnership agreement was
entered into. The distribution for the fourth quarter of 2017 was declared after January 21, 2018, and will be paid in
accordance with this new limited partnership agreement.
8. Investments in and Loans to Unconsolidated Affiliates
Investments in affiliates for which we are not the primary beneficiary, but over which we have significant influence,
are accounted for using the equity method. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the carrying amounts of investments
in affiliates approximated the amounts of underlying equity in net assets. We received distributions from our equity
investments of $185 million in 2017, $160 million in 2016 and $610 million in 2015. Cumulative undistributed
earnings from equity investments totaled $47 million, $15 million, and $5 million in 2017, 2016, and 2015,
respectively.
U.S. Transmission. Investments are comprised of a 50% interest in Sabal Trail, 50% interest in Gulfstream, a 50%
interest in SESH, a 50% interest in Steckman Ridge, a 50% interest in Nexus Gas Transmission, LLC (Nexus), and a
20% interest in PennEast Pipeline (PennEast).
We have a loan outstanding to Steckman Ridge in connection with the construction of its storage facilities. The loan
carries market-based interest rates and is due the earlier of October 1, 2023 or coincident with the closing of any
long-term financings by Steckman Ridge. The loan receivable from Steckman Ridge, including accrued interest,
totaled $71 million at both December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Liquids. Investments were comprised of 33.3% interests in Sand Hills and Southern Hills. The Sand Hills and
Southern Hills pipelines were placed in service in the second quarter of 2013 and acquired by Spectra Energy in the
fourth quarter of 2015.
Earnings from Equity Investments

2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

U.S. Transmission (a) $307 $127 $112
Liquids — — 55
Total $307 $127 $167
_________
(a) Includes $106 million related to the gain recognized as a result of the deconsolidation and re-measurement of
Sabal Trail.
Summarized Combined Financial Information of Unconsolidated Affiliates (Presented at 100%)
Statements of Income

2017 2016 2015
Sabal
Trail
(a)

OtherTotal Total Total

(in millions)
Operating revenues $124$ 430 $554 $430 $702
Operating expenses 52 118 170 118 229
Operating income 72 312 384 312 473
Net income 74 346 420 253 380
_________
(a) Sabal Trail was deconsolidated as of July 1, 2017.
(b) Refer to Earnings from Equity Investments table above for net income attributable to the general partner.
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Balance Sheets
December 31,
2017 2016
Sabal
Trail
(a)

OtherTotal Total

(in millions)
Current assets $67$ 245 $ 312 $ 154
Non-current assets 2,9774,4417,418 3,665
Current liabilities 60 154 214 112
Non-current liabilities — 1,6801,680 1,678
_________
(a) Sabal Trail was deconsolidated in Q3 2017.
9. Variable Interest Entities
Unconsolidated Variable Interest Entities
Sabal Trail. We own a 50% interest in Sabal Trail, a joint venture that operates a pipeline originating in Alabama that
transports natural gas to Florida (the Sabal Trail pipeline). Sabal Trail is a variable interest entity (VIE) due to
insufficient equity at risk to finance its activities.

On July 3, 2017, the Sabal Trail pipeline was placed into service. In accordance with the Sabal Trail LLC Agreement,
upon the commencement of commercial service of the Sabal Trail pipeline, the power to direct Sabal Trail’s activities
became shared with its members. Consequently, we are no longer the primary beneficiary and as a result
deconsolidated the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests related to Sabal Trail at the in-service date.

At deconsolidation, our interest in Sabal Trail was recorded at its fair value of $1.9 billion. We recognized a gain of
$106 million related to the remeasurement of the retained equity interest to its fair value. The gain was recorded in
Earnings from Equity Investments on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The fair value was determined using the
income approach which is based on the present value of future cash flows. The inputs used in the development of the
fair value, representative of a Level 3 fair value measurement, include, but are not limited to, the amount and timing
of projected future cash flows and a 9% discount rate used to measure the risks inherent in the future cash flows.

Subsequent to deconsolidation, we determined that we continue to have the ability to exercise significant influence
over Sabal Trail and accounted for it under the equity method. Our maximum exposure to loss is $2.0 billion. We have
an investment in Sabal Trail of $1.9 billion as of December 31, 2017, classified as Investments in and Loans to
Unconsolidated Affiliates on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Nexus. We own a 50% equity investment in Nexus, a joint venture that is constructing a greenfield natural gas
pipeline from Ohio to Michigan and leasing capacity on third party pipelines in order to provide transportation of
Appalachian Basin natural gas to markets in Ohio, Michigan, and the Dawn Hub in Ontario, Canada through the
Vector Pipeline. Nexus is a VIE due to insufficient equity at risk to finance its activities. We determined that we are
not the primary beneficiary because the power to direct the activities of Nexus that most significantly impact its
economic performance is shared. Our maximum exposure to loss is $1.2 billion. We have an investment in Nexus of
$640 million and $356 million as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, classified as
Investments in and Loans to Unconsolidated Affiliates on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
On December 29, 2016, we issued performance guarantees to a third party and an affiliate on behalf of Nexus. See
Note 19 for further discussion of the guarantee arrangement.
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Holdings, LLC, increasing our ownership interest in PennEast to 20%. PennEast is a joint venture that is proposing to
construct a natural gas pipeline originating in northeastern Pennsylvania, and ending near Pennington, Mercer County,
New Jersey. PennEast is a VIE due to insufficient equity at risk to finance its activities. We determined that we are not
the primary beneficiary because the power to direct the activities of PennEast that most significantly impact its
economic performance is shared. We account for PennEast under the equity method. Our maximum exposure to loss
is $275 million. We have an investment in PennEast of $55 million and $11 million as of
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December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, classified as Investments in and Loans to Unconsolidated
Affiliates on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The maximum exposure to loss for these entities is limited to our current equity investment and the remaining
expected contributions for each joint venture.
10. Intangible Asset
During the first quarter of 2016 we entered into a project coordination agreement (PCA) with NextEra, Duke Energy
Corporation and Williams Partners L.P. In accordance with the agreement, payments were made based on our
proportional ownership interest in the Sabal Trail project as certain milestones of the project were met.
As December 31, 2017, all milestones were achieved and paid, totaling $120 million. As of December 31, 2016, two
of the three milestones had been achieved and payments totaling $80 million were made. Payments are classified as
Investing Activities — Additions to Intangible Assets, Net on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. This PCA is
an intangible asset and is classified as Regulatory and Other Assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The intangible asset is amortized over a period of 25 years, beginning at the in-service date of the project, which was
July 3, 2017. The weighted average amortization rate of intangible assets is 4% as of December 31, 2017.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, our amortization expense related to the intangible asset totaled $2 million. The
amortization expense for each of the next five years is estimated to be approximately $5 million.
11. Marketable Securities and Restricted Funds
We routinely invest excess cash and various restricted balances in securities such as commercial paper, corporate debt
securities, and other money market securities in the United States, as well as equity securities in Canada. We do not
purchase marketable securities for speculative purposes, therefore, we do not have any securities classified as trading
securities. While we do not routinely sell marketable securities prior to their scheduled maturity dates, some of our
investments may be held and restricted for the purposes of funding future capital expenditures and NEB regulatory
requirements, so these investments are classified as AFS marketable securities as they may occasionally be sold prior
to their scheduled maturity dates due to the unexpected timing of cash needs. Initial investments in securities are
classified as purchases of the respective type of securities (AFS marketable securities or HTM marketable securities).
Maturities of securities are classified within Proceeds from Sales and Maturities of Securities in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.
AFS Securities. We had $3 million and $10 million of AFS securities classified as Regulatory and other assets on
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. At December 31, 2017
and December 31, 2016, these investments include less than $1 million and $9 million of restricted funds related to
certain construction projects and $3 million and $1 million restricted funds held and collected from customers for
Canadian pipeline abandonment in accordance with the NEB's regulatory requirements, respectively.
At December 31, 2017, the weighted-average contractual maturity of outstanding AFS securities was less than one
year.
There were no material gross unrecognized holding gains or losses associated with investments in AFS securities at
December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016.
HTM Securities. All of our HTM securities are restricted funds. We had $3 million of money market securities
classified as Other assets, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.
These securities are restricted pursuant to certain Express-Platte debt agreements.
At December 31, 2017, the weighted-average contractual maturity of outstanding HTM securities was less than one
year.
There were no material gross unrecognized holding gains or losses associated with investments in HTM securities at
December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016.
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Interest income. We had interest income of $1 million in 2017 and $2 million in 2016, which is included in Other
income and expenses, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income. We had no interest income in 2015.
Other Restricted Funds. In addition to the AFS and HTM securities that were restricted funds as described above, we
had other restricted funds totaling $4 million and $5 million classified as Regulatory and other assets on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. These restricted funds are
related to certain construction projects.
Changes in restricted balances are presented within Cash Flows from Investing Activities on our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.
12. Property, Plant and Equipment

Weighted
Average
Depreciation
Rate

December 31,

2017 2016

(%) (in millions)
Plant
Natural gas transmission 1.88 % $14,558 $13,702
Natural gas storage 2.04 % 1,655 1,638
Gathering and processing facilities 3.75 % 3 3
Crude oil transportation and storage 2.15 % 1,335 1,321
Land rights and rights of way 1.65 % 517 510
Other buildings and improvements 5.22 % 42 37
Equipment 4.79 % 81 81
Vehicles 4.34 % 10 12
Land — 76 75
Construction in process (a) — 482 2,494
Software 4.05 % 13 11
Other 1.48 % 221 74
Total property, plant and equipment 18,993 19,958
Total accumulated depreciation (3,928 ) (3,741 )
Total accumulated amortization (166 ) (125 )
Total net property, plant and equipment $14,899 $16,092
_________
(a) Sabal Trail Construction in process is no longer included in the 2017 PPE balance as a result of deconsolidation in
Q3 2017.
Approximately 84% of our property, plant and equipment is regulated with estimated useful lives based on rates
approved by the FERC. Composite weighted-average depreciation rates were 2% for 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Amortization expense of intangible assets totaled $12 million in 2017, $9 million in 2016, and $10 million in 2015.
Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is approximately $12 million for 2018 and $14 million for
2019 through to 2022.

13. Asset Retirement Obligations
Our AROs relate mostly to the retirement of offshore pipelines and certain onshore assets, obligations related to
right-of-way agreements and contractual leases for land use. AROs are adjusted each period for liabilities incurred or
settled during the period, accretion expense and any revisions made to the estimated cash flows.
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A reconciliation of movements to our ARO liabilities is as follows:
2017 2016
(in
millions)

Balance at beginning of year $46 $48
Accretion expense 2 2
Revisions in estimated cash flows 1 (4 )
Liabilities settled (11 ) —
Balance at the end of year (a) $38 $46
__________
(a) Amounts included in Regulatory and other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
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14. Debt
December 31,
2017 2016
(in millions)

Spectra Energy Partners
2.95% senior notes due September 2018 $500 $500
Variable-rate senior term loan due November 2018 — 400
Variable-rate senior notes due June 2020 400 —
4.60% senior notes due June 2021 250 250
4.75% senior notes due March 2024 1,000 1,000
3.50% senior notes due March 2025 500 500
3.375% senior notes due October 2026 600 600
5.95% senior notes due September 2043 400 400
4.50% senior notes due March 2045 700 700
Texas Eastern
6.00% senior notes due September 2017 — 400
4.125% senior notes due December 2020 300 300
2.80% senior notes due October 2022 500 500
7.00% senior notes due July 2032 450 450
Algonquin 3.51% senior notes due July 2024 350 350
East Tennessee 3.10% senior notes due December 2024 190 200
Express-Platte
6.09% senior secured notes due January 2020 110 110
7.39% subordinated secured notes due 2017 — 12
Change in fair value of debt hedged (2 ) 4
Other (a) (39 ) (37 )
Credit Facility borrowings (b)(d) 270 —
Commercial paper (c)(d) 1,984 574
Total debt 8,463 7,213
Current portions of long-term debt (500 ) (416 )
Commercial paper (c)(d) — (574 )
Total long-term debt $7,963 $6,223
_________
(a)Primarily debt discount and debt issuance costs.
(b)Weighted-average rate was 2.61% as of December 31, 2017.
(c)Weighted-average rate was 1.92% as of December 31, 2017 and 1.12% as of December 31, 2016.

(d)

Credit facility borrowings and commercial paper are supported by our long-term committed credit facility. In the
fourth quarter, we determined we had both the intent and ability to refinance them on a long-term and therefore
reclassified the corresponding amounts as long-term debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheet effective December
31, 2017.

Secured Debt. Secured debt, totaling $110 million as of December 31, 2017, includes project financings for
Express-Platte. The notes are secured by the assignment of the Express-Platte transportation receivables and by the
Express Canada assets.
Floating Rate Debt. Debt included approximately $2,654 million of floating-rate debt as of December 31, 2017 and
$974 million as of December 31, 2016. The weighted average interest rate of borrowings outstanding that contained
floating rates was 2.03% at December 31, 2017 and 1.44% at December 31, 2016.
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Credit Facility
The following table provides details of our external committed credit facility at December 31, 2017.

Maturity Dates (a) Total
Facility

Draws
(b) Available

(in millions)
Spectra Energy Partners, LP 2022 $2,500 $2,254 $ 246
_______
(a) Includes $336 million of commitments that expire in 2021.
(b) Includes facility draws and commercial paper issuances that are back-stopped by the credit facility.

Debt Covenant

Our credit facility agreement and term debt indentures include common events of default and covenant provisions,
including a financial covenant, whereby accelerated repayment and/or termination of the agreements may result if we
were to default on payment or violate certain covenants. As of December 31, 2017, we were in compliance with those
covenants.
15. Fair Value Measurements
The following presents, for each of the fair value hierarchy levels, assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.

Consolidated Balance Sheet Caption December 31, 2017
Description TotalLevel 1 Level 2 Level 3

(in millions)
Canadian equity securities Regulatory and other assets 3 3 — —
Interest rate swaps Other assets, net 4 — 4 —
Commodity swaps Other assets, net 2 — — 2
Total Assets $9 $ 3 $ 4 $ 2

Interest rate swaps Current Liabilities - Other 3 — 3 —
Interest rate swaps Regulatory and other liabilities 5 — 5 —
Total Liabilities 8 — 8 —

Consolidated Balance Sheet Caption December 31, 2016
Description Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(in millions)
Corporate debt securities Cash and cash equivalents $145 $ — $ 145 $ —
Corporate debt securities Regulatory and other assets 9 — 9 —
Canadian equity securities Cash and cash equivalents 1 1 — —
Interest rate swaps Regulatory and other assets 9 — 9 —
Total Assets $164 $ 1 $ 163 $ —
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Level 1
Level 1 valuations represent quoted unadjusted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2 Valuation Techniques
Fair values of our financial instruments that are actively traded in the secondary market, including our long-term debt,
are determined based on market-based prices. These valuations may include inputs such as quoted market prices of the
exact or similar instruments, broker or dealer quotations, or alternative pricing sources that may include models or
matrix pricing tools, with reasonable levels of price transparency.
For interest rate swaps, we utilize data obtained from a third-party source for the determination of fair value. Both the
future cash flows for the fixed-leg and floating-leg of our swaps are discounted to present value. 
Level 3 Valuation Techniques
Level 3 valuation techniques include the use of pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar
techniques where at least one significant model assumption or input is unobservable. Level 3 financial instruments
also include those for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.
Financial Instruments. The fair values of financial instruments that are recorded and carried at book value are
summarized in the following table. Judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair
value. These estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts we could have realized in current markets.

December 31,
2017

December 31,
2016

Consolidated Balance Sheet Caption Book
Value

Approximate
Fair Value

Book
Value

Approximate
Fair Value

(in millions)
Note receivable, noncurrent (a) $71 $ 71 $ 71 $ 71
Long-term fixed - rate debt, including current maturities (b) 5,8506,211 6,2726,455
________ 
(a)Included within Investments in and Loans to Unconsolidated Affiliates.
(b)Excludes unamortized items and fair value hedge carrying value adjustments.
The fair value of long-term debt is determined based on market-based prices as described in the Level 2 valuation
technique described above and are classified as Level 2.
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term investments, accounts receivable, note
receivable-noncurrent, accounts payable, credit facility borrowings, long-term variable-rate debt, commercial paper
and short-term money market securities are not materially different from their carrying amounts because of the
short-term nature of these instruments or because the stated rates approximate market rates.
During the 2017 and 2016 periods, there were no material adjustments to assets and liabilities measured at fair value
on a nonrecurring basis.
16. Risk Management and Hedging Activities
Interest Rate Risk. Changes in interest rates expose us to risk as a result of our issuance of variable and fixed-rate debt
and commercial paper. We manage our interest rate exposure by limiting our variable-rate exposures to percentages of
total debt and by monitoring the effects of market changes in interest rates. We also enter into financial derivative
instruments including, but not limited to, interest rate swaps to manage and mitigate interest rate risk exposure. For
interest rate derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the
derivative as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. There were no significant amounts of gains or losses recognized in net income
related to fair value hedges in 2017, 2016 or 2015.
At December 31, 2017, we had “pay floating — receive fixed” interest rate swaps outstanding with a total notional amount
of $900 million to hedge against changes in the fair value of our fixed-rate debt that arise as a result of changes in
market interest rates. These interest rate swaps expire in 2018 and thereafter. These swaps
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also allow us to transform a portion of the underlying interest payments related to our long-term fixed-rate debt
securities into variable-rate interest payments in order to achieve our desired mix of fixed and variable-rate debt.
We have elected to present the fair value of interest rate swaps that had netting or rights of offset arrangements on a
gross basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The following table shows the impact of interest rate swaps assets and
liabilities had we elected to present these contracts on a net basis:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Gross Amounts
Presented
in
the
Consolidated
Balance
Sheets

Amounts
Available
for Offset

Net
Amount

Gross Amounts
Presented
in
the
Consolidated
Balance
Sheets

Amounts
Available
for Offset

Net
Amount

Description(in millions)
Assets $4 $ (1 ) $ 3 $ 9 $ — $ 9
Liabilities (8 ) 1 (7 ) — — —

For interest rate derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the gain or loss on the
derivative is recorded in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and is reclassified into earnings when the hedge item
impacts earnings. Any ineffective portion of a cash flow hedge’s change in fair value is recognized each period in
earnings. Since the third quarter of 2017, we have entered into pre-issuance interest rate swaps which were designated
and qualified as cash flow hedges. The information of these cash flow swaps are presented as follows:

Date of Maturity & Contract Type Accounting Treatment
Average
Interest
Rate

Notional
Amount

Fair Value at
December 31,
2017 2016

(in millions)
Contracts maturing in 2018 Cash Flow Hedge 2.44 % 1,360 $ 1 —
Contracts maturing in 2020 Cash Flow Hedge 2.70 % 250 (3 ) —
We estimate that less than $1 million of AOCI will be reclassified into net income in the next 12 months related to
these swaps.
The effects of derivative instruments on the Statements of Income and the Statements of Other Comprehensive
Income are shown as follows:
Years ended
December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

Amount
of
unrealized
loss
recognized
in
Other
Comprehensive
Income
Cash
flow
$ (2 ) $ —$ —
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hedges
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interest
rate
swaps
Amount
of
(gain)/loss
reclassified
from
AOCI
to
earnings
(effective
portion)
Cash
flow
hedges
-
interest
rate
swaps
(a)

— — (1 )

Amount
of
(gain)/loss
reclassified
from
AOCI
to
earnings
(ineffective
portion)
Cash
flow
hedges
-
interest
rate
swaps
(a)

(1 ) — —

_________
(a) Reported within Interest Expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Foreign Currency Risk. We are exposed to minimal foreign currency risk from our Express Canada operations. As a
result, our earnings, cash flows and other comprehensive income (loss) are exposed to minimal fluctuations resulting
from foreign exchange rate variability. There are no hedges in place to mitigate the exposure.
Commodity Price Risk Our earnings and cash flows are exposed to changes in commodity prices as a result of our
ownership interests in certain assets. These commodities include natural gas, crude oil, power and NGL. We employ
financial derivative instruments to fix a portion of the variable price exposures that arise from physical transactions
involving these commodities. We use non-qualifying derivative instruments to manage commodity price risk. In July
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Express Canada operations until 2020. As a result, we recognized an unrealized gain of $2 million included with
Storage of Natural Gas and Other on the Consolidated Statements of Income and a hedge asset of $2 million included
with Other Assets, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Credit Risk. Our principal customers for natural gas transmission and storage services are local distribution
companies, industrial end-users, and natural gas marketers located throughout the United States and Canada.
Customers on the Express-Platte system are primarily refineries located in the Rocky Mountain and Midwestern states
of the United States. Other customers include oil producers and marketing entities. We have concentrations of
receivables from these sectors throughout these regions. These concentrations of customers may affect our overall
credit risk in that risk factors can negatively affect the credit quality of the entire sector. Where exposed to credit risk,
we analyze the customers’ financial condition prior to entering into an agreement, establish credit limits and monitor
the appropriateness of those limits on an ongoing basis. We also obtain parental guarantees, cash deposits, or letters of
credit from customers to provide credit support, where appropriate, based on our financial analysis of the customer
and the regulatory or contractual terms and conditions applicable to each contract.
17. Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities

December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(in millions)

Accounts Receivable $(7 ) $(26) $8
Other Current Assets (31 ) 5 5
Accounts Payable 11 (20 ) 27
Taxes Payable 7 16 (3 )
Other Current Liabilities (2 ) 58 (6 )
Other, assets (117 ) (127 ) (70 )
Other, liabilities — 10 (4 )
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities, net $(139) $(84) $(43)
18. Commitments and Contingencies
Future Minimum Commitments
At December 31, 2017, we had commitments that have remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year as
details below:

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Thereafter Total
(in millions)

Annual debt maturities (a) (b) $500 $— $810 $250 $2,754 $ 4,190 $8,504
Interest obligations (b) 260 247 238 210 204 1,756 2,915
Operating leases 15 19 18 17 19 120 208
Total $775 $266 $1,066 $477 $2,977 $ 6,066 $11,627
_________

(a)
Includes senior notes, commercial paper, and credit facility borrowings based on the credit facility's maturity date.
We have the ability under certain debt agreements to call and repay the obligations prior to scheduled maturities.
Therefore, the actual timing of future cash repayments could be materially different than presented above.

(b)This table excludes the debt issuance that occurred subsequent to December 31, 2017 (Note 23).

We lease assets in various areas of our operations. Consolidated rental expense for operating leases classified in Net
Income was $21 million in 2017, $22 million in 2016 and $23 million in 2015, which is included in Operating,
Maintenance and Other on the Consolidated Statements of Income. Above is a summary of future minimum lease
payments under operating leases which at inception had noncancellable terms of more than one year. We had no
capital lease commitments at December 31, 2017.
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We have the ability under certain debt facilities to repay the obligations prior to scheduled maturities. Therefore, the
actual timing of future cash repayments could be materially different than presented above.
Environmental 

We are subject to various federal, state and local laws relating to the protection of the environment. These laws and
regulations can change from time to time, imposing new obligations on us.

Environmental risk is inherent to liquid hydrocarbon and natural gas pipeline operations, and we and our affiliates are,
at times, subject to environmental remediation at various contaminated sites. We manage this environmental risk
through appropriate environmental policies and practices to minimize any impact our operations may have on the
environment. We expense or capitalize, as appropriate, expenditures for ongoing compliance with environmental
regulations that relate to past or current operations. We expense amounts we incur for remediation of existing
environmental contamination caused by past operations that do not benefit future periods by preventing or eliminating
future contamination. We record liabilities for environmental matters when assessments indicate that remediation
efforts are probable, and the costs can be reasonably estimated. Estimates of environmental liabilities are based on
currently available facts, existing technology and presently enacted laws and regulations taking into consideration the
likely effects of inflation and other factors. These amounts also consider prior experience in remediating contaminated
sites, other companies’ clean-up experience and data released by government organizations. Our estimates are subject
to revision in future periods based on actual costs or new information and are included in Regulatory and other
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets at their undiscounted amounts. We always have the potential of incurring
additional costs in connection with environmental liabilities due to variations in any or all of the categories described
above, including modified or revised requirements from regulatory agencies, in addition to fines and penalties, as well
as expenditures associated with litigation and settlement of claims. We evaluate recoveries from insurance coverage
separately from the liability and, when recovery is probable, we record and report an asset separately from the
associated liability in our consolidated financial statements.

We recognize liabilities for other commitments and contingencies when, after fully analyzing the available
information, we determine it is either probable that an asset has been impaired, or that a liability has been incurred and
the amount of impairment or loss can be reasonably estimated. When a range of probable loss can be estimated, we
accrue the most likely amount, or if no amount is more likely than another, we accrue the minimum of the range of
probable loss. We expense legal costs associated with loss contingencies as such costs are incurred.
General Insurance
We are included in the comprehensive insurance program maintained by Enbridge for its subsidiaries. This program
includes insurance coverage in types and amounts and is subject to certain deductibles, terms, exclusions and
conditions that are generally consistent with coverage considered customary for our industry.
Other Litigation

We are subject to various other legal and regulatory actions and proceedings which arise in the normal course of
business, including interventions in regulatory proceedings and challenges to regulatory approvals and permits by
special interest groups. While the final outcome of such actions and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty,
we believe that the resolution of such actions and proceedings will not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial position or results of operations.
Legal costs related to the defense of loss contingencies are expensed as incurred. We had no material reserves for legal
matters recorded as of December 31, 2017 or 2016 related to litigation.
Other Commitments and Contingencies
See Note 19 for a discussion of guarantees and indemnifications.
19. Guarantees
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In the normal course of conducting business, we enter into agreements which indemnify third parties and affiliates.
Examples include indemnifying counterparties pursuant to sale agreements for assets or businesses in matters such as
breaches of representations, warranties or covenants, loss or damages to property, environmental liabilities, changes in
laws, valuation differences, litigation and contingent liabilities.
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On December 29, 2016, we issued performance guarantees to a third party and an affiliate on behalf of an equity
method investee. These guarantees were issued to enable the equity method investee to enter into long-term
transportation contracts with the third party. While the likelihood is remote, the maximum potential amount of future
payments we could have been required to make as of December 31, 2017 was $90 million. These performance
guarantees expire in 2032.

We cannot reasonably estimate the maximum potential amounts that could become payable to third parties and
affiliates under these agreements; however, historically, we have not made any significant payments under
indemnification provisions. While these agreements may specify a maximum potential exposure, or a specified
duration to the indemnification obligation, there are circumstances where the amount and duration are unlimited. The
indemnifications and guarantees have not had, and are not reasonably likely to have, a material effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, earnings, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
20. Issuances of Units
We have entered into equity distribution agreements for our at-the-market offering program up to $1 billion, pursuant
to which we may offer and sell, through sales agents, common units representing limited partner interests at prices we
deem appropriate. Sales of common units, if any, will be made by means of ordinary brokers’ transactions on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE), in block transactions, or as otherwise agreed to between the sales agent and us. We
intend to use the net proceeds from sales under the program for general partnership purposes, which may include debt
repayment, future acquisitions and capital expenditures.

December 31,
2017 2016 2015
Number
of
Units

Amount
Number
of
Units

Amount
Number
of
Units

Amount

Common Units (in millions)
Balance at beginning of year 308.4$11,650 285.1$10,527 294.7 $10,474
Net income — 240 — 850 — 976
Common units issued (a) 4.0 171 23.3 1,058 12.0 547
Common units retired — — — — (21.6 )(794 )
Distribution to limited partners — (878 ) — (785 ) — (728 )
Consideration over net disposed assets — — — — — 51
Other, net — — — — — 1
Balance at end of year 312.4$11,183 308.4$11,650 285.1 $10,527
_________

(a)
Gross proceeds of $173 million, $1,064 million and $553 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016,
and 2015, respectively; net issuance costs of $2 million, $6 million and $7 million for the years ended December
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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December 31,
2017 2016 2015
Number
of
Units

Amount
Number
of
Units

Amount
Number
of
Units

Amount

General Partner Units (in millions)
Balance at beginning of year 6.3$ 452 5.8$ 336 6.0 $ 284
Net income — 369 — 311 — 249
General partner units issued 0.13 0.522 0.2 11
General partner units retired — — — — (0.4)(15 )
Attributed deferred tax benefit — (89 ) — 59 — 39
Distribution to general partner — (349 ) — (276 ) — (233 )
Consideration over net disposed assets — — — — — 1
Balance at end of year 6.4$ 386 6.3$ 452 5.8 $ 336
21. Equity-Based Compensation
Phantom units are granted under a Long-Term Incentive Plan to certain employees of Spectra Energy and vest over
three years. We did not award phantom units in 2017, 2016 or 2015. The remaining 7,500 units vested in 2015.
We account for the phantom units as liability awards. Compensation expense for these awards was not significant in
2017, 2016 or 2015.
22. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter Total

(in millions, except per-unit amounts)
2017
Operating revenues (a) $700 $ 695 $ 693 $ (138 ) $1,950
Operating income (loss) 332 343 374 (486 ) 563
Net income (loss) 354 367 471 (489 ) 703
Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interests 317 328 460 (496 ) 609
Net income (loss) per limited partner unit (a) 0.74 0.75 1.15 (1.86 ) 0.77
2016
Operating revenues $624 $ 618 $ 628 $ 663 $2,533
Operating income 324 305 280 319 1,228
Net income 311 305 296 327 1,239
Net income attributable to controlling interests 298 287 275 301 1,161
Net income per limited partner unit (b) 0.80 0.71 0.64 0.70 2.84

(a)Operating revenues in the fourth quarter of 2017 are presented inclusive of the establishment of an $860 million
estimated regulatory liability for the cost of service assets as a result of the 2017 US tax reform.

(b)Quarterly net income per limited partner unit amounts are stand-alone calculations and may not be additive to
full-year amounts due to rounding and changes in outstanding units.

23. Subsequent Events

On January 9, 2018, Texas Eastern issued $400 million in aggregate principal amount of 3.50% senior notes due in
2028 and $400 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.15% senior notes due in 2048. Texas Eastern used a portion
of the net proceeds from the offering to fund expansion projects and capital expenditures on the Texas Eastern
pipeline system. In addition, Texas Eastern used a portion of the net proceeds from the offering to make a
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distribution to Spectra Energy Partners to repay funds advanced to Texas Eastern in September 2017, which Texas
Eastern used to repay a $400 million debt maturity. We used the proceeds received to repay commercial paper and
credit facility borrowings, which was incurred primarily to fund Texas Eastern’s capital expenditures, as well as those
of our other subsidiaries.
On January 21, 2018, we entered into an Equity Restructuring Agreement with our GP, LP (the Equity Restructuring
Agreement), pursuant to which the incentive distribution rights and the 2% general partner interest in us held by GP,
LP were converted into 172,500,000 newly issued common units and a non-economic general partner interest in us.
Distributions by us with a record date after January 21, 2018 will be made based on the terms of our limited
partnership agreement in effect at the time the distribution is declared. Immediately after the execution of our Equity
Restructuring Agreement, a new limited partnership agreement was entered into. The distribution for the fourth
quarter of 2017 was declared after January 21, 2018, and will be paid in accordance with this new limited partnership
agreement.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Under the supervision and with the participation of the management of our General Partner, including the principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31,
2017, and, based upon this evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded
that these controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Under the supervision and with the participation of the management of our General Partner, including the principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, we have evaluated changes in internal control over financial reporting
(as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2017 and found no change that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The report of management required under this Item 9A is contained in Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data, Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The attestation report required under this Item 9A is contained in Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data, Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART III.
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Management of Spectra Energy Partners, LP

We do not have directors or officers, which is commonly the case with publicly traded partnerships. Our operations
and activities are managed by our general partner, Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, which in turn is managed by
its general partner, Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC, (GP, LLC). GP, LLC is wholly owned by a subsidiary of
Enbridge. The officers and directors of GP, LLC are responsible for managing us. All of the directors (the Directors)
of the General Partner are elected annually by Spectra Energy Transmission, LLC, the sole member of GP, LLC, and
all of the officers (the Officers) of GP, LLC serve at the discretion of the directors. Unitholders are not entitled to
participate, directly or indirectly, in management or operations.

Board of Directors and Officers

The Board of Directors of GP, LLC (the Board of Directors) currently has seven members, three of whom are
independent as defined under the independence standards established by the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). The
NYSE does not require a listed limited partnership to have a majority of independent directors on its general partner’s
board of directors or to establish a compensation committee or a nominating committee. However, the Board of
Directors has established an audit committee (the Audit Committee) and a conflicts committee (the Conflicts
Committee) to address conflict situations. The Audit Committee consists of Nora Mead Brownell, Michael G. Morris
and J.D. Woodward, III, and the Conflicts Committee consists of Nora Mead Brownell, Michael G. Morris and J.D.
Woodward, III.

The Board of Directors annually reviews the independence of directors and affirmatively makes a determination that
each director expected to be independent has no material relationship with the General Partner, either directly or
indirectly as a partner, unitholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the General Partner. The
members of the Audit Committee each meet the independence and experience standards established by the NYSE and
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) as amended, to serve on an audit committee of a board of
directors.

The Officers manage the day-to-day affairs of our business. All of our executive management personnel are
employees of Spectra Energy or one of its affiliates and devote a portion of their time to our business and affairs. We
also utilize a significant number of employees of Spectra Energy and its affiliates and its indirect subsidiaries to
operate our business and provide general and administrative services. We reimburse Spectra Energy and its affiliates
for allocated expenses of operational personnel who perform services for our benefit and for allocated general and
administrative expenses.

The General Partner does not receive any management fee or other compensation for its management of our
partnership under the amended and restated omnibus agreement with Spectra Energy (Omnibus Agreement) or
otherwise. Under the terms of the Omnibus Agreement, we reimburse Spectra Energy for the provision of various
general and administrative services for our benefit. We also reimburse Spectra Energy for direct expenses incurred on
our behalf. The partnership agreement provides that the General Partner will determine the expenses that are allocable
to us.
Directors and Executive Officers
The following table shows information regarding the current directors and executive officers of the General Partner.
Directors are elected for one-year terms.
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Name Age Position with Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC
William T. Yardley 53 President and Chairman
Nora Mead Brownell 70 Director
Michael G. Morris 71 Director
Laura Buss Sayavedra 50 Director and Vice President, Sponsored Vehicles
John K. Whelen 58 Director
J.D. Woodward, III 68 Director
Vern Yu 51 Director and Chief Development Officer
Allen C. Capps 47 Controller
Patrick J. Hester 66 Vice President, Law
Stephen J. Neyland 50 Vice President - Finance
Wanda M. Opheim 55 Treasurer

Directors hold office until the earlier of their death, resignation, removal or disqualification or until their successors
have been elected and qualified. Officers serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors. There are no family
relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.

William T. Yardley has been a director on the Board of Directors of the General Partner since August 2012 and was
elected to serve as Chairman and President of the General Partner in February 2017. Mr. Yardley also currently serves
as Executive Vice President and President of Gas Transmission and Midstream of Enbridge and Executive Vice
President, Gas Transmission and Midstream of Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. Prior to assuming his current role in
2017, Mr. Yardley served as President of Spectra Energy Corp’s U.S. Transmission and Storage business, leading the
business development, project execution, operations and environment, health and safety efforts associated with
Spectra Energy’s U.S. portfolio of assets. Mr. Yardley joined Spectra Energy in 2000 as General Manager of
Marketing for one of Spectra Energy’s predecessor subsidiaries, Duke Energy Gas Transmission. He later served as
Vice President of Marketing and Business Development and as Group Vice President of Spectra Energy’s northeastern
U.S. assets and operations. Mr. Yardley is a member of the Leadership Council of the American Gas Association and
brings his business and industry expertise to the board as well as his knowledge of our assets.
Nora Mead Brownell was appointed to the Board of Directors of the General Partner in May 2007 and serves on the
Audit Committee and the Conflicts Committee. In May 2001, Ms. Brownell was confirmed as Commissioner of the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) where she served until the expiration of her term in June 2006. Prior
to the FERC, Ms. Brownell served as a member of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission from 1997 to 2001.
Ms. Brownell also currently serves on the Board of Directors of National Grid plc and Tangent Energy Solutions, a
private next generation energy services resource. Ms. Brownell is co-founder and principal of ESPY Energy
Solutions, LLC, a woman-owned independent energy consulting company. Ms. Brownell was elected to serve as a
director because she brings a diverse background that includes experience in business, finance and the regulatory
arenas.

Michael G. Morris was appointed as a Director to the Board of Directors of the General Partner in February 2017 and
serves on the Audit Committee and the Conflicts Committee. Prior to assuming his current role in 2017, Mr. Morris
served as a Director of Spectra Energy Corp from 2013 to February 2017. Mr. Morris also served American Electric
Power Company, Inc. (AEP) as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer beginning in January 2004; he
retired as Chief Executive Officer of AEP in November 2011 and as Chairman of AEP in December 2013. He served
as a director of AEP until April 2014. Prior to joining AEP, Mr. Morris was Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer of Northeast Utilities System from 1997 to 2003. Mr. Morris brings experience to our Board of Directors as a
seasoned executive who has been responsible for the management of complex, regulated business operations in the
energy industry.
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Laura Buss Sayavedra was elected a director of the General Partner and Enbridge Management in February 2017. 
Also in February 2017, Ms. Sayavedra was elected as a director and appointed as the Vice President of Sponsored
Vehicles of Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC. In November of 2017, Ms. Sayavedra was appointed Vice President
Finance Transformation and ERP Program Lead. From February to November 2017, Ms. Sayavedra served as Vice
President, Sponsored Vehicles of the General Partner. Ms. Sayavedra served as Vice President and Treasurer and head
of enterprise risk management for Spectra Energy Corp from January 2014 to February 2017. Ms. Sayavedra
previously served as Vice President-Strategy for Spectra Energy Corp in 2013, as Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Spectra Energy Partners, LP from 2008 to 2013, and as Vice President, Strategic Development and
Analysis of Spectra Energy Corp from 2007 to 2008. Prior to that, Ms. Sayavedra served as a Vice President of
Operations & Analytics of Duke Energy North America, and also served in various finance and business development
roles of increasing responsibility. Ms. Sayavedra brings to our Board her experience in finance and capital markets
transactions as well as treasury and risk management.

John K. Whelen was elected to serve as a director on the Board of Directors of the General Partner in February 2017.
He also currently serves as the Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of Enbridge. Prior to assuming his
current role, Mr. Whelen held several executive positions in treasury, risk management, corporate planning and
development, and financial reporting at Enbridge, including Senior Vice President, Finance.

J.D. Woodward, III was appointed to the Board of Directors of the General Partner in September 2009 and serves on
the Conflicts Committee as Chairman and on the Audit Committee as Chairman. Mr. Woodward is a managing
member of Woodward-Apple Springs, LLC, an owner and operator of natural gas midstream assets in East Texas, and
a managing member of OGP Trinity, LLC, an owner of gas production properties and various leasehold interests in
East Texas. He retired in 2006 from Atmos Energy as Senior Vice President of Non-Utility Operations.
Mr. Woodward was selected to serve as a director because he understands the operations of a large corporation, with a
particular focus on customer issues. Mr. Woodward is an experienced senior executive in the energy industry.

Vern Yu was elected to serve as a director on the Board of Directors of the General Partner and was appointed Chief
Development Officer of the General Partner in February 2017. He also currently serves as the Executive Vice
President & Chief Development Officer of Enbridge. Prior to assuming his current role, Mr. Yu held several senior
executive positions at Enbridge, including Senior Vice President, Corporate Planning and Chief Development Officer,
since joining Enbridge in 1993. Prior to joining Corporate Development, Mr. Yu served as Senior Vice President of
Business and Market Development for Enbridge's Liquids Pipelines division.
Allen C. Capps was appointed Controller of the General Partner in February 2017. He also currently serves as the
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of Enbridge and as Controller of Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. and
Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. Prior to assuming his current role, Mr. Capps served as Vice President and
Controller of Spectra Energy Corp, responsible for the financial accounting and reporting functions. Mr. Capps has a
strong knowledge of the energy industry and years of experience in senior finance and treasury roles.

Patrick J. Hester was appointed Vice President, Law of the General Partner in February 2017. Prior to assuming his
current role, Mr. Hester served as Vice President and Deputy General Counsel for Spectra Energy Corp's U.S.
pipelines.

Stephen J. Neyland was appointed Vice President-Finance of the General Partner in February 2017. He also currently
serves on the Board of Directors of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C., and Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. Prior
to assuming his current role in 2017, Mr. Neyland served as Vice President - Finance of Enbridge Energy
Management, L.L.C., and Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. from October 2010 to July 2017 and as Controller of
Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. and Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C, effective September 2006. Mr. Neyland
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brings to our Board his broad experience in finance and accounting.

Wanda M. Opheim was appointed Treasurer of the General Partner in February 2017. She also currently serves as the
Senior Vice President, Treasury of Enbridge and as the Treasurer of Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. and Enbridge
Energy Management, L.L.C. Prior to assuming her current role in 2017, Ms. Opheim served as Senior Vice President,
Chief Accounting Officer of Enbridge. Since joining Enbridge 25 years ago, Ms. Opheim has held roles of increasing
responsibility within the Enbridge finance group, including Vice President, Corporate Planning and Development,
Vice President, Treasury & Tax, Senior Director, Tax Services and Manager, Cash Management & Banking.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the General Partner’s directors and executive officers, and persons who
own more than 10% of any class of our equity securities to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
and the NYSE initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our common units and other equity
securities. The General Partner prepares and files these reports on behalf of the General Partner’s directors and
executive officers. To our knowledge, all Section 16(a) reporting requirements applicable to the General Partner’s
directors and executive officers were complied with during 2017, other than the following forms, which were filed
late:

•Steve Neyland (Vice President-Finance) had one late Form 3.

•Nora Mead Brownell, J.D. Woodward III, and Michael G. Morris each had one late Form 4 (reflecting grant of annual
director compensation).

Audit Committee

The Board of Directors has a standing audit committee composed of Nora Mead Brownell, Michael G. Morris and
J.D. Woodward, III, each of whom is able to understand fundamental financial statements and at least one of whom
has past experience in accounting or related financial management experience. The Board has determined that each
member of the Audit Committee is independent under Section 303A.02 of the NYSE listing standards and
Section 10A(m)(3) of the Exchange Act, as amended. In making the independence determination, the Board
considered the requirements of the NYSE. The Audit Committee has adopted a charter, which has been ratified and
approved by the Board of Directors. Mr. Woodward has been designated by the Board of Directors as the Audit
Committee’s financial expert meeting the requirements promulgated by the SEC based upon his education and
employment experience.

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in its oversight of the integrity of our financial statements and
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and corporate policies and controls. The Audit Committee has the
sole authority to retain and terminate our independent registered public accounting firm, approve all auditing services
and related fees and terms thereof, and pre-approve any non-audit services to be rendered by our independent
registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee is also responsible for confirming the independence and
objectivity of our independent registered public accounting firm. Our independent registered public accounting firm
has unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.
Conflicts Committee

The Board of Directors has a standing Conflicts Committee, which is comprised of Nora Mead Brownell, Michael G.
Morris and J.D. Woodward, III. The Conflicts Committee reviews specific matters that the Board of Directors
believes may involve conflicts of interest. The Conflicts Committee will determine if the resolution of the conflict of
interest is in the best interest of our partnership. The members of the Conflicts Committee may not be officers,
employees or security holders of the General Partner, or directors, officers or employees of its affiliates. Any matters
approved by the Conflicts Committee in good faith will be conclusively deemed to be fair and reasonable to us,
approved by all of our partners, and not a breach by the General Partner of any duties it may owe us or our
unitholders.

Principles for Corporate Governance and Code of Business Ethics
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We have adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines that outline the important policies and practices regarding our
governance. We have also adopted a Statement on Business Conduct, which supersedes Spectra Energy’s Code of
Business Ethics and is applicable to our directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors in all countries
where we do business.

Copies of the Statement on Business Conduct, the Corporate Governance Guidelines and the Audit Committee
Charter are available online at www.spectraenergypartners.com. Copies of these items are also available free of charge
in print to any unitholder who sends a request to the office of Investor Relations of our partnership at
5400 Westheimer Court, Houston, Texas 77056, 800-481-2804.
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Executive Sessions of the Board of Directors

As set forth in our Corporate Governance Guidelines and in accordance with NYSE listing standards, the Board of
Directors holds executive sessions on a regular basis without the presence of management. Mr. Woodward, a
non-management director, presides over all executive sessions.

Communications by Unitholders

Unitholders and other interested parties may communicate with any and all members of the Board of Directors,
including non-management directors, by transmitting correspondence by mail or facsimile addressed to one or more
directors by name or to the chairman of the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board of Directors at the
following address and fax number; Name of the Director(s), c/o Corporate Secretary, Spectra Energy Partners, LP,
5400 Westheimer Court, Houston, Texas 77056 fax: (713) 386-3173.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
References below to “Spectra Energy Partners,” “we,” “our,” “us,” or similar terms refer to Spectra Energy Partners, LP.
We do not directly employ any of the persons responsible for managing our business. We are managed and operated
by our General Partner, which operated as a subsidiary of Spectra Energy prior to the Merger. As a result of the
Merger, Spectra Energy became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enbridge such that Enbridge now controls our General
Partner. All of the executive officers of our General Partner are employed and compensated by either Enbridge or an
affiliate of Enbridge (including Spectra Energy).
Our General Partner does not have a compensation committee. The responsibility and authority for
compensation-related decisions for our executive officers resides with Enbridge or its affiliates. Any such
compensation decisions will not be subject to any approvals by the board of directors of our General Partner or any
committees thereof. Our executive officers do not receive separate amounts of compensation in relation to the services
they provide to us. We reimburse Spectra Energy or its affiliates for compensation-related expenses attributable to the
portion of each executive officer’s time dedicated to providing services to us, including expenses for salary, bonus,
long-term incentives and other amounts paid. Please reference Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transaction for more information. Although we bear an allocated portion of the costs of providing compensation and
benefits to employees who serve as executive officers of our General Partner, we have no control over such costs and
will not establish or direct the compensation policies or practices of Enbridge or its affiliates.
This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides information about the design and purpose of compensation
programs applicable to our "Named Executive Officers."
For 2017, our "Named Executive Officers" were:
Name Position
Gregory L. Ebel(1) Former Chief Executive Officer
William T. Yardley Chief Executive Officer
J. Patrick Reddy(1) Former Chief Financial Officer
Stephen J. Neyland Chief Financial Officer
Vern Yu Chief Development Officer
Patrick J. Hester Vice President, Law
Laura Sayavedra Vice President, Sponsored Vehicles
Reginald D. Hedgebeth(1) Former General Counsel
(1) Messrs. Ebel, Reddy and Hedgebeth served in their
respective capacities from January 1, 2017 through February
27, 2017, the date of the Merger.
For 2017, compensation for our Named Executive Officers reflects the total compensation paid by Enbridge or
Spectra Energy, except for Messrs. Neyland and Yu, whose compensation only includes compensation paid by
Enbridge after the Merger close. A portion of compensation is allocated to us pursuant to Spectra Energy’s allocation
methodology and subject to the terms of the Omnibus Agreement.
Prior to the Merger, Enbridge made decisions regarding the compensation paid to all Enbridge officers, and Spectra
Energy made decisions regarding the compensation paid to Spectra Energy officers. Thus, the Board of Directors of
Spectra Energy upon recommendation of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Spectra Energy
(Spectra Energy Compensation Committee) made decisions regarding Mr. Ebel's compensation; the Spectra Energy
Compensation Committee approved compensation for Messrs. Yardley, Reddy, Hedgebeth and Ms. Sayavedra; and
Mr. Ebel approved Mr. Hester's compensation. This Compensation Discussion and Analysis will focus on
compensation decisions made by Spectra Energy in 2017. Accordingly, all compensation paid by Spectra Energy is
discussed and reported herein in accordance with SEC rules in the narratives and tables that follow.
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Compensation for Mr. Yu is approved by the Enbridge Human Resources Compensation Committee (HRC
Committee), and Mr. Neyland's compensation is determined as part of an Enbridge enterprise-wide review process.
Because Enbridge made all decisions relating to the compensation paid to Messrs. Neyland and Yu for 2017, those
decisions are not discussed in this Compensation Discussion and Analysis.
The elements of compensation discussed below, and Enbridge and Spectra Energy’s decisions with respect to
determination on payments, were approved by the respective company's committee and were not subject to approval
by the Board of Directors of our General Partner. The discussion and analysis of Enbridge's compensation practices
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 will be provided in Enbridge Inc.'s proxy statement which will be
available upon its filing on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov and on Enbridge's website at www.enbridge.com.
Reimbursement for Compensation of Named Executive Officers
Under the terms of the Omnibus Agreement, we reimburse Spectra Energy for the provision of various corporate,
general and administrative services for our benefit. Pursuant to these arrangements, Spectra Energy provides
centralized corporate functions for us, including legal, accounting, compliance, treasury, insurance, risk management,
health, safety and environmental, human resources, credit, payroll, internal audit and tax. Thus, we reimburse Spectra
Energy for the expenses incurred to provide these services for us along with the cost of employee benefits and general
and administrative expenses associated with such personnel. Reimbursement amounts are determined within the sole
discretion of our General Partner. Reimbursement amounts are generally based on the amount of time allocated to us
during the applicable period.
Objectives of the Compensation Program
Our executive compensation program is designed to attract and retain executives who are qualified to successfully
execute our long-term objectives by rewarding both continued employment and performance using a combination of
short-term cash incentives and long-term equity compensation. The elements of Spectra Energy’s compensation
program discussed below are intended to provide a compensation package designed to drive performance and reward
contributions in support of the business strategies and link total compensation to both individual and company
performance with significant percentages of potential earning opportunities based on the achievement of
predetermined performance targets.
Role of Compensation Consultant and the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee in Setting Compensation
Since 2007, the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee retained ExeQuity, LLP (ExeQuity) as its independent
compensation consultant. ExeQuity reported directly to the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee on matters
related to executive compensation, advised it on best practices and analyzed meeting materials prepared by
management. It conferred, independently of management, with the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee and its
Chair and discussed compensation matters with management on a limited basis at the direction of the Spectra Energy
Compensation Committee. ExeQuity performed no other services for Spectra Energy other than its services as
independent consultant to the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee.
Since 2002, Mercer, an independent compensation consultant, has provided similar guidance to the HRC Committee
on compensation matters to ensure Enbridge's programs are appropriate, market competitive and continue to meet
intended goals.
Review of Market Data and Individual Factors/Risks
Market pay levels are one of many factors considered in setting compensation for the Named Executive Officers. In
setting compensation targets, data from both published compensation surveys as well as information from public
filings of companies in the markets where Spectra Energy competes for talent are considered with the intention to
provide compensation levels in the market median of compensation available to our executives in the marketplace.
Specifically, the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee has used the Aon Hewitt Total Compensation
Management Database as a source of market information because the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee has
believed that the survey provides a reliable indication of compensation practices in companies that are comparable in
size as measured by revenues. The peer group used for determining 2017 compensation included the following:
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CenterPoint Energy, Inc. Dominion Resources, Inc. DTE Energy Company
Enbridge Inc. Energy Transfer Partners Enterprise Products Partners
EQT Corporation Kinder Morgan, Inc. NextEra Energy, Inc
Plains All American Pipeline Sempra Energy TransCanada Corporation
The Williams Companies, Inc.
In addition to using benchmark survey data, external market conditions and individual factors are also taken into
account when establishing the total compensation for each Named Executive Officer. Some of these factors include
the executive’s performance, level of experience, position, tenure and responsibilities, along with competitive pressures
for that position within the industry, economic developments, the condition of labor markets and the financial and
market performance of Spectra Energy.
The Spectra Energy Compensation Committee has also reviewed the alignment of each compensation component with
the interests of unitholders and shareholders. The overall compensation mix of short-term and long-term compensation
opportunities and the components of such incentive opportunities are balanced to mitigate undue risk and promote the
financial and operational health of Spectra Energy. In addition, total incentive opportunities have a greater emphasis
on the long term to drive long-term decisions.
Elements of the Compensation Program
The following table sets forth the principal components of compensation for our Named Executive Officers:
Component Rationale Structure

Salary
Provides compensation for performing day-to-day
responsibilities and creates a framework for incentive awards,
which are structured as a percentage of base salary.

Paid in cash at regular intervals
throughout the year.

Short-Term
Incentive

Makes significant percentage of cash compensation
contingent on specific financial targets and operational
performance goals.

Annual cash payment based on the
achievement of defined financial and
operational performance goals.

Long-Term
Incentive

Rewards long-term stock performance, aligns the interests of
executives with those of unitholders and shareholders of
Enbridge, creates equity ownership and provides a retention
incentive.

Phantom awards.

Retirement
Provides retention incentives, rewards service through
retirement-related payments and provides savings
opportunities.

Company-sponsored retirement and
savings plans.

Salary

Salaries were established based upon job responsibilities, level of experience, company and individual performance,
comparisons to the salaries of executives in similar positions obtained from peer data, market surveys and internal
comparisons. For 2017, base salary increases were no more than 2.35% for the Named Executive Officers and
short-term and long-term incentive levels were maintained at 2016 levels due to the Merger.

Short-Term Incentives

Short-term incentive (STI) opportunities were designed to compensate executives for financial as well as operational
and individual performance during the year. Threshold, target and maximum incentive opportunities
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for each participant were established as a percentage of base salary and each participant was eligible to receive up to
200% of the amount of their STI target. Target STI awards are expressed as a percentage of base annual salary for our
Named Executive Officers.

Prior to the Merger, all of the Named Executive Officers, except Messrs. Neyland and Yu, were eligible to participate
in the Spectra Energy short-term incentive program (Spectra Energy STIP). Following the Merger, all Named
Executive Officers, except Messrs. Ebel, Reddy and Hedgebeth, participated in the Enbridge short-term incentive
program (Enbridge STIP). This program is summarized below and discussed in more detail in Enbridge Inc.'s 2017
proxy statement.

Spectra Energy STIP

Due to the Merger, the 2017 Spectra Energy STIP was simplified in its design to utilize key metrics that could also be
measured for a pro-rated performance year. Eighty percent was based on Spectra Energy’s earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) and twenty percent was based on Spectra Energy Transmission’s
Environmental Health Safety (EHS) and Operations Scorecard. Cash incentives were earned based on the achievement
of corporate financial and operational goals as determined by the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee for the
Spectra Energy STIP. The maximum that could be earned for performance on financial or operational measures was
200% of target. The amount that could be paid for performance at a specified minimum level for any measure was
50% of the target amount. 100% of the target amount would be paid for performance at the target level. No
compensation was to be earned if performance fell below a specified minimum level.

EBITDA was chosen as a measure of the effectiveness of Spectra Energy’s ability to generate earnings without
considering interest, taxes, depreciation or amortization. Target performance was set at US$3,241 million, a level that
matched corporate forecasts. Maximum payout level was set at US$3,435 million, and minimum performance was set
at US$3,144 million, levels deemed by the Spectra Energy Compensation Committee to be significant challenges or
minimally acceptable.

The EHS and Operations Scorecard was designed, given the importance of safe and reliable operations, to provide
alignment and a common culture in all field and office locations. We emphasized the importance of a zero-injury
culture by measuring improvement in frequency rates for recordable employee and contractor injury and preventable
vehicle incidents. Annual targets in these areas are set to achieve incremental improvement in performance over prior
years’ results.

Enbridge STIP

Enbridge STIP was designed to emphasize integration priorities for Enbridge as well as key financial, safety and
operational objectives, as shown in the table below.

Two equally weighted metrics were utilized to incentivize corporate performance: 1) Available Cash Flow from
Operations (ACFFO) per share, which we now refer to as Distributable Cash Flow (DCF) per share (calculation
methodology remains unchanged) and an 2) Integration Scorecard. DCF per share was chosen as a measure of
Enbridge's corporate performance, as a focus on DCF will enhance transparency of Enbridge's cash flow growth,
increase comparability of results relative to peers, and will help ensure full value recognition for Enbridge's superior
assets, growth and commercial arrangements. Target performance was set at $3.75 per share, at a level that matched
corporate forecasts. Maximum payout level was set at $4.15 per share, and minimum performance was set at $3.60 per
share, levels deemed by the Committee to be significant challenges or minimally acceptable. An Integration Scorecard
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was created, as the integration objectives are paramount to Enbridge's success. These objectives include advancing
targeted financial synergies, creating meaningful engagement plans to motivate and energize employees and achieving
established integration plans for each line of business.

Business Unit Scorecards were designed to measure the performance and success each business unit in areas such as
financial performance, safety, operations and integrity, project execution and workforce development.

114

Edgar Filing: Spectra Energy Partners, LP - Form 10-K

177



Table of Contents

Individual objectives were also established for Messrs. Yardley, Neyland and Yu based on strategic and operational
priorities related to their responsibilities and other factors.
2017 Enbridge STIP*

Mr. Yardley Mr. Neyland Mr. Yu Ms. Sayavedra and Mr. Hester
Measure Percentage
Enbridge Corporate Performance 40% 30% 60% 50%
Business Unit Scorecard 40 50 20 50
Individual Performance 20 20 20 —
*Due to Messrs. Ebel, Reddy and Hedgebeth's separation from service with Spectra Energy, they
did not participate in the Enbridge STIP.

Determination of 2017 Short-Term Incentive Payments
Due to the Merger, the 2017 Short-Term Incentive Payment consists of Spectra Energy STIP results from January 1,
2017 through February 26, 2017 and Enbridge STIP results from February 27, 2017 through December 31, 2017. Cash
incentives were earned based on the achievement of corporate and business unit financial and operational goals and
individual performance, as determined by the applicable committee for each STIP.
Spectra Energy STIP Results
Upon the Merger close, Spectra Energy management prepared a report on the achievement of financial and
EHS/operational goals under the Spectra Energy STIP, which was reviewed and approved by the Spectra Energy
Compensation Committee.
For the period of January 1, 2017 through February 26, 2017, Spectra Energy EBITDA achieved 84.21% of on-target
level performance and the Spectra Energy Transmission EHS and Operations Scorecard achieved 155.44% of targeted
performance. The Merger Agreement between Spectra Energy and Enbridge provided that Spectra Energy STIP final
results would be the greater of (i) actual results or (ii) targeted levels of achievement. Because the combined results of
the measures produced below target results, payments for the period of January 1, 2017 through February 26, 2017
were paid at targeted levels of achievement.
Enbridge STIP Results
At the end of the 2017 cycle, management prepared a report on the achievement of financial, integration, safety and
operational goals under the Enbridge STIP. The HRC Committee reviewed and approved results, along with any
proposed adjustments based on individual performance.
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For the period of February 27, 2017 through December 31, 2017, the following results were achieved (expressed as a
percentage of achievement at the on-target level of performance):
Measures: Results (2)

Enbridge Corporate Performance(1) 95%
Business Unit Scorecards:
     Corporate 116%
     Energy Services 86%
     Gas Transmission and Midstream 143%
(1) Enbridge DCF per share achieved 80% of
on-target level performance and the Enbridge
Integration Scorecard achieved 140% of
on-target level performance. To better align
with the shareholder experience, key
performance indicators and cost containment
measures undertaken in 2017, management
recommended that the calculated result be
reduced to 95% for all employees at the vice
president level and above, including all of the
Named Executive Officers.

(2) Individual performance results for Mr.
Yardley, Neyland and Yu were 175%, 100%,
and 175%, respectively.

The following table is a summary of base salary, incentive targets and the payments made to our Named Executive
Officers:
2017 STI AWARDS(1)

Name Base
Salary

STI
Target

Actual
Short-Term
Incentive
Payout

William T. Yardley(2) $550,00075 % $ 504,737
Stephen J. Neyland 276,357 35 % 98,015
Vernon D. Yu 359,138 65 % 224,646
Laura Sayavedra 285,000 45 % 134,202
Patrick J. Hester 279,474 40 % 162,634
(1) Due to their separation from service, Messrs.
Ebel, Reddy and Hedgebeth received payment
under their Spectra Energy Change in Control
Agreements in lieu of any payments under the
Spectra Energy STIP.
(2) Mr. Yardley's incentive target changed from 60%
to 75% after the Merger.
Long-Term Incentives 
Spectra Energy provides long-term incentive opportunities to our executive officers to achieve an alignment of
executive and shareholder interests and motivate executives to achieve strategic goals that will maximize shareholder
value.
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In 2017, eligible employees of Spectra Energy, including all Named Executive Officers except Messrs. Neyland and
Yu, participated in the Spectra Energy long-term incentive plan (Spectra Energy LTIP) prior to the Merger. The
targets for the long-term incentive opportunities are established as a percentage of base salary.
2017 Phantom Unit Award
Due to the Merger, the 2017 Spectra Energy LTIP was simplified in its design, and 100% of the 2017 grant consisted
of phantom units that generally vest at the end of three years if the grantee remains continuously employed, at which
time half are paid in cash and half are paid in stock, all based on the fair market value of common shares at the time of
vesting. Dividend equivalents are accumulated from the date of grant and paid in cash only on the number of phantom
units that actually vest.
Upon completion of the Merger and in accordance with the Merger Agreement, each Spectra Energy phantom unit
was converted to 0.984 Enbridge phantom unit. Therefore, upon vesting, each unit will be paid out based on the fair
market value of Enbridge common shares.
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Determination of 2015 Performance Share Unit Awards 
The 2015 performance unit cycle commenced on January 1, 2015 and due to the Merger, ended on February 26, 2017.
The performance share units vested at the Merger close based on Spectra Energy’s total shareholder return for the
truncated performance period as compared to the total shareholder return of the 2015 Peer Group for LTI which
included the following:
CenterPoint Energy, Inc. Consolidated Edison, Inc. Dominion Resources, Inc.
DTE Energy Company Enbridge Inc. Equitable Resources Inc
Kinder Morgan, Inc. National Fuel Gas Company NiSource Inc.
ONEOK, Inc. PG&E Corporation Public Service Enterprise Group
Sempra Energy TransCanada Corporation The Williams Companies, Inc.
Xcel Energy Inc.
Spectra Energy's total shareholder return for the truncated performance period was 28.07% which is at the 89th
percentile of the 2015 Peer group for LTI and resulted in a payout percentage of 200% of target. Dividend equivalents
are accumulated from the date of grant and paid in cash only on the number of performance share units that actually
vest. Upon completion of the Merger, each Spectra Energy performance share unit was converted to 0.984 Enbridge
performance share unit. Therefore, upon vesting, each unit was paid out based on the fair market value of Enbridge
common shares at time of vesting.
Determination of 2016 Performance Share Unit Awards
The 2016 performance unit cycle commenced on January 1, 2016 and due to the Merger, ended on February 26, 2017.
The performance result is determined based on Spectra Energy’s total shareholder return for the truncated performance
period as compared to the total shareholder return of the 2016 Peer Group for LTI which was comprised of (1)
companies in the S&P 500 Energy Index; (2) companies in the Alerian Index, excluding DCP Midstream Partners LP
(DCP) and Spectra Energy Partners (SEP, LP); and (3) Enbridge Inc. and TransCanada Corporation. Spectra Energy's
total shareholder return for the truncated performance period was 88.60%, which is at the 90th percentile of the 2016
Peer Group for LTI and resulted in a performance result of 200% of target. Dividend equivalents are accumulated
from the date of grant and paid in cash only on the number of performance share units that actually vest. These awards
generally vest on December 31, 2018 if the grantee remains continuously employed. Upon completion of the Merger,
each Spectra Energy performance share unit was converted to 0.984 Enbridge performance share unit. Therefore, upon
vesting, each unit will be paid out based on the fair market value of Enbridge common shares at time of vesting.
Retirement and Other Benefits
Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plans
All of our Named Executive Officers participate in retirement benefits provided by Enbridge or Spectra Energy. These
benefits are discussed in detail below under "Pension Benefits" and "Nonqualified Deferred Compensation."
Health and Welfare Benefits
Our Named Executive Officers were eligible to participate in the same health and welfare benefits plans, including
medical, dental, life and disability programs sponsored and maintained by Spectra Energy that are generally made
available to other employees. Following the Merger, our Named Executive Officers continued participation in these
plans or participated in similar programs sponsored by Enbridge.
Perquisites
At the direction of the Board, Mr. Ebel used company aircraft for personal travel in limited circumstances, primarily
for business efficiency. Mr. Ebel's family and guests may accompany him on business and personal trips. Other
Named Executive Officers were not allowed to initiate personal trips on corporate or chartered
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aircraft; however, they were permitted to invite their spouses or guests to accompany them on business trips when
space was available. When a Named Executive Officer's use of aircraft or a guest's travel does not meet the Internal
Revenue Service's standard for business use, the cost of that travel was imputed as income to the executive regardless
of whether it results in incremental cost to Spectra Energy.
Employment or Change in Control Agreements
Each Named Executive Officer, except Messrs. Neyland, Yu and Hester, had entered into a change in control
agreement with Spectra Energy. Terms of the agreements are discussed in more detail below under "Potential
Payments upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control."
Other Compensation Policies
Stock Ownership Policy
Our Named Executive Officers are now subject to Enbridge's stock ownership guidelines, as it is important for all
officers of Enbridge to have a meaningful equity stake in Enbridge. Owning Enbridge common shares is a tangible
way to align the interest of executives with those of Enbridge shareholders.
Anti-Hedging Policy
Our Named Executive Officers are now subject to Enbridge's insider trading and reporting guidelines which, among
other things, prohibit directors, officers, employees and contractors of Enbridge and its subsidiaries from purchasing
financial instruments that are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of equity securities granted as
compensation or held by the Named Executive Officer, as such positions delink the intended alignment of employee
and shareholder interests.
Clawback Policy
Enbridge has an incentive compensation clawback policy that allows Enbridge to recover, from current and former
executives, certain incentive compensation amounts awarded or paid to individuals if the individuals engaged in fraud
or willful misconduct that led to inaccurate financial results reporting, regardless of whether the misconduct resulted
in a restatement of all or a part of Enbridge’s financial statements.
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Compensation Tables
This section provides information regarding the compensation of our Named Executive Officers for 2015 through
2017. It reflects total compensation paid by Spectra Energy for each fiscal year and for 2017, compensation paid by
Enbridge and our affiliates after the Merger, which includes compensation that is allocated to us.
Summary Compensation Table

Name and Principal
Position Year Salary Bonus(a)Stock

Awards(b)
Option
Awards(c)

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan
Compensation(d)

Change in
Pension
Value
and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings(e)(f)

All Other
Compensation
(g)

Total

William T. Yardley
Chief Executive Officer 2017$541,667 $ —$1,319,387$342,875 $ 504,737 $ 412,000 $ 81,666 $3,202,332

Stephen J. Neyland
Chief Financial Officer 2017232,781 150,000— 230,765 98,015 489,000 32,513 1,233,074

Vernon D. Yu
Chief Development Office 2017303,272 175,182— 428,905 224,646 846,000 34,310 2,012,315

Laura Sayavedra
Vice President, Sponsored
Vehicles

2017283,410 245,700179,324 — 134,202 144,000 27,237 1,013,873

Patrick J. Hester
Vice President, Law 2017278,405 — 164,488 — 162,634 112,000 31,828 749,355

Gregory L. Ebel Former
President and Chief
Executive Officer(h)

2017454,580 1,000,0005,278,442 — — 448,000 8,713,213 15,894,235
20161,133,000— 6,856,766 1,112,4002,486,350 1,186,940 307,582 13,083,038
20151,133,000— 6,664,813 — 1,889,001 313,525 342,321 10,342,660

J. Patrick Reddy
Former Chief Financial
Officer(h)

2017188,329 — 1,261,530 — — 45,000 2,827,280 4,322,139
2016640,000 — 1,638,615 266,085 957,593 287,097 153,103 3,942,493
2015634,900 — 1,595,076 — 749,016 162,207 96,312 3,237,511

Reginald D. Hedgebeth
Former General Counsel(h)

2017142,687 — 938,815 — — 49,000 2,429,753 3,560,255
2016570,800 — 1,219,958 197,775 797,116 262,043 98,861 3,146,553
2015568,033 — 1,184,285 — 573,548 73,150 74,850 2,473,866

__________

(a)

Mr. Neyland received a cash retention bonus for being identified as a key individual in the successful execution of
the Merger. Mr. Yu and Ms. Sayavedra received bonuses in recognition of their critical efforts in securing and
completing the Merger. Mr Ebel received a bonus for his extraordinary efforts in respect of the Merger including,
but not limited to, integration activities, planning and efforts to capture synergy targets and timely close.

(b)
Stock Awards column reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of performance share units and phantom units
awards granted each year as shown in the “2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards” table, and computed in accordance
with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718.

(c)

Option Awards column reflects the aggregate compensation cost to be recognized over the service period
determined as of the grant date under FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures.
Assuming that the highest level of performance conditions will be achieved, the value of Mr. Yardley's award at the
grant date is $1,100,555 based on the closing stock price of our common stock on the grant date.

(d)Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column includes amounts payable under the respective STI Plans for the
2017, 2016 and 2015 performance periods. All remaining amounts, unless deferred, were paid, respectively, in
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(e)
Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings represents the change in actuarial
present value of accumulated benefit during the twelve-month period ending on December 31 for each plan listed
below for each Named Executive Officer:
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William
T.
Yardley

Stephen
J.
Neyland

Vernon
D. Yu

Laura
Sayavedra

Patrick J.
Hester

Gregory L.
Ebel

J.
Patrick
Reddy

Reginald D.
Hedgebeth

Spectra Energy Retirement Cash
Balance Plan $94,000 — $— $ 110,000 $83,000 $ 65,000 $19,000$ 48,000

Spectra Energy Executive Cash
Balance Plan 115,000 — — 34,000 29,000 195,000 26,000 1,000

Pension Choices Plan for Employees
of Westcoast Energy Inc. and
Affiliated Companies

— — — — — 32,000 — —

Spectra Energy Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan — — — — — 156,000 — —

Retirement Plan for Employees of
Enbridge Inc. and Affiliates — — 155,000 — — — — —

Pension Plan for Employees of
Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. and
Affiliates

— — 1,000 — — — — —

The Enbridge Supplemental Pension
Plan — — 690,000 — — — — —

Enbridge Employee Services, Inc.
Employees' Pension Plan 25,000 111,000 — — — — — —

Enbridge Employee Services, Inc.
Supplemental Pension Plan for
United States Employees

178,000 378,000 — — — — — —

Total $412,000$489,000$846,000$ 144,000 $112,000$ 448,000 $45,000$ 49,000
(f)    Mr. Yu's 2017 pension value and a portion of Mr. Ebel’s pension value for 2017, 2016 and 2015 which would be
paid in Canadian dollars has been converted to U.S. dollars using the WM Reuters spot rate of 0.7981 on December
31, 2017, and the Bloomberg spot rate of 0.7440 on December 31, 2016 and 0.7226 on December 31, 2015.
(g)    All Other Compensation column includes the following for 2017:

William
T.
Yardley

Stephen
J.
Neyland

Vernon
D. Yu

Laura
Sayavedra

Patrick
J.
Hester

Gregory L.
Ebel

J. Patrick
Reddy

Reginald D.
Hedgebeth

Matching contributions under
Retirement Savings Plan $16,200 — $— $ 16,200 $16,080$16,200 $11,358 $9,275

Make-whole matching contribution
credits under the Spectra Energy
Corp Executive Savings Plan

20,660 — — 2,112 7,921 91,869 151 820

Employee Savings Plan — 13,762 7,482 — — — — —
Premiums for life insurance
coverage provided under life
insurance plans

1,500 570 — 1,424 7,727 2,622 14,478 2,622

Matching charitable contributions
made in the name of the executive
under Spectra Energy's matching gift
policy

11,100 — — 7,500 100 11,275 — 7,500

Post-employment payment(1) — — — — — 8,563,179 2,801,293 2,409,536
Gift from Board of Directors — — — — — 12,920 — —
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Personal use of Company aircraft(2) 2,591 — — — — 4,533 — —
Tax return preparation services — — — — — 10,615 — —
Parking allowance — 1,258 3,192 — — — — —
Perquisite allowance 29,615 16,923 23,636 — — — — —
Total $81,666 $ 32,513 $34,310$ 27,237 $31,828$8,713,213$2,827,280$2,429,753
__________

(1)
The amounts shown represent payments made to Messrs. Ebel, Reddy and Hedgebeth in accordance with their
change in control agreements after their separation from service. See payment details under the "Former Officers"
section below.

(2)

The amounts shown as “Personal use of Company aircraft” reflect the personal use of Spectra Energy’s aircraft by the
Named Executive Officers. When travel costs did not meet the IRS standard for “business use,” income was imputed
to the officer even though such travel may not have resulted in incremental cost to Spectra Energy. The
methodology used to compute the incremental cost of this benefit was based on the hourly variable cost for the use
of the aircraft, plus any tax-deduction disallowance.

(h)Messrs. Reddy and Hedgebeth’s employment terminated on March 1, 2017 and Mr. Ebel’s employment terminated
on April 15, 2017.  
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2017 Grants of Plan-Based Awards

Name Grant
Date

Committee
Approval
Date

Estimated Possible Payouts
Under
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards
(a)

Estimated Future Payouts
Under
Equity Incentive Plan Awards
(b)

All Other
Stock
Awards:Number of
Shares of
Stock or
Units
(#)

All Other
Option
Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Options
(#)

Exercise
or Base
Price of
Option
Awards
($/Sh)(c)

Grant
Date Fair
Value of
Stock
and
Option
Awards
($)(d)

Threshold
($) Target ($) Maximum

($)
Threshold
(#)
Target
(#)

Maximum
(#)

William T.
Yardley

199,582 399,164 798,329
2/27/20172/1/2017 —4,670 9,340 195,440
2/27/20172/1/2017 —8,561 17,122 356,052
2/14/20172/13/2017 17,908 767,895
2/28/20172/1/2017 56,580 41.64 342,875

Stephen J.
Neyland

40,737 81,473 162,947
2/28/20172/1/2017 38,080 41.64 230,765

Laura
Sayavedra

64,125 128,250 256,500
2/14/20172/13/2017 4,182 179,324

Patrick J.
Hester

55,895 111,790 223,580
2/14/20172/13/2017 3,836 164,488

Vernon D.
Yu

98,563 197,127 394,254
2/28/20172/1/2017 93,300 C$55.84428,905

Gregory
L.Ebel

637,794 1,275,588 2,551,175
2/14/20172/13/2017 123,098 5,278,442

J. Patrick
Reddy

245,640 491,280 982,560
2/14/20172/13/2017 29,420 1,261,530

Reginald
D.
Hedgebeth

204,475 408,951 817,901

2/14/20172/13/2017 21,894 938,815

__________

(a)
This column shows the potential payout opportunities established for the 2017 performance period under the terms
of the respective STI plans. The actual amounts paid to each executive under the plan for 2017 are disclosed in the
Summary Compensation Table.

(b)

For Mr. Yardley, awards were made in units of Enbridge common stock and were granted and are earned based on
performance metrics outlined in the proxy statement on Enbridge's website at www.enbridge.com. In addition, Mr.
Yardley forfeited 14,500 of performance units granted in 2016 by Spectra Energy in consideration for the grant of
8,561 performance units.

(c)Exercise prices are reflected in the currency granted.

(d)

Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of each award computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For
all Named Executive Officers, except Mr. Yu, the per-share full grant date fair value for the phantom units and
stock options were $42.88, and $6.06, respectively. For Mr. Yardley, the grant date fair value of his 4,670
performance share units was $41.85 and $41.59 for his 8,561 performance share units. For Mr. Yu, the grant date
fair value of his options was $5.76, which has been converted to U.S. dollars using the WM Reuters exchange rate
of 0.7981.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2017 Fiscal Year-End

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number
of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Unexercisable

Option
Exercise
Price(a)(b)

Option
Expiration
Date

Number of
Shares
or
Units of
Stock
That Have
Not Vested
(#)(c)

Market
Value of
Shares or
Units of
Stock
That Have
Not Vested

Equity
Incentive
Plan Awards:
Number of
Unearned
Shares, Units
or Other
Rights
That Have
Not Vested
(#)(d)

Equity
Incentive
Plan Awards:
Market or
Payout Value
of Unearned
Shares, Units or
Other Rights
That Have
Not Vested

William T. Yardley(e) 19,647 39,294 $ 28.87 2/16/2026 53,823$2,105,018 27,757 $ 1,085,566
— 56,580 41.64 2/28/2027

Stephen J. Neyland

7,700 — 21.97 2/16/2020 10,218 $ 399,660
33,450 — 28.99 2/14/2021
39,100 — 38.65 3/2/2022
41,050 — 43.84 2/27/2023
27,225 9,075 44.09 3/13/2024
12,315 12,315 47.41 3/2/2025
7,338 22,012 32.56 3/1/2026
— 38,080 41.64 2/28/2027

Vernon D. Yu

70,200 — C$ 19.81 2/25/2019 9,084 356,420 29,448 1,155,384
43,200 — C$ 23.30 2/16/2020
73,600 — C$ 28.78 2/14/2021
64,350 — C$ 38.34 3/2/2022
83,250 — C$ 44.83 2/27/2023
62,513 20,837 C$ 48.81 3/13/2024
41,170 41,170 C$ 59.08 3/2/2025
24,188 72,562 C$ 44.06 3/1/2026
— 93,300 C$ 55.84 2/28/2027

Laura Sayavedra 16,184632,956
Patrick J. Hester 14,806579,063
Gregory L. Ebel 405,408— 28.87 2/16/2026
J. Patrick Reddy 96,973 — 28.87 2/16/2026
Reginald D.
Hedgebeth — —

__________

(a)

Options expiring on February 16, 2026 were granted by Spectra Energy. For these options, the number of Enbridge
stock options equal 0.984 of each Spectra Energy outstanding option upon the Merger close and the exercise price
is equal to the closing price of Spectra Energy common stock on the date of grant divided by 0.984. For all other
options, the exercise price is equal to the weighted average trading price of an Enbridge common share on the listed
exchange for the last five trading days before the grant date.

(b)Exercise prices are reflected in the currency granted.
(c)
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Messrs. Yardley and Hester and Ms. Sayavedra received Spectra Energy phantom units on February 14, 2017,
February 16, 2016, and February 17, 2015 which, subject to certain exceptions, vest on the third anniversary of the
date of grant. Also included are the performance share units granted February 16, 2016 with a performance cycle
that commenced on January 1, 2016 and due to the Merger, ended on February 26, 2017. The performance result is
200% of target, which, subject to certain exceptions, vest on December 31, 2018 if the grantee remains
continuously employed. For these Spectra Energy phantom and performance share units, the number of Enbridge
units is equal to 0.984 of each Spectra Energy unit upon the Merger close. Mr. Yu received Enbridge restricted
stock units on January 1, 2017, which, subject to certain exceptions, cliff vest on December 1, 2019.

(d)
Messrs. Yardley, Neyland and Yu received Enbridge performance share units, with the performance cycle
commencing on January 1, 2016 and January 1, 2017, which subject to certain exceptions, are eligible for vesting
on December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019, respectively. As directed by Instruction 3 to
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Item 402(f)(2) of the SEC’s Regulation S-K, the performance share units are reported at the maximum number of units.
(e) Mr. Yardley forfeited 14,500 of Spectra Energy performance share units upon the Merger close in consideration
for the grant of 8,561 performance share units, which, subject to certain exceptions, are eligible for vesting on
December 31, 2018.
2017 Option Exercises and Stock Vested

Name

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Shares
Acquired on Exercise
(#)

Value Realized on
Exercise(a)

Number of Shares
Acquired on Vesting
(#)(b)

Value Realized on
Vesting(c)

William T. Yardley — $ —41,622 $ 1,867,431
Stephen J. Neyland 2,750 64,969 1,913 73,841
Vernon D. Yu 70,200 1,708,989 4,653 182,987
Laura Sayavedra — — 2,966 135,558
Patrick J. Hester — — 7,628 342,954
Gregory L. Ebel — — 461,839 20,446,547
J. Patrick Reddy — — 160,733 7,020,229
Reginald D. Hedgebeth72,078 751,774 133,427 5,856,411
__________

(a)The value realized upon exercise of the options is based on the difference between the closing price of a share of
common stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price per share of the options.

(b)
The stock awards reported in this column were settled in shares, with the exception of 6,789 shares for Mr.
Yardley, 1,869 shares for Ms. Sayavedra, 1,672 shares for Mr. Hester, 176,135 shares for Mr. Ebel, 54,807 shares
for Mr. Reddy and 41,007 shares for Mr. Hedgebeth, which were settled in cash.

(c)

The aggregate dollar amount realized upon vesting is based on the closing price of a share of common stock on the
respective vesting date and includes the following cash payments for dividend equivalents on vested awards:
$159,420 to Mr. Yardley; $12,002 to Ms. Sayavedra; $26,746 to Mr. Hester; $1,273,927 to Mr. Ebel; $388,937 to
Mr. Reddy; and $351,176 to Mr. Hedgebeth.

Pension Benefits
This section contains information regarding benefits available to our Named Executive Officers under Spectra Energy
and Enbridge’s pension and retirement plans. Enbridge provides pension benefits that are intended to assist its retirees
with their retirement income needs. Spectra Energy Partners' executive officers actively participated in pension plans
sponsored by Enbridge or an affiliate in 2017.
All Named Executive Officers, except Messrs. Yardley, Neyland and Yu, actively participate in the Spectra Energy
Retirement Cash Balance Plan (RCBP) and the Spectra Energy Executive Cash Balance Plan (ECBP).
Messrs. Yardley, Neyland and Yu participate in the Enbridge Senior Management Pension Plan (Enbridge SMPP).
Prior to the Merger, Mr. Yardley participated in the Spectra Energy RCBP and the Spectra Energy ECBP.
Spectra Energy RCBP and ECBP
The RCBP is a non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan that is intended to satisfy the requirements for
qualification under Section 401(a) of the United States Internal Revenue Code. The RCBP generally covers
non-bargaining employees of Spectra Energy and affiliates. The RCBP provides benefits under a “cash balance account”
formula.
All Named Executive Officers that participate have satisfied the eligibility requirements to receive the account benefit
upon termination of employment. The RCBP benefit is payable in the form of a lump sum in the amount credited to
the hypothetical account at the time of benefit commencement. Payment is also available in the form of an annuity
based on the actuarial equivalent of the account balance.
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The amount credited to the hypothetical account is increased with monthly pay credits equal to (a) for participants
with combined age and service of less than 35 points, 4% of eligible monthly compensation, (b) for participants with
combined age and service of 35 to 49 points, 5% of eligible monthly compensation, (c) for participants with combined
age and service of 50 to 64 points, 6% of eligible monthly compensation, and (d) for participants with combined age
and service of 65 or more points, 7% of eligible monthly compensation. If the participant earns more than the Social
Security wage base, the account is credited with additional pay credits equal to 4% of eligible compensation above the
Social Security wage base. Interest credits are credited monthly, with the interest rate determined quarterly based upon
the 30-year Treasury rate, but no less than 4% and no greater than 9%.
For the RCBP, eligible monthly compensation is equal to Form W-2 wages, plus elective deferrals under a 401(k) or
cafeteria plan. Compensation does not include severance pay (including payment for unused vacation), expense
reimbursements, allowances, cash or non-cash fringe benefits, moving expenses, cash incentives for performance
periods in excess of one year, transition pay, long term incentive compensation (including income resulting from any
share-based awards such as stock options, share appreciation rights, phantom units or restricted shares) and other
compensation items to the extent described as not included for purposes of benefit plans or the RCBP.
The benefit of participants in the RCBP may not be less than determined under certain prior benefit formulas
(including optional forms). In addition, the benefit under the RCBP is limited by maximum benefits and compensation
limits under the United States Internal Revenue Code.
The ECBP is a non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan that is not intended to satisfy the requirements for
qualification under Section 401(a) of the United States Internal Revenue Code. Benefits earned under the ECBP are
attributable to (a) compensation in excess of the annual compensation limit (U.S. $270,000 for 2017) under the United
States Internal Revenue Code that applies to the determination of pay credits under the RCBP, (b) restoration of
benefits in excess of a defined benefit plan maximum annual benefit limit (U.S. $215,000 for 2017) under the United
States Internal Revenue Code that applies to the RCBP, and (c) supplemental benefits granted to a particular
participant. Generally, benefits earned under the RCBP and the ECBP vest upon completion of three years of service,
and, with certain exceptions, vested benefits generally become payable upon termination of employment with Spectra
Energy.
Enbridge SMPP
Enbridge sponsors a number of non-contributory qualified pension plans, including:
•the Pension Plan for Employees of Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. and Affiliates (EGD RPP);
•the Retirement Plan for the Employees of Enbridge and its Canadian Affiliates (EI RPP); and
•the Enbridge Employee Services, Inc. Employees’ Pension Plan (US QPP).
Enbridge also sponsors a number of non-contributory, supplemental nonqualified retirement plans, which provide
defined benefits in excess of the tax-qualified plans’ limits, including:
•the Enbridge Supplemental Pension Plan (EI SPP); and
•the Enbridge Employee Services Inc. Supplemental Pension plan for U.S. Employees (US SPP).
We collectively refer to the EGD RPP, the EI RPP, the US QPP and the EI SPP as the Enbridge Pension Plans. For
service prior to becoming a senior management employee, there are different pension benefits depending on an
employee’s hire date with Enbridge. For Canadian non-senior management employees, the EI RPP provides employees
with a choice to participate in a non-contributory defined contribution component, where benefits equal (a) 1.6% of
the average of the participant’s Highest Average Earnings multiplied by (b) the number of years of credited service and
offset for a portion of the government's Canada Pension Plan benefit. Highest Average Earnings is equal to the sum of
(i) the average of the participant's highest annual base salary during the three consecutive years out of the last ten
years of credited service and (ii) 50% of the average of the participant's three highest annual performance bonuses
paid in the last five years of credited service. EGD RPP benefits for service prior to July 2001 are capped at registered
plan limits with no SPP benefits payable. U.S. employees have cash balance benefits with pay credits ranging from
4% to 10% depending on the employees' pensionable pay, age and years of service. Other provisions are aligned with
the senior
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management provisions described below.
For service while a senior management employee, the Enbridge Pension Plans provide a yearly pension payable in the
normal form (60% joint and survivor) equal to: (a) 2% of the participant's Highest Average Earnings multiplied by
(b) the number of credited years of service. An unreduced pension is payable if retirement is after age 55 with 30 or
more years of service or after age 60. Early retirement reductions apply if a participant retires and does not meet these
requirements. Retirement benefits paid from the Enbridge Pension Plans are indexed at 50% of the annual increase in
the consumer price index. No named executive officers have qualified for an unreduced pension at the end of the fiscal
year.
Mr. Yu participated in the defined contribution component of the EI RPP for a few years. No further company or
employee contributions are permitted to be made to this plan.
Pension Choices Plan for Employees of Westcoast Energy Inc. and Spectra Energy Supplemental Pension Plan
Mr. Ebel participated in the Pension Choices Plan for Employees of Westcoast Energy Inc. and Affiliated Companies
(Pension Plan) and the Spectra Energy Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) while he resided in Canada
prior to 2007. The Pension Plan is registered under the Income Tax Act and under the Pension Benefits Act (Ontario).
The executive component of the Pension Plan is a non-contributory defined-benefit plan that provides a pension based
on 2% of the annualized average of the executive’s highest consecutive 36 months’ salary and cash incentive multiplied
by his years of service while located in Canada. The Income Tax Act imposes a limit on the amount of benefits that
can be paid from a registered pension plan.
The SERP is primarily intended to restore benefits under the Pension Plan to the level that would be available absent
this limit. Mr. Ebel’s benefit accruals related to the Duke SERP were transferred to the Spectra Energy SERP effective
with the spin-off. SERP benefits are paid from the general revenues of Spectra Energy generally as a life annuity.
Effective with his transfer to the United States, Mr. Ebel began participating in the Spectra Energy RCBP, and his
active participation in the Pension Plan was suspended, although compensation (but not additional service) with
Spectra Energy will be used in the calculation of his Pension Plan and SERP benefit.
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The table below provides information, determined as of December 31, 2017, about each of our or our affiliates' plans
that provide for payments or other benefits to our named executive officers at, following or in connection with
retirement:
Pension Benefits Table

Name Plan Name

Number of
Years of
Credited
Service (#)

Present
Value of
Accumulated
Benefit

Payments
During Last
Fiscal Year

William T.
Yardley

Spectra Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan 16.30 $ 508,000 $ —
Spectra Energy Executive Cash Balance Plan 16.30 565,000 —
Enbridge Employee Services, Inc. Employees' Pension Plan 0.83 25,000 —
Enbridge Employee Services, Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan for
United States Employees 0.83 178,000 —

Stephen J.
Neyland

Enbridge Employee Services, Inc. Employees' Pension Plan 16.00 334,000 —
Enbridge Employee Services, Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan for
United States Employees 13.00 1,407,000 —

Vernon D. Yu

Retirement Plan for Employees of Enbridge Inc. and Affiliates 16.58 688,000 —
Pension Plan for Employees of Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. and
Affiliates 0.17 7,000 —

The Enbridge Supplemental Pension Plan 16.58 2,070,000 —

Patrick J. Hester Spectra Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan 44.14 1,488,000 —
Spectra Energy Executive Cash Balance Plan 44.14 372,000 —

Laura Sayavedra Spectra Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan 22.15 536,000 —
Spectra Energy Executive Cash Balance Plan 22.15 188,000 —

Gregory L. Ebel

Spectra Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan 19.29 292,000 100,000
Spectra Energy Executive Cash Balance Plan 19.29 8,000 2,197,000
Pension Choices Plan for Employees of Westcoast Energy Inc. 6.48 284,000 —
Spectra Energy Supplemental Pension Plan 6.48 3,512,000 —

J. Patrick Reddy Spectra Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan — — 226,000
Spectra Energy Executive Cash Balance Plan — — 930,000

Reginald D.
Hedgebeth

Spectra Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan 7.93 236,000 —
Spectra Energy Executive Cash Balance Plan — — 676,000

__________
(a)Amounts in this column represent the number of years of credited service rounded to the nearest day.

(b)

The present value of the accumulated benefit was determined under the accrued benefit valuation method and using
the same assumptions used for financial reporting purposes under US GAAP, except regarding the retirement age
assumption. Retirement age is assumed to be the normal retirement age as defined in the applicable plan or, if not
so defined, the earliest time at which a plan participant can retire under the plan without any reduction in benefits.
The material assumptions include a discount rate of 3.36% and a cash balance interest-crediting rate of 4.5%. We
have converted pension's payable in Canadian dollars into U.S. dollars using the WM Reuters spot rate of 0.7981,
the exchange rate for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Under the Spectra Energy Executive Savings Plan, participants can elect to defer up to 50% of their base salary, up to
90% of short-term incentive compensation and 100% of long-term incentive compensation (other than stock options).
Participants also receive a company matching contribution in excess of the contribution limits prescribed by the
United States Internal Revenue Service under the Spectra Energy Corp Retirement Savings Plan. In general, payments
are made following termination of employment or death in the form of a lump sum or installments, as selected by the
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participant. Participants may request an accelerated distribution upon an “unforeseeable emergency.” In general,
participants may direct the deemed investment of base salary deferrals, short-term incentive deferrals and matching
contributions among investments options available under the Spectra Energy Retirement Savings Plan, including in a
Spectra Energy Common Stock Fund. Deferrals of equity awards are credited with earnings and losses based on the
performance of the Spectra Energy Common
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Stock Fund. No earnings on amounts deferred under the Spectra Energy Executive Savings Plan are above-market or
preferential.
The following table reflects contributions made to the Spectra Energy Executive Savings Plan:
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

Name
Executive
Contributions
in Last FY(a)

Company
Contributions
in Last FY(b)

Aggregate
Earnings
in Last
FY(c)

Aggregate
Withdrawals/
Distribution(d)

Aggregate
Balance at
Last FYE(e)

William T. Yardley $ 12,860 $ 20,660 $ 56,569 $ — $ 497,056
Stephen J. Neyland(f) — — — — —
Vernon D. Yu(f) — — — — —
Laura Sayavedra 6,675 2,112 24,069 — 178,845
Patrick J. Hester 10,257 7,921 80,185 — 911,174
Gregory L. Ebel 184,774 91,869 268,899 (4,026,147) —
J. Patrick Reddy 5,208,048 151 343,579 (11,300,178) —
Reginald D. Hedgebeth2,863,644 820 203,161 (4,043,152) —
__________

(a)

Executive contributions credited to the plan in 2017 include amounts reported in the Salary column of the
Summary Compensation Table as well as Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation paid in 2017 but reported in
the table as compensation earned in 2016. Amounts may also include elective deferrals of awards earned under our
Long-Term Incentive Plan and payable in 2017.

(b)
Reflects matching contribution credits made in 2017 under the plan with respect to elective salary deferrals made
by executives during 2017. The amounts in this column are also included in the All Other Compensation column of
the "Summary Compensation Table" for 2017.

(c)
The amounts in this column represent aggregate earnings on the investments made under the plan that accrued
during 2017 on amounts deferred at the election of the Named Executive Officer and the matching contributions
made for each Named Executive Officer. No earnings are above-market or preferential.

(d)Reflects distributions due to separation from service and elections made by the executive.
(e) The aggregate balance for each Named Executive Officer reflects the cumulative value, as of December 31, 2017,
of the contributions to the plan made to the Named Executive Officer's account, and any earnings on these amounts,
since the Named Executive Officer began participating in the plan.
(d)Messrs. Neyland and Yu did not participate in any nonqualified deferred compensation plans.
Potential Payments upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control
Under certain circumstances, each Named Executive Officer would be entitled to compensation if the executive’s
employment was to terminate. The amount of compensation is contingent upon a variety of factors, including the
circumstances of the termination. The agreements and terms of awards affecting this type of compensation are
described below, followed by a table that estimates the amount that would become payable to each Named Executive
Officer as a result of a change in control or a termination of employment, assuming a termination was effective as of
December 31, 2017. The actual amounts that would be paid can be determined only at the time of the Named
Executive Officer’s termination of employment.
No Named Executive Officer has an employment or change in control agreement with Spectra Energy Partners.
Spectra Energy has entered into a change in control agreement (CIC Agreement) with Mr. Yardley and Ms.
Sayavedra, which sets forth the circumstances under which severance benefits would be payable. The Merger
qualified as a change in control of Spectra Energy under their CIC Agreements; however, their CIC Agreements are
only triggered if there is both a change in control of Spectra Energy and a qualifying termination of employment.
(This feature is commonly called a 'double trigger').
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event of termination of employment within two years after a “change in control” of Spectra
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Energy, other than termination: (1) by Spectra Energy for “cause;” (2) by reason of death or disability; or (3) of the
executive for other than “good reason” (each such term as defined in the agreements).
For 2017, payments and benefits included:

•a lump-sum cash payment equal to a pro-rata amount of the executive’s target cash incentive for the year in which the
termination occurs;

•
a lump-sum cash payment equal to two times the sum of the executive’s annual base salary and target annual cash
incentive opportunity in effect immediately prior to termination or, if higher, in effect immediately prior to the first
occurrence of an event or circumstance constituting “good reason”;

•continued medical, dental and basic life insurance coverage for a two-year period (which can also be provided through
a third-party insurer); and

•

a lump-sum cash payment representing the amount that would have been allocated or contributed to the executive’s
qualified and nonqualified defined-benefit pension plan and defined contribution savings plan accounts during the two
years following the termination date, plus the unvested portion, if any, of the executive’s accounts as of the date of
termination that would have vested during such two-year period.
Under the CIC Agreements, each named executive officer also is entitled to $30,000 for outplacement services and
reimbursement of up to $100,000 for the cost of certain legal fees incurred in connection with claims under the
agreements. In the event that any of the payments or benefits provided for in the change in control agreement
otherwise would constitute an “excess parachute payment” (as defined in Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code),
the amount of payments or benefits would be reduced to the maximum level that would not result in excise tax under
Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, if this reduction would cause the executive to receive a larger after-tax
amount than if no reduction were made. In the event a named executive officer becomes entitled to payments and
benefits under a change in control agreement, the executive would be subject to a one-year non-competition and
non-solicitation provision from the date of termination, in addition to certain confidentiality and cooperation
provisions.
In addition, due to the Merger, Mr. Hester would be entitled to certain severance benefits under the Spectra Energy
Corp Change in Control Severance Benefits Plan (U.S. Severance Plan) in the event of a qualifying termination of
employment within 18 months following the Merger, which also qualified as a change in control under the U.S.
Severance Plan. If Mr. Hester has a qualifying termination of employment during the 18 months following the
Merger, under the U.S. Severance Plan, Mr. Hester would be eligible for a lump-sum cash payment generally based on
his level of base pay, target short-term incentive pay and his years of service, subject to a minimum of 12 weeks and a
maximum of 104 weeks of base pay and target short-term incentive pay. He would also be eligible under the U.S.
Severance Plan to have Spectra Energy pay on his behalf either (1) up to six months of premiums for medical and
dental continuation coverage under Spectra Energy's medical and dental plans elected pursuant to the Consolidated
Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1986, as amended (COBRA), or (2) if he is covered by Spectra Energy's retiree
medical and/or dental plans as of his date of termination, the retiree premiums for such plans for up to six months in
lieu of COBRA coverage. Finally, under the U.S. Severance Plan, he would be eligible for educational assistance
(limited to $2,600) and reasonable outplacement services, each provided by Spectra Energy, at its cost, in accordance
with Spectra Energy's programs.
The payments and benefits under both the CIC Agreements and the U.S. Severance Plan are subject to an eligible
employee timely executing and not revoking a waiver and release agreement in a form determined by Spectra Energy.
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Effect of Termination on Long-Term Incentive Awards
The following table summarizes the consequences of outstanding awards under the Spectra Energy LTIP that would
occur in the event of the termination of employment on December 31, 2017.
Event Consequences

Change in Control
of Spectra Energy

Stock Options and Phantom Units - continue to vest.

2016 Performance Share Units - awards continue to vest. At the time of the Merger close, goal
achievement of 200% was determined based on actual TSR results for Spectra Energy and its LTI
Peer Group for a truncated performance period (i.e., the beginning of the performance period
through the date of the Merger close, which was a change in control).

Termination with
cause

Stock Options, Phantom and 2016 Performance Share Units - executive’s right to unvested portion
of award terminates immediately.

Voluntary
termination (not
retirement eligible)

Stock Options, Phantom and 2016 Performance Share Units - executive’s right to unvested portion
of award terminates immediately.

Voluntary
termination
(retirement eligible)

Stock Options and Phantom Units - prorated portion of award continues to vest.

2016 Performance Share Units - prorated portion of award vests. Due to the Merger, vesting is
based on goal achievement of 200% for the truncated performance period.

Involuntary
termination without
cause

Stock Options and Phantom Units - due to the Merger, the full award vests.

2016 Performance Share Units - due to the Merger, the full award vests based on goal
achievement of 200% for the truncated performance period.

Termination due to
Death or Disability

Stock Options and Phantom Units - award vests.

2016 Performance Share Units - the full award vests. Due to the Merger, vesting is based on goal
achievement of 200% for the truncated performance period.
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The following table summarizes the consequences of outstanding awards under the Enbridge LTIP that would occur in
the event of the termination of employment on December 31, 2017.
Event Consequences

Change in Control

2016 Stock Options - unvested options mature immediately.

2016 Performance Stock Units - award matures immediately.

Termination following
Change in Control of
Enbridge

Stock Options - all unvested options mature on date of termination.

Phantom Units - award matures on date of termination.

Performance Stock Units - awards mature and value is assessed and paid based on
performance measures achieved prior to the change in control.

Termination with cause

Stock Options - all options are cancelled on the date of termination.

Restricted Stock and Performance Stock Units - executive’s right to unvested portion of
award terminates immediately.

Voluntary termination (not
retirement eligible)

Stock Options - vested options remain exercisable until 30 days following date of
termination (or original expiration date if sooner), unvested options are cancelled on the
date of termination.

Restricted Stock and Performance Stock Units - executive’s right to unvested portion of
award terminates immediately.

Voluntary termination
(retirement eligible)

Stock Options - continue to vest and are exercisable until the third anniversary of the
termination date (or original expiration date if sooner).

Restricted Stock Units - awards are pro-rated to date of termination and continue to
mature until end of term.

Performance Stock Units - awards are pro-rated to date of termination and value is
assessed and paid at end of usual term.

Involuntary termination
without cause

Stock Options - vested options remain exercisable until 30 days following date of
termination (or original expiration date if sooner), unvested options are cancelled on the
date of termination.

Restricted Stock Units - awards are pro-rated to date of termination (or end of Notice
Period, if applicable) and continue to mature until end of term.

Performance Stock Units - awards are pro-rated to date of termination (or end of Notice
Period, if applicable) and value is assessed and paid at end of usual term.

Termination due to Death Stock Options - vested options remain exercisable until 12 months following date of
termination (or original expiration date if sooner), all unvested options vest on date of
termination.

Restricted Stock Units - awards are pro-rated to date of termination and vest
immediately.
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Performance Stock Units - awards are pro-rated to date of termination, target
performance is assumed and awards vest immediately.

130

Edgar Filing: Spectra Energy Partners, LP - Form 10-K

202



Table of Contents

Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or a Change in Control Table
The amounts listed in the following table have been estimated based on a variety of assumptions, and the actual
amounts to be paid out can only be determined at the time of each Named Executive Officer’s termination of
employment. Amounts shown do not include compensation to which each Named Executive Officer would be entitled
without regard to termination of employment, including (a) base salary and short-term incentives that have been
earned but not yet paid, and (b) amounts that have been earned, but not yet paid, under the terms of the plans listed
under the “Pension Benefits” and “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation” tables.
With respect to a Named Executive Officer who is covered by a change in control agreement, the amounts shown do
not reflect any reduction in payments that might be made so that the excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code would not apply.
The first table addresses potential payments by us or our affiliates to our current Named Executive Officers, and the
second table addresses the actual payments that were made upon the termination of our former Named Executive
Officers in 2017.
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Name and Triggering Event (a) Cash (b)

Incremental
Retirement
Plan
Benefit (c)

Welfare
and
Similar
Benefits
(d)

Stock
Awards
(e)

Option
Awards Total

William T. Yardley
Voluntary termination or Involuntary termination with
cause — — 21,154 — — 21,154

Involuntary termination without cause 1,925,000317,074 82,789 2,533,268402,3715,260,502
Involuntary or good reason termination after a CIC 1,925,000317,074 82,789 2,778,037402,3715,505,271
Death — — 21,154 2,533,268402,3712,956,793
Stephen J. Neyland
Change in Control — — — 92,380 144,179236,559
Voluntary termination or Involuntary termination with
cause — — 10,629 — — 10,629

Involuntary termination without cause — — 10,629 97,403 — 108,032
Involuntary or good reason termination after a CIC — — 10,629 199,830 144,179354,638
Death — — 10,629 97,403 144,179252,211
Vernon D. Yu
Change in Control — — — 347,198 301,165648,363
Voluntary termination or Involuntary termination with
cause — — 14,151 — 301,165315,316

Involuntary termination without cause 1,333,123568,000 114,589— 301,1652,316,877
Involuntary or good reason termination after a CIC 1,333,123568,000 114,589755,872 301,1653,072,749
Death — — 14,151 369,387 301,165684,703
Laura Sayavedra
Voluntary termination or Involuntary termination with
cause — — 10,962 — — 10,962

Involuntary termination without cause 826,500 130,329 70,302 673,015 — 1,700,146
Involuntary or good reason termination after a CIC 826,500 130,329 70,302 673,015 — 1,700,146
Death — — 10,962 673,015 — 683,977
Patrick J. Hester
Voluntary termination (retirement eligible) — — 10,749 397,039 — 407,788
Involuntary termination with cause — — 10,749 — — 10,749
Involuntary termination without cause 1,332,528— 37,522 657,207 — 2,027,257
Involuntary or good reason termination after a CIC 1,332,528— 37,522 657,207 — 2,027,257
Death 550,000 — 10,749 657,207 — 1,217,956
__________

(a)Amounts in the table represent obligations of the Company under agreements currently in place, and valued as of
December 31, 2017.

(b)
Amounts payable do not include accrued salary and cash incentive payments earned but not paid through
December 31, 2017 (these amounts are reflected in the Summary Compensation Table). For Mr. Hester, this
includes cash amounts that would result from accelerated payment of a previously awarded cash retention.

(c)
This column represents the additional amounts that would be credited and vested in respect of the pension plans if
the Named Executive Officer continued to be employed by Enbridge for two additional years, at the rate of base
salary plus target bonus percentage as in effect on December 31, 2017.

(d)
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Amounts include the amount that would be paid in lieu of providing continued welfare benefits for 24 months for
Mr. Yardley and Ms. Sayavedra and 6 months for Mr. Hester.
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(e)Amounts that would result from accelerated vesting of previously awarded stock and any associated dividend
equivalent payments due upon vesting.

The amounts shown above with respect to outstanding stock awards were calculated based on a variety of
assumptions, including the following: (a) the Named Executive Officer terminated employment on the last day of
2017; (b) a stock price for Enbridge common stock equal to the closing price on the last trading day of 2017
(December 29, 2017) of $39.11; (c) the continuation of Enbridge's dividend at the rate in effect on December 31,
2017; and (d) target performance through December 31, 2017 for Enbridge performance awards.

Former Officers

Messrs. Ebel, Reddy and Hedgebeth had entered into CIC Agreements with Spectra Energy, which terms and
conditions are described above, with the exception of Mr. Ebel, whose lump-sum cash payment was equal to three
times the sum of his annual base salary and target annual cash incentive opportunity. Payments received under their
CIC Agreements as a result of (1) the Merger and (2) their separation of service from Spectra Energy are outlined in
the following table.

Benefit Type Gregory L.
Ebel

J. Patrick
Reddy

Reginald
D.
Hedgebeth

  Cash Severance (a) $7,305,638$2,292,640$1,986,331
  Short Term Incentive (a) 366,950 80,758 67,225
  Pension and Savings Plan Contributions(a) 837,876 388,724 314,727
  Company Subsidy for Welfare Benefits (a) 22,716 9,170 11,253
  Outplacement Assistance (a) 30,000 30,000 30,000
Total Other Compensation - Post-Employment Payments 8,563,180 2,801,292 2,409,536
Vested Stock Awards (b) 17,838,790 6,426,519 5,404,278
Total 26,401,970 9,227,811 7,813,814
__________
(a)Amounts are also included in the Summary Compensation Table under All Other Compensation.

(b)Amounts represent awards that vested upon the change in control and upon their separation of service following
the Merger. Amounts are also included in the 2017 Option Exercises and Stock Vested table.

CEO Pay Ratio  

As discussed above, as an MLP, we do not employ directly any of the persons responsible for managing our business.
All personnel necessary for our business are employed and compensated by our General Partner, Enbridge or its
affiliates, in each case subject to the terms of a service agreement. Since we do not have direct employees, we do not
have compensation policies pursuant to which we approve or establish elements of compensation, nor do we have any
authority for compensation-related decisions.
Because we do not have any employees, we are not required by SEC rules to provide disclosure regarding the ratio of
the annual total compensation of our Principal Executive Officer to the median annual total compensation of
employees of our General Partner, Enbridge or its affiliates who provide services to us.
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Current Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table summarizes information about Spectra Energy Partners’ equity compensation plan as of December
31, 2017.

Plan Category

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants  and rights

Number of securities
remaining available
under  equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities
reflected in column
(a)

Equity compensation plans approved by unitholders — n/a —
Equity compensation plans not approved by
unitholders — n/a 748,417

Total — n/a 748,417
__________
(a)The long-term incentive plan currently permits the grant of awards covering an aggregate of 900,000 units.
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DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION

The following section provides information regarding payments to members of the board of directors of our general
partner. Members of the board who are also employees of affiliates of our General Partner do not receive additional
compensation for serving on the board. The following is a description of the compensation program for non-employee
directors of our General Partner for 2017.

Director Compensation Program. Under the director compensation program approved by our General Partner, each
director receives an annual cash retainer of $70,000 and a grant of a number of common units equal to $80,000
divided by the closing price of our common units on the NYSE on the date of grant. Each Committee Chair also
receives an annual cash retainer of $20,000.

Expense Reimbursement. Non-employee directors are reimbursed for expenses reasonably incurred in connection with
attendance and participation at Board and Committee meetings.

The following table describes the compensation earned during 2017 by each individual who served as an outside
director during 2017.

Name

Fees
Earned
or Paid
in Cash
($)

Stock
Awards
($)(1)

All Other
Compensation
($)(2)

Total
($)

Nora Mead Brownell 70,000 80,009 — 150,009
Fred J. Fowler 11,667 648 — 12,315
J.D. Woodward, III 110,00080,009 — 190,009
Mike Morris 58,333 120,358 — 178,691
________

(1)This column reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the equity awarded computed in accordance with FASB
ASC Topic 718.

(2)The value of all perquisites and other personal benefits or property received by each director in 2017 was less than
$1,000 and are not included in the above table.
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COMPENSATION REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC, as general partner of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP,
LP, which in turn is the general partner of Spectra Energy Partners, LP, has reviewed and discussed the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis section of this report with management and, based on that review and discussion, has
recommended that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this report.

William T. Yardley, President and Chairman Michael G. Morris, Director
Nora Mead Brownell, Director J.D. Woodward, III, Director
Laura Buss Sayavedra, Director and Vice President, Sponsored Vehicles John K. Whelen, Director
Vern Yu, Director and Chief Development Officer
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Unitholder Matters.

The following table sets forth beneficial ownership as of February [14], 2018 (i) with respect to persons known to us
to be the beneficial owners of more than 5% of our common units, and (ii) with respect to each director of the General
Partner, each named executive officer of the General Partner and all executive officers and directors of the General
Partner as a group:

Name of Beneficial Owner (1)

Common
Units
Beneficially
Owned

Percentage
of Common
Units or
Common
Stock
Beneficially
Owned

Enbridge Inc. (2) 402,989,862 83.1 %
Spectra Energy Transmission, LLC 171,570,734 54.4 %
Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP 222,717,799 45.9 %
William T. Yardley 593 *
Stephen J. Neyland — *
Laura Buss Sayavedra 4,411 *
John K. Whelen — *
Vern Yu — *
Patrick J. Hester — *
Nora Mead Brownell 27,052 *
J.D. Woodward, III 46,776 *
Michael G. Morris 14,607 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (eleven persons) 93,439 *
________
(*)Less than 1% of units or common stock outstanding.

(1)Unless otherwise indicated, the address for all beneficial owners in this table is 5400 Westheimer Court, Houston,
TX 77056.

(2)

Enbridge Inc.’s address is 200, 425 - 1st Street S.W. , Calgary, Alberta T2P 3L8, Canada. It is the ultimate parent
company of each of Spectra Energy Transmission, LLC, Spectra Energy Southeast Supply Header and Spectra
Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP and may, therefore, be deemed to beneficially own the units held by each of these
entities.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
Spectra Energy and its affiliates own 230,489,862 common units as of December 31, 2017, representing an aggregate
74% limited partner interest in Spectra Energy Partners. In addition, as of December 31, 2017, our General Partner
owned a 2% general partner interest in Spectra Energy Partners and all of the incentive distribution rights. On January
21, 2018, we entered into an Equity Restructuring Agreement with our GP, LP (acting in its individual capacity and
not in its capacity as the general partner of us), pursuant to which the incentive distribution rights and the 2% general
partner interest in us held by GP, LC were converted into (i) 172,500,000 newly issued common units and (ii) a
non-economic general partner interest in us.  Distributions by us of Available Cash to unitholders of record on any
record date after January 21, 2018 (including the distribution with respect to the fourth quarter 2017) will be made on
a pro rata basis based on outstanding common units in accordance with terms of our partnership agreement, which was
entered into immediately after the execution of the Equity Restructuring Agreement.
Distributions and Payments to our General Partner and its Affiliates
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The following table summarizes the distributions and payments made or to be made by Spectra Energy Partners to our
General Partner and its affiliates in connection with the ongoing operation and any liquidation of Spectra Energy
Partners. These distributions and payments were determined by and among affiliated entities and, consequently, are
not the result of arm’s-length negotiations.
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Operational Stage

Distributions of
Available Cash to
the General
Partner and its
affiliates

Prior to the Equity Restructuring Agreement, Spectra Energy Partners generally makes cash
distributions of 98% to its unitholders pro rata, including the General Partner and its affiliates, as
the holders of an aggregate 230,489,862 common units, and 2% to the General Partner. In addition,
if distributions exceeded the minimum quarterly distribution and other higher target distribution
levels, the General Partner was be entitled to increasing percentages of the distributions, up to 50%
of the distributions above the highest target distribution level. There was a reduction in the
aggregate quarterly distributions, if any, to the general partner, (as holder of incentive distribution
rights), by $4 million per quarter for a period of 12 consecutive quarters commencing with the
quarter ending on December 31, 2015 and ending with the quarter ending on September 30, 2018 as
a result of the sale of our interests in Sand Hills and Southern Hills to Spectra Energy.

As a result of the Equity Restructuring Agreement, the IDRs, the 2% general partner interest, and
the IDR Give-Back were eliminated effective January 21, 2018, and distributions by us with a
record date after January 21, 2018, including the distribution with respect to the fourth quarter 2017,
will be made based on the terms of our limited partnership agreement in effect at the time of
declaration. Immediately after the execution of our Equity Restructuring Agreement, a new limited
partnership agreement was entered into. The distribution for the fourth quarter of 2017 was declared
after January 21, 2018, and will be paid in accordance with this new limited partnership agreement.

Payments to the General
Partner and its affiliates

Spectra Energy Partners reimburses Spectra Energy and its affiliates for the payment of
certain operating expenses and for the provision of various general and administrative
services for the benefit of Spectra Energy Partners.

Withdrawal or
removal of the
General Partner

If the General Partner withdraws or is removed, its general partner interest and its incentive
distribution rights will either be sold to the new general partner for cash or converted into
common units, in each case for an amount equal to the fair market value of those interests.

Liquidation Stage

LiquidationUpon Spectra Energy Partners’ liquidation, the partners, including the General Partner, will be entitled to
receive liquidating distributions according to their respective capital account balances.

Omnibus Agreement
Spectra Energy Partners has entered into the Omnibus Agreement with Spectra Energy, GP LLC and GP, LP (the
Omnibus Agreement). The Omnibus Agreement, addresses the following matters:

•Spectra Energy Partners’ obligation to reimburse Spectra Energy for the payment of direct operating expenses it incurs
on Spectra Energy Partners’ behalf in connection with Spectra Energy Partners’ business and operations;

•Spectra Energy Partners’ obligation to reimburse Spectra Energy for providing it allocated corporate, general and
administrative services; and

•Spectra Energy’s obligation to indemnify Spectra Energy Partners for certain liabilities and Spectra Energy Partners’
obligation to indemnify Spectra Energy for certain liabilities.
Our General Partner and its affiliates also receive payments from Spectra Energy Partners pursuant to the contractual
arrangements described below under the caption “Contracts with Affiliates.”
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Any or all of the provisions of the Omnibus Agreement, other than the indemnification provisions described below, is
terminable by Spectra Energy at its option if our General Partner is removed as our general partner without cause and
common units held by our General Partner and its affiliates are not voted in favor of that removal. The Omnibus
Agreement (other than the indemnification provisions) will also terminate in the event of a change of control of
Spectra Energy Partners, GP, LC or GP LLC.
Reimbursement of Operating and General and Administrative Expense
Under the Omnibus Agreement, Spectra Energy Partners reimburses Spectra Energy for the payment of certain
operating expenses and for the provision of various corporate, general and administrative services for Spectra Energy
Partners’ benefit.
Pursuant to these arrangements, Spectra Energy and its affiliates perform centralized corporate functions for Spectra
Energy Partners, including legal, accounting, compliance, treasury, insurance, risk management, health, safety and
environmental, human resources, credit, payroll, internal audit and tax. Spectra Energy Partners reimburses Spectra
Energy for the expenses to provide these services as well as other expenses it incurs on Spectra Energy Partners’
behalf, such as salaries of personnel performing services for Spectra Energy Partners’ benefit and the cost of Spectra
Energy employee benefits and general and administrative expenses associated with such personnel; capital
expenditures; maintenance and repair costs; taxes; and direct expenses, including operating expenses and certain
allocated operating expenses, associated with the ownership and operation of the contributed assets.
Competition
Neither Spectra Energy nor any of its affiliates is restricted, under either our partnership agreement or the Omnibus
Agreement, from competing with Spectra Energy Partners. Spectra Energy and any of its affiliates may acquire,
construct or dispose of additional transportation and storage or other assets in the future without any obligation to
offer Spectra Energy Partners the opportunity to purchase or construct those assets.
Indemnification
Under the Omnibus Agreement, Spectra Energy Partners agreed to indemnify Spectra Energy against certain potential
environmental and toxic tort claims, and certain losses and expenses associated with certain Spectra Energy Partners
assets. Additionally, Spectra Energy Partners will indemnify Spectra Energy for all federal, state and local income tax
liabilities attributable to the ownership or operations of certain assets, and losses associated with the operations of
certain assets.
Disposition
On October 30, 2015, Spectra Energy acquired our 33.3% ownership interests in Sand Hills and Southern Hills. In
consideration for this transaction, we retired 21,560,000 of our common units and 440,000 of our general partner units
beneficially owned by Spectra Energy, which resulted in the reduction of any associated distribution payable to
Spectra Energy and its affiliates, beginning in 2016. There was also be a reduction in the aggregate quarterly
distributions, if any, to our General Partner (as holder of incentive distribution rights) by $4 million per quarter for a
period of 12 consecutive quarters commencing with the quarter ending on December 31, 2015 and ending with the
quarter ending on September 30, 2018 (the IDR Give-Back). See Note 3 for more information.  As a result of the
Equity Restructuring Agreement, the IDRs, the 2% general partner interest, and the IDR Give-Back were eliminated
effective January 21, 2018, and distributions by us of Available Cash to unitholders of record on any record date after
January 21, 2018 (including the distribution with respect to the fourth quarter 2017) will be made on a pro rata basis
based on outstanding common units in accordance with terms of our partnership agreement, which was entered into
immediately after the execution of the Equity Restructuring Agreement.
Storage and Transportation Related Arrangements
Spectra Energy Partners charges transportation and storage fees to Spectra Energy and its respective affiliates.
Management anticipates continuing to provide these services to Spectra Energy and its respective affiliates in the
ordinary course of business.
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Board Leadership and Risk Oversight
The board of GP LLC (the General partner of our General Partner) is currently led by our Chairman, Mr. William T.
Yardley. In exercising its duties to Spectra Energy Partners, the board members should not be conflicted in any way
and we have procedures that are specified in our partnership agreement to address potential conflicts, which include
referring transactions that present a conflict to the Conflicts Committee of the board of GP LLC. We believe that this
board leadership structure is appropriate in maximizing the effectiveness of board oversight and in providing
perspective to our business.
The board has responsibility for oversight of our risk management process and receives regular reports from
executives of GP LLC and from Spectra Energy regarding the risks faced in our business. The board exercises its risk
oversight responsibilities through the Audit Committee, with respect to financial reporting and compliance risks. In
addition, the Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the board of directors of Enbridge, or the HRC
Committee, provides oversight with respect to risks that may be created by our compensation programs. Enbridge
management has undertaken, and the HRC Committee has reviewed, an evaluation of the incentives to its employees
to take risk that are created by its compensation programs. Based upon that evaluation, Enbridge has concluded that its
compensation programs do not create risks that are reasonably likely to result in a material adverse effect on Spectra
Energy Partners.
Director Independence
See Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance for information about the independence of GP
LLC's board of directors and its committees.

140

Edgar Filing: Spectra Energy Partners, LP - Form 10-K

215



Table of Contents

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The following table presents fees for professional services rendered by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and their
respective affiliates (PwC) and Deloitte & Touche LLP, and the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and their
respective affiliates (collectively, Deloitte) for us for 2017 and 2016, respectively:
Type of Fees 2017 2016

(in
millions)

Audit Fees (a) $ 4 $ 4
Audit-Related Fees (b) 1 1
Tax Fees (c) 1 —
Total Fees $ 6 $ 5
________

(a)

Audit Fees are fees billed or expected to be billed for professional services for the audit of our Consolidated
Financial Statements included in our annual report on Form 10-K and review of financial statements included in
our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, services that are normally provided in connection with statutory, regulatory or
other filings or engagements or any other service performed to comply with generally accepted auditing standards.
Audit Fees also include fees billed or expected to be billed for professional services for the audit of our internal
controls under the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related regulations.

(b)

Audit-Related Fees are fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance
of an audit or review of our financial statements, including assistance with acquisitions and divestitures and
internal control reviews. Audit-Related Fees also include comfort and consent letters in connection with SEC
filings and financing transactions.

(c)Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for federal and state tax compliance for
Partnership tax filings and unitholder K-1's.

To safeguard the continued independence of the independent auditor, the Audit Committee adopted a policy that
prevents our independent auditor from providing services to us that are prohibited under Section 10A(g) of the
Exchange Act, as amended. This policy also provides that independent auditors are only permitted to provide services
to us and our subsidiaries that have been pre-approved by the Audit Committee. Pursuant to the policy, all audit
services require advance approval by the Audit Committee. All other services by the independent auditor that fall
within certain designated dollar thresholds, both per engagement as well as annual aggregate, have been pre-approved
under the policy. Different dollar thresholds apply to the three categories of pre-approved services specified in the
policy (Audit-Related services, Tax services and Other services). All services that exceed the dollar thresholds must
be approved in advance by the Audit Committee. Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Exchange Act, as amended,
the Audit Committee has delegated approval authority to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Chairman has
presented all approval decisions to the full Audit Committee. All engagements performed by the independent auditor
since July 2, 2007 were approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to its pre-approval policy.
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PART IV.
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Consolidated Financial Statements, Supplemental Financial Data and Supplemental Schedules included in Part II
of this annual report are as follows:
Spectra Energy Partners, LP:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Income
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statements of Equity
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
All schedules are omitted because they are not required or because the required information is included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes.
(b) Exhibits — The exhibits required to be filed by this Item 15 are set forth in the Exhibit Index accompanying this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
Not applicable.
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Exhibit Index

Exhibit No. Exhibit Description

2.1

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 13, 2007, between Spectra Energy Virginia Pipeline
Company and East Tennessee Natural Gas, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s
Form 8-K dated December 14, 2007).

2.2

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2009, among Spectra Energy Partners OLP, LP,
Atlas Pipeline Mid-Continent LLC, Atlas Pipeline Partners, L.P, solely as guarantor of Atlas Pipeline
Mid-Continent LLC, and Spectra Energy Partners, LP, solely as guarantor of Spectra Energy Partners
OLP, LP (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated April 8, 2009).

2.3

Contribution Agreement, dated November 30, 2010, by and among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, Spectra
Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP and Spectra Energy Southeast Pipeline Corporation (filed as Exhibit No.
2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated November 30, 2010).

2.4

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of May 11, 2011, by and among Equitrans, LP and, solely for the
purpose of Sections 1.8, 1.9, 4.17 and 9.15, EQT Corporation, Spectra Energy Partners, LP and, solely for
the purpose of Section 9.16, Spectra Energy Capital, LLC (Filed as Exhibit No. 2.1 to Spectra Energy
Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated May 11, 2011).

2.5

First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2011, by and among Equitrans,
LP and, solely for the purpose of Sections 1.8, 1.9, 4.17 and 9.15, EQT Corporation, Spectra Energy
Partners, LP and, solely for the purpose of Section 9.16, Spectra Energy Capital, LLC (Filed as Exhibit
No. 2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated July 1, 2011).

2.6
Contribution Agreement, dated October 23, 2012, by and between Spectra Energy Partners, LP and
Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K
dated October 24, 2012).

2.7
Contribution Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2013, by and between Spectra Energy Partners, LP and
Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K
dated May 3, 2013).

2.8
First Amendment to Contribution Agreement, dated August 1, 2013, by and between Spectra Energy
Partners, LP and Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP’s Form 8-K dated August 2, 2013).

2.9
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated May 2, 2013, by and among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, Spectra
Energy Express Pipeline (Canada), Inc. and Spectra Energy Capital Funding, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.2 to
Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated May 3, 2013).
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2.10
First Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2013, by and among Spectra
Energy Partners, LP, Spectra Energy Express Pipeline (Canada), Inc. and Spectra Energy Capital
Funding, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.4 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 10-Q dated August 7, 2013).

2.11 Contribution Agreement by and between Spectra Energy Corp and Spectra Energy Partners, LP, dated as
of August 5, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated August 6, 2013).

2.12
First Amendment to Contribution Agreement by and between Spectra Energy Corp and Spectra Energy
Partners, LP, dated as of October 31, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K
dated November 1, 2013).

2.13

Exchange and Redemption Agreement between Spectra Energy Partners, LP and Spectra Energy Corp,
dated as of October 18, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP's Form 8-K dated
October 19, 2015).

3.1 Certificate of Limited Partnership of Spectra Energy Partners, LP (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Spectra Energy
Partner, LP’s Form S-1 on March 30, 2007, file no. 333-141687).

3.2
Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP,
dated as of January 4, 2017(filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 10-K on February
24, 2017.

3.3 Certificate of Limited Partnership of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP (filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Spectra
Energy Partner, LP’s Form S-1 on March 30, 2007, file no. 333-141687).

143

Edgar Filing: Spectra Energy Partners, LP - Form 10-K

219

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1394074/000144530513001978/sep-20130630exx24.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1394074/000119312513320337/d580318dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1394074/000119312513423251/d621543dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1394074/000119312515346211/d15388dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1394074/000095012907001773/h43272exv3w1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1394074/000139407417000003/sep-20161231exx32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1394074/000095012907001773/h43272exv3w3.htm


Table of Contents

Exhibit No. Exhibit Description

3.4 Certificate of Formation of Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC (filed as Exhibit 3.5 to Spectra Energy
Partner, LP’s Form S-1 on March 30, 2007, file no. 333-141687).

3.5 Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Spectra Energy Partners, LP, dated
January 21, 2018 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated January 22, 2018).

3.6
Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Spectra Energy Partners GP,
LLC, dated as of December 31, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 3.6 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 10-K
filed on February 25, 2016).

4.1
Indenture, dated as of June 9, 2011, between Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Issuer and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as Trustee (Filed as Exhibit No. 4.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form
8-K dated June 9, 2011).

4.2
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 9, 2011, between Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Issuer
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (Filed as Exhibit No. 4.2 to Spectra Energy
Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated June 9, 2011).

4.3
Second Supplemental Indenture, dated September 25, 2013, between Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as
Issuer and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Spectra Energy
Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated September 25, 2013).

4.4
Third Supplemental Indenture, dated June 30, 2014, between Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Issuer and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit No. 4.1 to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP's Form 10-Q dated August 7, 2014).

4.5
Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 12, 2015, between Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Issuer
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP's Form 8-K dated March 12, 2015).

4.6
Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 17, 2016, between Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as
Issuer and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Spectra Energy
Partners, LP's Form 8-K dated October 17, 2016).

4.7
Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 7, 2017, between Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Issuer,
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP's Form 8-K dated June 7, 2017).

4.8 Form of 4.60% Senior Notes due 2021 (Included in Exhibit 4.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form
8-K dated June 9, 2011).

4.9 Form of 2.950% Senior Notes due 2018 (filed as part of Exhibit 4.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s
Form 8-K dated September 25, 2013).

4.10 Form of 4.750% Senior Notes due 2024 (filed as part of Exhibit 4.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s
Form 8-K dated September 25, 2013).
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4.11 Form of 5.950% Senior Notes due 2043 (filed as part of Exhibit 4.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s
Form 8-K dated September 25, 2013).

4.12
Form of 3.50% Senior Notes due 2025 (included in Exhibit 4.3 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K
dated March 12, 2015).

4.13
Form of 4.50% Senior Notes due 2045 (included in Exhibit 4.3 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K
dated March 12, 2015).

4.14 Form of 3.375% Senior Notes due 2026 (included in Exhibit 4.4 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP's Form
8-K dated October 17, 2016).

4.15
Form of 4.50% Senior Notes due 2045 (filed as part of Exhibit 4.3 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form
8-K dated March 12, 2015).

4.16 Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2020 (filed in Exhibit 4.3 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form
8-K dated June 7, 2017).

8.1 Opinion of Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. as to certain tax matters (filed in Exhibit 8.1 to Spectra Energy
Partners, LP Form 10-Q dated November 2, 2017).
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10.2
Omnibus Agreement, dated July 2, 2007, by and among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, Spectra Energy
Partners (DE) GP, LP, Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC and Spectra Energy Corp (filed as Exhibit 10.2
to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated July 9, 2007).

+10.3 Long Term Incentive Plan of Spectra Energy Partners, LP (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Spectra Energy
Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated July 9, 2007).

+10.4 Form of Phantom Unit Award Agreement under the Spectra Energy Partners, LP Long-Term Incentive
Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form S-8 on July 2, 2007).

10.5 General Partnership Agreement of Market Hub Partners Holding (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Spectra Energy
Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated July 9, 2007).

10.6
Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Gulfstream Natural Gas
System, L.L.C. (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form S-1/A on June 4, 2007, file
no. 333-141687).

10.7 Amendment No. 1, dated as of April 4, 2008, to the Omnibus Agreement entered into and effective as of
July 2, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 10-K on February 28, 2011).

10.8 Amendment No. 1, dated as of June 1, 2010, to the Omnibus Agreement entered into and effective as of
July 2, 2007 (filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated June 4, 2010).

10.9
Amendment to Limited Liability Company Agreement of Gulfstream Natural Gas System, L.L.C., dated
as of March 22, 2010 (filed as Exhibit No. 10.14 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 10-K on February
28, 2011).

10.10
Credit Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2011, among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, the Initial Lenders
and Issuing Banks named therein, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (filed as Exhibit No. 10.1
to Form 8-K of Spectra Energy Partners, LP on October 20, 2011).

10.11
Second Amendment to Limited Liability Company Agreement of Gulfstream Natural Gas System,
L.L.C., dated as of September 9, 2011 (filed as Exhibit No. 10.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form
10-Q on November 8, 2011).

10.12
Amended and Restated Omnibus Agreement, dated November 1, 2013, by and among Spectra Energy
Partners, LP, Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC and Spectra
Energy Corp (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated November 1, 2013).

10.13
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2013, by and among Spectra Energy
Partners, LP, as Borrower, Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated November 1, 2013).

10.14
Credit Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2013, by and among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as
Borrower, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, LTD, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party
thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated November 1, 2013).
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10.15

Amendment No. 1 dated January 5, 2017 to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2013, by and
among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Borrower, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s
Form 8-K dated January 9, 2017).

10.16

Equity Distribution Agreement dated as of March 25, 2015, among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, Spectra
Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Credit
Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Mitsubishi
UFJ Securities (USA), Inc., SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., UBS Securities LLC and Wells Fargo
Securities, LLC (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP's Form 8-K dated March 25, 2015).

10.17

Amendment No. 1 dated December 11, 2014 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated
November 1, 2013, by and among Spectra Energy partners, LP, as Borrower, Citibank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP's Form 8-K dated December 16, 2014).
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10.18

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Commitment Increase Agreement
dated as of April 29, 2016 by and among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Borrower, Citibank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP ‘s Form 8-K on May 2, 2016).

10.19

Amendment No. 3 dated January 5, 2017 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of
November 1, 2013, by and among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Borrower, Citibank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP’s Form 8-K dated January 9, 2017).

10.20

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Extension Agreement as of
September 1, 2017 by and among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Borrower, Citibank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners,
LP's Form 8-K dated September 7, 2017).

10.21
Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of
Gulfstream Natural Gas System, L.L.C. (filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form
10-Q on May 5, 2016). 

10.22
Equity Restructuring Agreement, dated January 21, 2018, by and between Spectra Energy Partners (DE)
GP, LP and Spectra Energy Partners, LP (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K
dated January 22, 2018).

10.23

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement, dated July 2, 2007, by and among Spectra Energy
Partners, LP, Spectra Energy Partners OLP, LP, Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC, Spectra Energy
Partners OLP GP, LLC, Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, Spectra Energy Transmission, LLC,
Spectra Energy Southeast Pipeline Corporation, East Tennessee Natural Gas, LLC, Egan Hub Storage,
LLC, Moss Bluff Hub, LLC and Market Hub Partners Holding, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Spectra
Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated July 9, 2007).

10.24

Contribution Agreement, dated December 13, 2007, by and among Spectra Energy Transmission, LLC,
Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP and Spectra Energy Partners, LP (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Spectra
Energy Partners, LP’s 10-K/A on May 14, 2009).

*12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

16.1 Letter of Deloitte & Touche LLP (filed as Exhibit 16.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated
April 13, 2017).

*21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

*23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP related to Spectra Energy Partners, LP.

*23.2 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP related to Spectra Energy Partners, LP.
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*24.1 Power of Attorney.

*31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

*101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.

*101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase.

*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase.

*101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.

*101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase.
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*Included with this filing.
+Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

The total amount of securities of the registrant or its subsidiaries authorized under any instrument with respect to
long-term debt not filed as an exhibit does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the registrant and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis. The registrant agrees, upon request of the Securities and Exchange Commission, to furnish copies
of any or all of such instruments to it.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP

By: Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP,
its general partner

By: Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC,
its general partner

Date: February 15, 2018 /s/    William T. Yardley        
William T. Yardley
President and Chairman of the Board

Date: February 15, 2018 /s/    Stephen J. Neyland       
Stephen J. Neyland
Vice President - Finance

Date: February 15, 2018 /s/    Allen C. Capps      
Allen C. Capps
Controller

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.
William T. Yardley*
President and Chairman (Principal Executive Officer and Director)
John K. Whelen*
Executive Vice President (Director)
Vern Yu*
Director
Laura Buss Sayavedra*
Director
Michael G. Morris*
Director
Nora M. Brownell*
Director
J.D. Woodward, III*
Director
Date: February 15, 2018 
Stephen J. Neyland, by signing his name hereto, does hereby sign this document on behalf of the registrant and on
behalf of each of the above-named persons previously indicated by asterisk pursuant to a power of attorney duly
executed by the registrant and such persons, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit hereto.
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By: /s/    Stephen J. Neyland
Stephen J. Neyland
Attorney-In-Fact
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